

# Effects of moderately elevated temperature on grape berry at metabolic and transcriptomic levels

Jing Wu

### ► To cite this version:

Jing Wu. Effects of moderately elevated temperature on grape berry at metabolic and transcriptomic levels. Vegetal Biology. Université de Bordeaux, 2018. English. NNT: 2018BORD0013. tel-02018637

# HAL Id: tel-02018637 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02018637

Submitted on 14 Feb 2019

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



### THÈSE PRÉSENTÉE

### POUR OBTENIR LE GRADE DE

# **DOCTEUR DE**

# L'UNIVERSITÉ DE BORDEAUX

ÉCOLE DOCTORALE SCIENCES DE LA VIE ET DE LA SANTÉ SPÉCIALITÉ BIOLOGIE VÉGÉTALE

Par Jing WU

### Impact d'une augmentation modérée de la température du raisin sur le métabolome et le transcriptome

Sous la direction de : Philippe PIERI

Soutenue le 13 Février 2018

Président du jury : M. SIRET René	Professeur, ESA ANGERS	Examinateur
Membres du jury :		
M. PONI Stefano	Professeur, Docente Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore	Rapporteur
M. TORREGROSA Laurent	Professeur, Supagro Montpellier	Rapporteur
Mme. THIBON Cécile	Docteur, Université de Bordeaux	Examinateur
M. PIERI Philippe	Docteur, INRA Bordeaux	Directeur
Mme. GUILLAUMIE Sabine	Docteur, Université de Bordeaux	Invitée

## Acknowledgement

I am very grateful to my supervisor Dr. Philippe PIERI, for his gentle encouragement, insightful guidance, tireless assistance and constant support throughout my Ph.D. studies at EGFV, INRA Bordeaux. I wish to give my special thanks to Dr. Zhanwu Dai who encouraged me to begin my PhD study and helped me a lot during my study.

I would also like to thank all the members of my thesis jury, Dr. Cécile Thibon (Université de Bordeaux), Prof. Stefano Poni (Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Piacenza, Italy), Prof. René Siret (ESA, Angers, France) and Prof. Laurent Torregrosa (Supagro Montpellier, France) for their critical reading and valuable suggestions on my thesis.

I wish to thank all my colleagues in the research group of Ecophysiologie et Géphysiologie et Génomique Fonctionnelle de la Vigne (EGFV) for their ideas, suggestions, and assistance. My special thanks to Dr. Sabine Guillaumie, who worked together with me in gene analysis and helped me a lot in thesis writing; to Prof. Serge Derlot who read most of the manuscript in this thesis and gave valuable comments and suggestions; Junhua Kong, Le Guan, Li Zhang, Lina Wang, and Eloise Brouard, who helped a lot in my experiments and daily life.

I wish to thank my colleagues of EA Oenologie (Bordeaux), Philippe Darriet, Cécile Thibon, Laurence Geny and Julie Drappier for their help in my experiment.

I wish to express my gratitude to the entire research group at the AWRI for their warm welcome and excellent support during my stay. My special thanks to Dr. Markus Herderich who not only helped me a lot in my experiment but also in my daily life in Australia. Thanks to Dr. Paul Patrie, Dr. Cory Black, Dr. Natoiya Iloyd, Dr Vilma Hysenaj, Dr. Mark Solomon, for all their help and encouragement when I was in Australia.

My thanks also go to all my friends both in France and in China. Especially, my friends in France, Qingri Lu, Anna Li, Yidan Li, Jie Wang, Yelingxiao Mao, Wenyun Mu, and Junfeng Zou helped a lot in my daily life. Special thanks to my friends in China, Dr. Dongqing Ye for her constant help in thesis writing.

I thank Conseil Régional d'Aquitaine, Conseil Interprofessionnel du Vin de Bordeaux (CIVB), and Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA) for providing a thesis grant to make it possible to conduct my Ph.D study.

Finally, I thank my families— my father, mother, and Mingliang Gao—for their support and encourage.

#### **RESUME:**

La viticulture dépend des conditions climatiques. Dans le contexte de réchauffement climatique, les changements de la vigne et du raisin sous l'effet des températures élevées vraisemblables pour les prochaines décennies pourraient modifier l'aire de répartition des cépages et même menacer la durabilité de la viticulture des régions chaudes. L'objectif de cette étude était donc d'analyser les effets de l'élévation de température sur la composition du raisin, du transcriptome au métabolome. L'utilisation d'un système « open top » passif au vignoble a permis d'augmenter la température autour des grappes de 0.5-1.6 °C en moyenne, une valeur compatible avec le réchauffement climatique prévisible. Les expérimentations ont été conduites sur Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) et Sauvignon Blanc (SB), de la nouaison à la surmaturité, à Bordeaux (France) et en Barossa Valley (Australie). Les analyses ont ciblé essentiellement les métabolites primaires, les composés phénoliques et aromatiques (l'IBMP, arôme de poivron vert; les précurseurs de 3SH, arôme de pamplemousse et la ß-damascenone, arômes floraux). En complément, des analyses RNA-seq et q-PCR ont été réalisées pour explorer la réponse transcriptomique à cet échauffement modéré en conditions réalistes de vignoble.

L'échauffement modéré a peu affecté les concentrations en sucres, acides et total en acides aminés, mais a modifié la distribution des différents acides aminés. La composition en acides aminés s'est principalement différenciée suivant la variété, le stade de développement et le site expérimental.

Les concentrations finales en IBMP n'ont pas été affectées par l'échauffement. Cependant, à la fermeture de la grappe, les baies de CS échauffées avaient une moindre concentration en IBMP associée à une sous-expression de *VviOMT3*. La concentration en IBMP des baies de SB échauffées n'a pas montré de différenciation, bien que les niveaux d'expression de *VviOMT3* et *VviOMT4* soient diminués. Les effets limités et dépendant du génotype suggèrent qu'une augmentation modérée de la température ne serait pas suffisante pour modifier significativement l'IBMP.

Glut-3SH-Al était bien plus concentrée que Glut-3SH et Cys-3SH. le traitement échauffé a fait diminuer la présence de Glut-3SH-Al et Cys-3SH dans les baies de SB, en association avec une sous-expression de *VviGST4*. Par ailleurs, *VIT\_08s0007g01420 (GSTU8)* a été

réprimé par le traitement, et pourrait donc être un gène candidat potentiel impliqué dans la biosynthèse de précurseurs de 3SH.

Pour les baies de CS, les concentrations en caroténoïdes totaux et celles des deux caroténoïdes majeurs (la lutéine et le  $\beta$ -carotène) n'ont pas réagi à l'augmentation de température. La zéaxanthine a montré une tendance à la diminution sous l'effet de l'échauffement, jusqu'à une diminution significative. Cette concentration plus faible pourrait limiter la biosynthèse de  $\beta$ -damascenone et expliquer la plus faible teneur en  $\beta$ -damascenone observée dans les baies à sur-maturité en cas de température élevée.

Un total de 357 gènes (DEGs) ont été différentiellement exprimés en réponse à l'augmentation de température pour les échantillons de 2015 à Bordeaux. D'après l'analyse d'enrichissement « Gene Ontology », le traitement a principalement régulé quatre catégories en relation avec les microtubules, la paroi cellulaire, l'espace extracellulaire et l'activité des facteurs de transcription. 6 DEGs liés à la biosynthèse des anthocyanes ont été régulés négativement, ce qui pourrait expliquer, au moins en partie, la concentration réduite en anthocyanes totaux observée dans les baies de CS échauffées. En revanche, les tanins n'ont pas été affectés par l'augmentation de la température.

Les résultats permettent une meilleure compréhension des effets potentiels du réchauffement climatique sur la composition en métabolites des baies durant leur développement, et d'acquérir de nouvelles connaissances moléculaires concernant la réponse des baies de raisin à un échauffement modéré en conditions de vignoble.

**MOTS-CLES:** *Vitis vinifera,* maturation, réchauffement climatique, acide aminé, IBMP, précurseurs de 3SH, Caroténoïdes, norisoprénoides, q-PCR, polyphénol, RNA-seq.

# Effects of moderately elevated temperature on grape berry at metabolic and transcriptomic levels

#### **ABSTRACT:**

Viticulture depends on climate conditions during the growing season. In the context of global warming, any changes in viticulture caused by the rising temperatures expected for the next decades may alter the geographical distribution of grape varieties and even threaten the sustainability of viticulture in hot areas. The objective of this research was to investigate the effects of moderately elevated temperature on grape composition, both at metabolic and transcriptomic levels. A passive open-top heating system was applied in Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) and Sauvignon Blanc (SB) vines grown with standard practice in Bordeaux, France and the Barossa Valley, Australia (CS only) to increase the bunch zone mean temperature by around 0.5-1.6 °C, which was commensurate with the projected global warming. This moderate heating was applied from fruit-set to two weeks after harvest. Metabolites related to technical, phenolic and aromatic maturities (IBMP, the green pepper aroma, precursors of 3SH, grapefruit aroma, and  $\beta$ -damascenone, floral aroma) were assessed, together with transcriptome analysis via RNA-seq and q-PCR, in order to obtain a comprehensive view of berry responses to this moderately elevated temperature in realistic vineyard conditions.

The moderately elevated temperature hardly affected the concentrations of sugars, organic acids and total amino acids, but it altered free amino acid composition depending on varieties, vintages and locations.

The final concentrations of IBMP were not affected by warming condition in mature berries. However, the elevated temperature significantly reduced IBMP content and expression level of *VviOMT3* (a known key gene of IBMP) in CS berries at bunch closure stage, while it reduced the expression levels of *VviOMT3* and *VviOMT4* at bunch closure stage without affecting IBMP concentration in SB berries. This limited and genotype-dependent effect of elevated temperature suggests that a moderate temperature elevation may not be sufficient to significantly modify IBMP.

Glut-3SH-Al was much more concentrated than Glut-3SH and Cys-3SH. Reduced Glut-3SH-Al and Cys-3SH concentrations were associated with a significantly lower expression level of *VviGST4* in heated SB berries. Meanwhile, *VIT\_08s0007g01420* (*GSTU8*), was down-regulated by elevated temperature and might be a potential candidate gene involved in the biosynthesis of precursors of 3SH.

The concentrations of total carotenoids and two predominant carotenoids (lutein and  $\beta$ carotene) were not altered by elevated temperature in CS berries, but zeaxanthin was reduced by elevated temperature and was significantly less concentrated at harvest. This lower concentration may limit the biosynthesis of  $\beta$ -damascenone and explain the observed lower  $\beta$ damascenone concentration in post-ripening berries under elevated temperature.

A total of 357 genes were differentially expressed (DEGs) in response to the elevated temperature in Bordeaux samples in 2015. Enrichment analysis of Gene Ontology showed that temperature mainly regulated four GO categories, including microtubule, cell wall, extracellular region, and transcription factor activity. 6 DEGs related to anthocyanins synthesis were down-regulated and it could explain, at least in part, the observed lower total anthocyanins in warmed CS. Conversely, tannins were not affected by elevated temperature.

The results provide a better understanding of potential global warming effects on metabolite changes during berry development, along with novel molecular insights into the response of grape berry to moderate heating in vineyard conditions.

KEYWORDS: *Vitis vinifera*, temperature, maturation, global warming, amino acids, IBMP, 3SH precursors, carotenoids, norisoprenoids, q-PCR, polyphenol, RNA-seq.

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Chapter I: Literature Review	13
I.1 Global warming and its influences	15
I.1.1 Climate change and global warming	15
I.1.2 Impacts of global warming on viticulture	16
I.2 Grape berry development and quality	20
I.2.1 Grape berry development	20
I.2.2 Factors influencing grape quality	22
I.3 Grape berry metabolites and elevated temperature effects	26
I.3.1 Primary metabolites	26
I.3.2 Phenolic compounds: tannins and anthocyanins	29
I.3.3 Precursors of aroma and aroma compounds	31
I.4 Method for investigation temperature effects	38
Chapter II: Effect of moderately elevated temperature on free amino acids content of Cal	bernet
Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc berries	41
II.1 Introduction	46
II.2 Material and methods	47
II.2.1 Site and vines	47
II.2.2 Heating system and measurements	48
II.2.3 Soil and vine water status	49
II.2.4 Extraction and analysis of free amino acid	49
II.2.5 Analysis of soluble sugars and organic acids	49
II.2.6 Statistical analysis	49
II.3 Results	50
II.3.1 Heating system performance	50
II.3.2 Total amino acids and amino acid composition	56
II.3.3 Developmental changes of amino acid concentration	60
II.3.4 PCA analysis	63
II.4 Discussion	66
II.4.1 Global warming context and heating system performance	66
II.4.2 Response of technical maturity (sugars and organic acids)	66
II.4.3 Amino acid response	67
II.5 Conclusion	69
Chapter III: Moderately elevated temperature affects metabolism and transcriptome of	
grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) berries	71
III.1 Introduction	74
III.2 Materials and methods	76

III.2.1 Location, vine material and experimental set up	76
III.2.2 Metabolites quantification	76
III.2.3 RNA extraction and gene expression analysis	78
III.2.4 RNA-Seq library construction and sequencing	79
III.2.5 Analysis of Illumina reads	79
III.3 Results and discussion	80
III.3.1 Heat treatment and berry characterization	80
III.3.2 Global response of berry transcriptome to elevated temperature	81
III.3.3 Identification of significantly altered transcripts	86
III.3.4 Anthocyanins and tannins content in CS berries	94
III.3.5 3SH precursors content and gene expressions in their pathway in berrie	es . 100
III.4 Conclusion	106
Chapter IV: Effect of moderately elevated temperature on 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazir	ie in
berries of Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc	109
IV.1 Introduction	112
IV.2 Materials and methods	114
IV.2.1 Site and vines	114
IV.2.2 Heating system	114
IV.2.3 Extraction and analysis of IBMP	115
IV.2.4 RNA extraction and gene expression analysis	116
IV.2.5 Statistical analysis	116
IV.3 Results	116
IV.3.1 Heating system performance and grape berry response	116
IV.3.2 IBMP content in grape berries and <i>VviOMT</i> expressions	117
IV.4 Discussion	121
IV.5 Conclusion	124
Chapter V: Effect of moderately elevated temperature on free amino acids, carotenoids	and
C <sub>13</sub> -Norisoprenoids in berries of Cabernet Sauvignon in Barossa Valley	125
V.1 Introduction	128
V.2 Material and methods	133
V.2.1 Site and vines	133
V.2.2 Heating system and measurements	133
V.2.3 Total soluble solids, titratable acidity and pH measurement	134
V.2.4 Extraction and analysis of free amino acids	135
V.2.5 Extraction and analysis of carotenoids	135
V.2.6 Extraction and analysis of total C <sub>13</sub> -norisoprenoids	136
V.3 Results	138
V.3.1 Heating system performance	138
V.3.2 Response of technical maturity to elevated temperature	140

V.3.3 Developmental changes of amino acid concentration in response to elevated
temperature141
V.3.4 Developmental changes of carotenoids in response to elevated temperature
V.3.5 Developmental changes of $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids in response to elevated
temperature
V.3.6 PCA analysis149
V.4 Discussion
V.4.1 Global warming context and heating system performance
V.4.2 Response of technical maturity151
V.4.3 Amino acid response152
V.4.4 Carotenoids and β-damascenone response
V.5 Conclusion
Chapter VI : General conclusions and perspectives
References

**Chapter I: Literature Review** 

#### I.1 Global warming and its influences

#### I.1.1 Climate change and global warming

Global climate change is demonstrated by a very wide range of observations across the world. It is mainly caused by human activities and in particular the emission of greenhouse gases (Stocker, 2014). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is an organization made up of prominent climatologists around the world for assessment the scientific, environmental and socioeconomic impacts of climate change. Its latest synthesis report indicated that current levels of greenhouse gases in our atmosphere are higher than they have been in the last 800,000 years and recent technological and industrial advances have compounded this problem, with greenhouse gas emissions between the years 2000 and 2010 being the highest in recorded history (IPCC, 2014b). Based on several reports and studies, the most important but not the only effects of climate change can be summarized as follow:

- a) Increase in temperature
- b) Change in rainfall patterns
- c) Increase in incoming radiation, in particular UV-B
- d) Increase in carbon dioxide concentration

Temperature is a primary factor affecting the plant development (Hatfield and Prueger, 2015). A recent report shows that global annual average temperature has increased by more than 1.2°C since 1900 (through 2012) (Power et al., 2017). The IPCC expected the surface temperatures will rise throughout the 21st century between 0.3 and 0.7 °C by the year 2035 (IPCC, 2014b) (Figure 1). Besides the continuous increment of average temperature, both hot and cold temperature extremes will become more frequent (IPCC, 2014b). Until now, climate change already produced many effects on agriculture and the negative effects are expected to continue doing so unless adaptive measures are taken (Nelson et al., 2014; Rosenzweig et al., 2014)



Figure 1: Projected changes in temperature (E. M. Wolkovich et al., 2018)

A global map (a) and an European map (b) are coloured based on the projected changes in temperature during the growing season by the year 2070 against 1970–2000 climate, as modelled by the general circulation model GFDL-CM3, and the high emissions scenario RCP8.5. Wine-growing regions are shaded in black within the global temperature change map (a). In the European map (b) they are shaded in a white to red colour depicting the estimated proportion of wine production under varietal restrictions, based on wines labelled by protected geographical indications (assessed at the country level).

### I.1.2 Impacts of global warming on viticulture

Despite increasing knowledge in management practices to control and manipulate grapevine growth and development, viticulture is still a sector that highly depends on climate and is strongly affected by climate change, especially global warming (Jones, 2006). In summary, global warming effects on viticulture include, but not limited to, these listed below:

- a) Advance in phenology of vine
- b) Change on viticultural areas
- c) Modification in grape composition
- d) Increase in temperatures damage / Pests / Diseases
- e) Wine industry

#### Advance in phenology of grapevine

The phenology of grapevines is closely related to temperature. Previous research showed that the length of the growing season of grapevine depends on genotypes and the growing-season mean temperature (Jones, 2006). Earlier harvest dates associated with a significant increase in temperature were observed in the past several decades (Chuine et al., 2004; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Stoll et al., 2012; van Leeuwen and Darriet, 2016; García de Cortázar-Atauri et al., 2017; van Leeuwen and Destrac-Irvine, 2017). Moreover, grape ripen dates have been used as a climate indicator to extrapolate past climate conditions (Chuine et al., 2004). Not only the harvest dates, the dates of bud-break, flowering, and veraison (onset of ripening), are also driven by temperature (Parker et al., 2011; Martínez-Lüscher et al., 2016). Shortenings of the growing season coupled with earlier phenological events are reported in various grape production regions over the world (Jones et al., 2005; Lebon et al., 2006; Sadras and Petrie, 2011; Ferrise et al., 2016).

#### Change on viticultural areas

Temperature increase and precipitation pattern changes may significantly alter the present worldwide viticultural regions in the future scenarios (Meehl et al., 2007; Malheiro et al., 2010; Hannah et al., 2013). The hot regions will have more problems of suitability than relatively cooler region in the future (Hannah et al., 2013). An expected decrease viticultural suitability in southern Europe is reported (Jones et al., 2005; Stock et al., 2005; Fraga et al., 2012; Hannah et al., 2013); one third of the current Australian wine regions have been suggested that the growing season temperatures will be unsuitable for quality wine production by 2070 (Hall and Jones, 2009); a model constructed by temperature change and viticultural data showed that by the end of the 21st century suitable wine-grape production areas could decline by 81% in USA (White et al., 2006). Conversely, where viticulture is restricted by a shorter growing season and/or low summer temperatures, such as higher latitude or elevation regions, suitability is expected to improve under future climate conditions. In those cases,

higher temperature in future will permit the growing of a wider range of grape varieties, prolonged frost-free periods and growing seasons (Lough et al., 1983; Kenny and Harrison, 1992; Jones et al., 2005; Bertin, 2008). It may be beneficial for many regions in central and Western Europe, such as Alsace, Champagne, Bourgogne, Loire Valley, Mosel, and Rheingau (Stock et al., 2005; Malheiro et al., 2010; Neethling et al., 2012). Both positive and negative effects of global warming on viticulture are always associated with wine quality and typicity and suitable adaption strategies are essential to maintain the suitability in the context of climate change (Van Leeuwen et al., 2013).

#### Modification in grape composition

Berry quality, the major determinant of wine quality and typicity, depends on the composition and concentration of primary and secondary metabolites, which are influenced by temperature (Seguin, 1986; Van Leeuwen et al., 2004; Deluc et al., 2007; De Orduna, 2010). Higher potential alcohol levels at harvest associated with a significant increase in temperature were observed in the past decades (Chuine et al., 2004; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Stoll et al., 2012). Accelerating the sugar accumulation is often associated with thermal increase, as indicated by the trend observed in the last decades (Coombe, 1986; Petrie and Sadras, 2008; Rienth et al., 2016). A reduction of total acidity (TA) coupled with increase in pH were also associated with high temperature (Keller, 2010). Loss of anthocyanins in red-wine grape under high temperature was reported (Mori et al., 2007b). Conversely, tannins was less affected by temperature (Cohen et al., 2008). The increase of temperatures also has an impact on aroma compounds and their precursors (van Leeuwen and Darriet, 2016; Pons et al., 2017). More details about temperature effects on berry composition will be discussed in sector: I.1.3 Grape berry compositions.

#### Increase in temperature-related damages / Pests / Diseases

Warming temperatures are also expected to increase disease and pest pressure on grapevines. Pierce's disease, a bacterium that inhibits vine's water circulation and ultimately kills the plant, is predicted to move toward the North and South Poles as winter temperatures become more hospitable for its main vector, the glassy-winged sharpshooter. For instance, in the United States, Pierce's disease is expected to move from California northward into Oregon and Washington (Hoddle, 2004; Daugherty et al., 2009). Likewise, warmer weather may promote fungal diseases such as black rot, downy mildew, powdery mildew, and botrytis. All

of these diseases are driven by climatic factors and particularly benefit from warmer night temperatures (Chakraborty et al., 1998; Francesca et al., 2006). However, dryer growing conditions may partially or fully curb the detrimental effects of increasing temperatures. On the other hand, more frequent hot and cold temperature extremes will couple with global warming. Spring frosts injure developing shoots and frosts after bud burst reduce the current season's crop yield. Exposure to late spring frosts has been projected to increase under some future climate-warming scenarios despite warmer temperatures due to an advance in budbreak (Molitor et al., 2014; Mosedale et al., 2015). Similarly, extreme maximum temperatures in summer also can cause substantial heat damage by inhibiting photosynthesis, growth, and ripening. Exposed grape bunches are particularly vulnerable to heat damage during veraison. As red wines more than whites depend on skin-derived components such as pigments and tannins, they could be more affected than whites because the skin is the part of the berry that is most sensitive to heat damage (Gladstones, 1992). In particular, with temperatures rise during the growing season, berries become more susceptible to sunburn and serious damage can kill the whole berry, and sometimes at least half the bunch can be destroyed (Jackson, 1997, Webb et al.2009).

#### Wine industry

In 2016, total world area under grapevines was 7.6 million hectares and global grape production was 7.8 million tons, among which around 50% were used for wine production (OIV, 2017). Moreover, this percentage reached 78% in Australia (OIV, 2017). All changes by global warming on viticulture will finally affect winemaking and wine quality and typicity. Higher potential alcohol levels can pose problems or bring advantages for winemaking depending on regions. Regarding acidity, the most relevant indicator is must and wine pH. When pH increases, wines are perceived as being rounder, sweeter, and less aggressive, which is considered as a positive change. However, wines can lack freshness when pH is too high, and wine stability is also negatively impacted by higher pH. The wild yeast *Brettanomyces bruxellensis* can spoil wine during aging in barrels or tanks, even after bottling, when pH is high (Ribéreau-Gayon et al., 2006). In addition, socio-economic impacts of climate change associated with wine industry also have to be considered. For instance, with the change of wine regions by global warming, retention of employment in some isolated wine regions could be affected (Ollat and Touzard, 2014)..

Overall, understanding global warming and the potential impacts on grape and wine has become increasingly important (Van Leeuwen et al., 2013).

#### I.2 Grape berry development and quality

#### I.2.1 Grape berry development

Grape, classified as a non-climacteric fruit, comprises skin, flesh and seed (Figure 2). They account for about 15%, 80%, and 5% of total berry fresh weight, respectively (Roby and Matthews, 2004). The growth and development of grape berry is characterized by a double sigmoid pattern that defines two main phases of formation and ripening, being separated by a lag phase (Coombe, 1992; Coombe and McCarthy, 2000; Ollat et al., 2002). The two main periods are sometimes called "herbaceous" phase and "ripening" phase (Figure 3).

The "herbaceous" phase is characterized by cell divisions and cell enlargement. When the fruit has been set, pericarp cells divide and expand rapidly (Coombe and McCarthy, 2000). Rapid cell division occurs through the first few weeks, and by the end of this period, the total number of cells within the berry has been established. During this period, the berry is formed and the seed embryos are produced. Increases in berry volume and weight are associated with intense water flows into the berry, with a progressive accumulation of organic acids (Coombe and McCarthy, 2000) and proanthocyanidins in berry skin and seeds (Downey et al., 2003); Two organic acids, tartaric acid and malic acid, accumulate at high concentration in skin and mesocarp cells. These acids can represent up to 92% of total organic acids of grape berries throughout different developmental stages (Kliewer and Nassar, 1966; Conde et al., 2007). At the end of the herbaceous phase, the berries are green, hard, acid, and seeds have reached their final size (Ristic and Iland, 2005).



Figure 2: Berry structure and certain metabolite locations. Adapted from Lund and Bohlmann (2016)



Figure 3: Dynamics of berry growth and solution transport (Kennedy, 2002)

After the cell division phase, there is a pause in berry development called the "lag phase", during which seed formation progresses. Berry turgor pressure also declines during this period (Bondada et al., 2005). The duration of the lag phase (8 to 12 days) depends principally on the cultivar and is important in determining the time of fruit ripeness (early vs. late ripening varieties). After the lag phase, the number of cells in each berry is set. Berries are still small, green and hard and remain high in acid and low in sugar content.

At the end of lag phase, veraison indicates the beginning of the ripening phase. This phase is characterized by a decrease in acidity, a steep increase in sugar accumulation, color change (from green to red/black in red varieties, from green to semi-transparent in white varieties) and berry softening (Castellarin et al., 2011; Castellarin et al., 2015). Red pigment (anthocyanins) accumulates in the exocarp and sugars (glucose and fructose) accumulate in the pericarp (Figure 2), whereas organic acids (malate) and chlorophyll are degraded (Coombe and McCarthy, 2000; Ollat et al., 2002). The development of these characteristics is essential in the quality of the final product. Fruit ripening ends about 120 days after flowering (Carbonneau et al., 2015). Throughout this phase, the size of the mesocarp cells significantly expands, mainly due to the accumulation of water and sugars in the berries (Huglin and Schneider, 1998; Dai et al., 2010).

#### I.2.2 Factors influencing grape quality

The quality of grape berry, which largely shape the quality of wine, is affected by "terroirs". According the definition of OIV, terroir includes soil type, topography, climate, landscape characteristics, biodiversity features and human factors. With the development of viti-vini technology and the deepening understanding about viticulture, the concept of grape quality has changed and "desired quality" might be more accurate to describe different compositional patterns (Poni et al., 2017). The factors which impacting on grape quality can be summarized the three as followed (Dai et al., 2011; Kuhn et al., 2013; Poni et al., 2017):

- a) Genotype
- b) Environmental factors
- c) Human factors

#### Genotype

High genetic diversity of grapevine not only promises the geographic distribution but also provides opportunities to adapt global warming (Nicotra et al., 2010; Duchêne, 2016). Meanwhile, it also plays a critical role to diversity of grape and wine quality (This et al., 2006; Dai et al., 2011). Sugar and acid composition and concentration vary with cultivars and clones in grape berries (Kliewer, 1967; Van Leeuwen et al., 2012; Duchêne et al., 2014). More importantly, secondary metabolites of grape berries which significantly affect wine typicity and quality, such as polyphenol and aroma potential are also variable between cultivars (Mattivi et al., 2006; Mattivi et al., 2009; Darriet et al., 2012). Pinot Noir berries have no acetate forms of the anthocyanins in skin (Dimitrovska et al., 2011) and have two times higher concentration of catechin than epicatechin in seeds (Mattivi et al., 2009). Differentially, the relative amount of acetate derivative anthocyanins was accounted 35% in Cabernet Sauvignon skin and similar concentrations of catechin and epicatechin were found in its seeds (Mattivi et al., 2009; Dimitrovska et al., 2011). Monoterpenes alcohols are more concentrated in Muscat family than many other varieties, such as Cabernet Sauvignon and Syrah (Darriet et al., 2012).

#### Environmental factors

Soil, nutrient supply, light, temperature and water availability are five environmental factors that are main determiners of berry quality (Poni et al., 2017). Although soil characteristics are believed to affect berry and wine quality in tradition, some studies showed that the effects of soil type and quality were quite limited (White, 2003; Van Leeuwen et al., 2004). Conversely, many studies demonstrated that physical properties, such as texture, porosity and infiltration rates, play an important role in grape quality (Seguin, 1986; Pomerol, 1995).

Nitrogen and 17 mineral nutrients are considered essential for grapevine growth because they are involved in the structure of compounds, activating enzymes, a charge carrier, and osmoregulatory (Roubelakis-Angelakis, 2009). Nitrogen showed direct effects on grape composition (Habran et al., 2016; Helwi et al., 2016; Poni et al., 2017) and also has a major impact on vine vigor and yield (Keller et al., 2001; Holzapfel and Treeby, 2007). Vigorous vines, defined by a high leaf area index, result in shaded grapes and in turn influence berry metabolites such as methoxypyrazines (Ryona et al., 2008).

Incoming solar radiation provides the energy necessary for grape growth and maturation (Mullins et al., 1992). The amount and quality of radiation is important to maintain the photosynthesis during grapevine growing stage (Schwartz, 2003). Besides photosynthetic and phytochrome effects, light can affect berry composition. Un-uniform response of berry weight, TSS and TA to bunch shading (light reduction) were reported by previous studies (Morrison and Noble, 1990; Dokoozlian and Kliewer, 1996; Downey et al., 2004). These different responses may explain by vintage, variety or treated timing differences. Low and excessive light exposure were reported to reduce phenolic concentration in different cultivars (Dokoozlian and Kliewer, 1996; Chorti et al., 2010; Guan et al., 2016). Nowadays, genetic analysis are used to study the effect of cluster light regime on berry development and composition for a comprehensive understanding (Poni et al., 2017).

Grapevine productivity and berry quality is highly dependent on temperature, and the influence of temperature on viticulture is manifold. Based on the data of the past several decades, earlier harvest date and higher potential alcohol levels at harvest associated with a significant increase in temperature were observed (Chuine et al., 2004; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Stoll et al., 2012). Extreme temperatures could significantly impact berry quality and yield. In 2017, the exceptional weather events, including frosts and high summer temperature in summer with low precipitation, reduced of 23% of total wine production in Italy, 19% in France and 15% in Spain compared with 2016 (OIV 2017). More details about temperature effects on berry composition will be discussed in sector: 1.3 Grape berry compositions.

Water is a prerequisite for grapevine growth and survival. Water availability impacts vegetative growth, yield, and fruit composition (Medrano et al., 2003), but the effect of water supply on berry quality is complex because it lies with many factors, such as amount, timing and mode of irrigation (Poni et al., 2017). In general, excessive soil water availability can increase yield but water limitation reduces the yield (Matthews et al., 1990; Esteban et al., 1999; Merli et al., 2016). The yield decreases often couple with reduction of berry size and weight and also higher concentration of sugar and phenolic compounds (Ojeda et al., 2002; Castellarin et al., 2007). Moreover, water deficit has been reported to alter volatile compounds in berry (Ou et al., 2010; Song et al., 2012). Deluc et al. (2009) found that water deficit activated parts of the phenylpropanoid, energy, carotenoid and isoprenoid metabolic

pathways that contribute to increased concentrations of antheraxanthin, flavonols and aroma volatiles through both metabolite and transcriptomic analysis.

#### Human factors

Human or agronomic factors are important to grape quality. Mankind decides the varieties, locations and training systems based on their experiences. The purpose of all activities in vineyard is to improve the berry quality, ensure the reasonable production, keep the sustainability of vineyard, and reduce environmental impact. For example, a suitable treating system can help vines to better adapt to environments (Poni et al., 2017); early defoliation can improve berry quality (Poni et al., 2008; Diago et al., 2010; Sivilotti et al., 2017); shoot trimming can maintain canopy shape and contain vine vigor (Smart, 1985); water supply is necessary in many dry vine-grown regions such as Barossa Valley.

Overall, the environmental characteristics of a vineyard are major drivers of berry quality and cannot easily be changed by management techniques. In the context of global warming, a better understanding the effect of elevated temperature on berry quality in realistic vineyards is required.

#### I.3 Grape berry metabolites and elevated temperature effects

#### **I.3.1 Primary metabolites**



Figure 4: Simplified pathways of certain primary and secondary metabolites in grape.

#### Sugars

The main soluble sugars within grape berries are glucose, fructose, and sucrose, and sucrose is the main translocated sugar from phloem to fruit in grapevine (Hawker, 1969). Different sugar proportions and total sugar concentrations are varied between cultivars and clones (Kliewer, 1967; Van Leeuwen et al., 2012). They primarily accumulate in the pulp, but they are also present in grape skins (Possner and Kliewer, 1985; Coombe and McCarthy, 2000). Their concentrations shape berry sensory properties, final alcohol level in wine and provide precursors for biosynthesis of organic acids, amino acids, phenolic and aromatic compounds (Dai et al., 2011).

During the early stages of berry development, the total sugar concentration is very low (Possner and Kliewer, 1985). During berry ripening, sucrose is transported into the berries via the phloem from leaf and converted to glucose and fructose (Davis and Robinson, 1996). At harvest, glucose and fructose concentrations are similar, between 70 and 130 g/L (Ribereau-Gayon et al., 2000).

The sugar accumulation in grape berry is directly affected by temperature (Keller, 2010). Earlier harvest dates and higher potential alcohol levels at harvest associated with a significant increase in temperature were observed in the past several decades (Chuine et al., 2004; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Stoll et al., 2012). In general, accelerating the sugar accumulation is often associated with thermal increase, as indicated by the trend observed in the last decades (Coombe, 1986; Petrie and Sadras, 2008; Rienth et al., 2016). However, recent experiments with precise temperature regulations established that the effects of temperature on grape quality depend on the intensity of temperature elevation, stage of high temperature treatment, and grape genotypes. For example, a double of growing degree days did not change the timing of the onset of sugar accumulation of vines grown in growth chamber (Rienth et al., 2016). A 2-4°C increase in maximal temperature lasting 2 weeks at different phenological stages did not increase sugar concentration in Shiraz berries (Sadras and Moran, 2012; Sadras et al., 2013; Sweetman et al., 2014). Moreover, Lecourieux et al. (2017) showed that bunch zone high temperature imposed pre-veraison, during veraison or ripen stage did not change sugar concentrations.

#### Organic acids

Tartaric and malic acids are the principal organic acids of the grape berry, making up approximately 90% of total fruit acidity, along with small amounts of citric acid (Kliewer, 1967; Soyer et al., 2003). With sugar, they are principally employed to determine grape berry maturation (Philip and Nelson, 1973; Lamikanra et al., 1995; Dokoozlian, 2000). Organic acids present in grape pulp and skin, supporting many aspects of cellular metabolism (Possner and Kliewer, 1985; Coombe and McCarthy, 2000). Moreover, organic acids also affect wine stability, color and flavors (Sims and Morris, 1984; Ribereau-Gayon et al., 2000).

There is a high genetic diversity for grape berry organic acid concentrations (Dai et al., 2011; Duchêne et al., 2014). The accumulation of these acids occurs typically at the beginning of grape berry development, reaching their highest concentrations near the onset of ripening (Dokoozlian, 2000; Conde et al., 2007; Sweetman et al., 2009). Tartaric acid remains fairly stable until berry ripen when concentrations decline. Malic acid continuously decline with berry ripening (Possner and Kliewer, 1985; Coombe and McCarthy, 2000). The decrease of tartaric acid post-veraison is mainly due to an increase in berry size. In contrast, degradations in malic acid concentration after veraison result from respiration, enzyme degradation, and dilution (Dokoozlian, 2000; Sweetman et al., 2009; Sweetman et al., 2014).

The observed warmer seasons result in greater ripening in grapes and the concentrations of organic acids decreases (Mullins et al., 1992). Malate concentrations decrease by elevated temperature while tartaric acid concentration does not appear to be significantly affected by temperature (Keller et al., 2005; Pereira et al., 2006; Parra et al., 2010; Rienth et al., 2016). Contrasted with the general consideration of negative relationship between elevated temperature and acid concentration, variety-dependent thermal responses of acidity were observed. Rresponses of juice TA and pH to elevated vineyard temperature over berry growing season were different between varieties (Sadras et al., 2013): heated Cabernet France et Chardonnay berries had an increase of pH and decrease of TA; both traits were not affected in Shiraz berries; pH was increased but total acidity was unresponsive in heated Semillon berries. Three weeks of elevated temperature treatments applied at veraison and ripening stages significantly decreased malate content in Shiraz berries, but no effect with pre-veraison treatment (Sweetman et al., 2014). Moreover, Lecourieux et al. (2017) also found that heat treatment applied during herbaceous stage did not alter malic acid. Rienth et al. (2016) focused on the change of organic acids accumulation profile by 10°C increase of day temperature. Higher day temperature brought forward malic and tartaric acid accumulation by 5.5 days without changing their maximal accumulation rates.

#### Amino acids

In grapes, free amino acids are the major nitrogen sources for yeast during winemaking (Marcy et al., 1981). Free amino acid concentrations and proportions in grape berries vary based on cultivars, rootstock/scion combinations, vine nutrient management, vineyard site, and growing season (Huang and Ough, 1989; Gump et al., 2002; Bell and Henscken, 2005). Generally, proline and arginine are two predominant amino acids in berries (Kliewer, 1968; Stines et al., 2000). During wine making, total nitrogen in the must can vary from 100 to 1200 mg/L, of which amino acids make up about 50% (Conde et al., 2007). Amino acids also serve

as critical subunits in the generation of enzymes and proteins and are present as precursors of some aroma compounds (Kliewer, 1970; Jackson, 2008) (Figure 4).

Temperature is known to affect the biosynthesis of amino acids in grapevine and different amino acids have different responses to elevated temperature. In greenhouse-grown grape, higher temperature (+8°C) applied to the bunch zone during veraison or ripening stages significantly increased 7 amino acids (Thr, Arg, Tyr, Phe, Cys, Lys and GABA) (Lecourieux et al., 2017); The treatment of elevated temperature (+5°C) lasting 11 days applied at veraison positively affected 11 free amino acids in Shiraz berries (Sweetman et al., 2014). In field-grown Riesling grape, leaf removal associated with higher temperature negatively affected the accumulation of amino acids (Friedel et al., 2015). However, Pieri et al (2016) found that south-exposed berries of Merlot in actual vineyard conditions with higher temperature (+5°C) and solar radiation had similar amino acid concentrations, compared with north-exposed berries.

#### I.3.2 Phenolic compounds: tannins and anthocyanins

Phenolic compounds are divided into flavonoid and nonflavonoid compounds. Flavonoids can be further divided into flavonols, flavones, flavan-3-ols, flavanones, and anthocyanins (Figure 5). Nonflavonoids include phenolic acids, hydroxycinnamic acids and their conjugated derivatives, and polyphenolic stilbenes (Monagas et al., 2005; Tsao, 2010; Perestrelo et al., 2012). The most important flavonoid compounds in grapes are anthocyanins and tannins. Tannins are mainly found in the skins and seeds, and anthocyanins are mainly accumulated in skins but also present in pulps in some teinturier cultivars (Montealegre et al., 2006; Guan et al., 2012). They can be partially extracted during winemaking and contribute to wine color, astringency, bitterness, stability, and structure (Revilla and Ryan, 2000). Moreover, tannins can combine with anthocyanins to form pigmented polymers that can improve pigment stabilisation (Waterhouse, 2002).



**Figure 5: Simplified pathways of flavonoid biosynthesis and its regulation in grape.** (Downey et al., 2003; Kuhn et al., 2013)

Structurally, anthocyanins are glycosides and acyl-glycosides of anthocyanidins. Glycoside of five anthocyanidins are wildly found in skin of red grape cultivars: cyanidin-3-glucoside, delphinidin-3-glucoside, peonidin-3-glucoside, petunidin-3-glucoside and malvidin-3-glucoside (Figure 5). They start to accumulate at the very beginning of the transition from unripe to ripening (veraison), and continue throughout ripening. Tannins are a group of flavan-3-ols which have monomers, oligomers and polymers, and are also called as condensed tannins or proanthocyanidins (Chira et al., 2011). Three free flavonols are wildly detected in grape: C: (+)-Catechin and EC: (-)-epicatechin which are the majorities, and ECG: (-)-epicatechin-gallate with a low concentration (Downey et al., 2003). Tannins accumulate immediately after fruit set and reach the maximum levels around veraison. Thereafter, tannins concentrations decrease (Downey et al., 2003). Generally, it is considered that the decreases in tannin concentrations over berry development are caused by decreases in tannin

extractability rather than degradation or turnover (De Freitas and Glories, 1999; Kennedy et al., 2001; Downey et al., 2003).

The composition and concentration of tannins and anthocyanins mainly depends on genotype, climatic conditions and vineyard management practices. Elevated temperature can decrease the total anthocyanin concentrations and change their composition in berry skin (Spayd et al., 2002; Downey et al., 2006; Tarara et al., 2008; He et al., 2010; Azuma et al., 2012; Pastore et al., 2017). Several genes involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis, such as CHS, F3H, DFR, ANS and UFGT, were also down-regulated by high temperature (Mori et al., 2005; Yamane et al., 2006). Mori et al. (2007b) have used stable isotope-labelled tracer experiments and microarray analysis to establish that the negative effect of elevated temperature on anthocyanins is mediated by accelerating anthocyanins degradation and down-regulating the mRNA transcription of the anthocyanin biosynthetic genes. On the other hand, the timing of heating treatment also affects anthocyanin responses to temperature. Heating treatment applied at pre-veraison did not change total anthocyanins but those applied at veraison and ripen stages decreased total anthocyanins concentration by 50%. All three treatments decreased di-hydroxylated anthocyanin concentrations associated with repression of F3'5'H, without effect on tri-hydroxylated anthocyanin concentrations (Lecourieux et al., 2017). Kliewer and Torres (1972) found that high night temperature can also decrease berry coloration. In contrast, (Mori et al., 2007a) found that high night and morning temperature did not affect total anthocyanins concentrations but also decreased di-hydroxylated anthocyanin concentrations. The reasons behind those differences are still open questions. In contrast with anthocyanins, several studies found that tannin accumulation appears to be largely unaffected by high temperature in berry skin as well as in seeds (Cohen et al., 2008; Carbonell-Bejerano et al., 2013; Pastore et al., 2017).

#### I.3.3 Precursors of aroma and aroma compounds

Over 1000 volatile compounds have been detected in wine with concentrations ranging from a few ng/L to hundreds of mg/L level (Polášková et al., 2008; Ebeler and Thorngate, 2009). These volatile compounds contribute to olfactory and gustatory quality of wines. The different composition and concentration of volatile compounds helps to construct the characteristics of wine and their concentration differences distinguish one wine from another (Ribéreau-Gayon et al., 2006). Varietal aromas explain the unique flavours of wines made with different types of grapes. They are considered as key factors to recognition of a typicity

or sensory identity of wine, such as methoxypyrazines (vegetable like flavour), terpenes and norisoprenoids (floral aromas). Besides their commercial importance, plant volatiles are also associated with defensive and attractive roles (Pichersky et al., 2006)

#### **Methoxypyrazines**

Methoxypyrazines (MPs) are the main compounds responsible for the "green" flavours found in Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc grape and wine (Lacey et al., 1991; Noble et al., 1995; Ryona et al., 2008). They have nitrogen-containing heterocyclic structures and probably result as a secondary product of amino acid catabolism in the grape (Figure 6). In grape berries, 7 MPs have been detected in grape and wine (Figure 7), and 2-methoxy-3isobutylpyrazine (IBMP), 2-methoxy-3-isopropylpyrazine (IPMP) and 2-methoxy-3-secbutylpyrazine (SBMP) are the predominant MPs (Darriet et al., 2012; Lei et al., 2017). They have been largely studied in grape and wine. The olfactory perception threshold of IBMP in water is very low, less than 1ng/L. The recognition threshold in wine, in range of 2-6 ng/L, is quite different from those determined in water and is variable due to the different composition from one wine to another (Roujou de Boubée et al., 2000; Pickering et al., 2007). An excessive level of IBMP concentration ( $\geq 15$  ng/L) in wine has a negative effect as an obvious herbaceous off-flavours (Roujou de Boubée et al., 2000), but a concentration near its detection threshold can contribute to pleasant varietal aromas in Sauvignon Blanc wines (Allen et al., 1991). Therefore, controlling IBMP concentration at a suitable level is very important to wine quality. Based on previous studies, IBMP concentration in wine is highly correlated with its concentration in berry at harvest. It is easily extracted during maceration and difficult to reduce by oenological practice (de Boubée et al., 2002; Darriet et al., 2012). It has been found that IBMP accumulates in grape berries before veraison and degrades thereafter (Darriet et al., 2012). In general, high temperature has been reported to reduce its level (Lacey et al., 1991; Allen and Lacey, 1998; Marais et al., 1999; Falcão et al., 2007).



Figure 6: Two proposed pathways of 3-isobutyl-2-methoxypyrazine biosynthesis in living organisms (Dunlevy et al., 2013; Guillaumie et al., 2013).



(DMMP)

Figure 7: Chemical structures of MPs detected in grapes and wine (Lei et al., 2017).

#### Thiols and their precursors

Volatile thiols, a group of sulfur containing alcohols, can have a variety of aromas and smells. They have positive and negative contributions to wines depending on their chemical structure (Moreira et al., 2002). For example, hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S), which is formed at the end of fermentation, smells like rotten eggs if it presents in wine (Winter et al., 2011). Among different thiols, 4-methyl-4-sulfanylpentan-2-one (4MSP), 3-sulfanylhexan-1-ol (3SH), and its acetate (A3SH) (Figure 8) have been identified as a character impacting compound in Sauvignon Blanc wines (Darriet et al., 1993; Tominaga and Dubourdieu, 1997; Tominaga et al., 1998a), and also detectable in wines made from other varieties such as Cabernet Sauvignon, Semillon and Merlot (Tominaga et al., 2000). 4MMP smells like box tree and blackcurrant buds when its concentrations are above 0.8 ng/L in model wine. 3SH and A3SH, which have reminiscent of grapefruit or passion fruit, have a smell-threshold of 60 ng/L and 4 ng/L in model wine (Darriet et al., 2012). They present in the odorless precursor forms in grape berries and musts, and are released from odorless precursors during alcoholic fermentation (Darriet et al., 1995) (Figure 7).

3SH is the most predominant thiol in wine with a concentration between 150-3500 ng/L (Darriet et al., 2012). Its precursors in grape berries and musts are S-3-(hexan-1-al)-glutathione (Glut-3SH-Al), S-3-(hexan-1-ol)-glutathione (Glut-3SH) and S-3-(hexan-1-ol)-L-cysteine (Cys-3SH) (Tominaga et al., 1998b; Peyrot des Gachons et al., 2002; Thibon et al., 2016). Until now, the biosynthesis pathways of these precursors are still far away being well understood. Based on several studies, the hypothetic pathway is illustrated in Figure 8(Peyrot des Gachons et al., 2002; Kobayashi et al., 2010; Thibon et al., 2011; Kobayashi et al., 2012; Thibon et al., 2016). The first step of biosynthesis of 3SH precursors is the formation of Glut-3SH-Al through the conjugation of glutathione on (*E*)-hex-2-enal by glutathione-*S*-transferase (GST). Next, Glut-3SH is synthesized by reduction of Glut-3SH-Al. Cys-3SH derives from Glut-3SH by removing of the glycine. This reaction needs two enzymes: a  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase (*VviGGT*) and a carboxypeptidase (Peyrot des Gachons et al., 2002; Thibon et al., 2016). Finally, 3SH is synthesized during the alcoholic fermentation by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Pinu et al., 2012).

S-cysteinylated and/or S-glutathionylated thiol precursors increased during berry development (Cerreti et al., 2015; Helwi et al., 2016). Conversely, Capone et al. (2012) mentioned that the concentration of thiol precursors may have some fluctuation and even decreased during

ripening. To our best knowledge, nowadays no published work allows a direct assessment of elevated temperature effect on 3SH precursors in grapevine berries.



**Figure 8: Three principle thiols in wine and their precursors in grape and musts.** (Roland et al., 2011)


Figure 9: Hypothetic pathway of the glutathionylated precursors (Glut-3SH-Al and Glut-3SH) and cysteinylated precursor (Cys-3SH) in grape berries (Kobayashi et al., 2012).

## $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids and carotenoids

Similar with thiols,  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids present in grape as non-volatile precursors and are released not only during alcohol fermentations and also during aging process (Sefton et al., 1994; Pinu et al., 2012). In wine, five kinds of  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids are identified:  $\beta$ damascenone,  $\beta$ -ionone, TDN (1,1,6-trimethyl-*1,2*-dihydronaphthalene), TPB (1-(*2,3,6*trimethylphenyl)buta-*1,3*-diene) and vitispiranes (Mendes-Pinto, 2009; Darriet et al., 2012).  $\beta$ -damascenone and  $\beta$ -ionone are responsible for the floral and fruity pleasant notes; TDN is considered to be responsible for petrol/kerosene-like aroma in Riesling wine (Black et al., 2012).

 $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids are thought to be formed as biodegradation products of carotenoids. Their concentrations increase during berry development while carotenoids degrade (Razungles et al., 1988; Bindon et al., 2007). The biosynthetic pathway proposed for the formation of  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids from carotenoids combines three steps (Figure 10). Initially, the bio-oxidative cleavage of the carotenoids gives rise to primary degradation products, followed by enzymatic conversion to the aroma precursor involving glycosylation (catalysed by glycosyltransferases) of those norisoprenoids with a hydroxyl group. At harvest,  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids are present in grape as non-volatile glycosidically bounded precursors. The aglycones are released from the carbohydrate moiety (mono- and disaccharide) during maturation, storage, processing or aging through the action of enzymes, acids, or heat and undergo further transformation and rearrangement to result in the final aroma-active compound (Marais et al., 1992; Winterhalter and Rouseff, 2002; Mendes-Pinto, 2009; Winterhalter and Gök, 2013).

A linear relationship between the concentration of carotenoids and  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids was observed under various environmental conditions (Bindon et al., 2007; Kwasniewski et al., 2010). In grape berries, investigating the effect of temperature on carotenoids and  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids was always associated with alteration of light conditions. Higher concentration of  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoidic glycosides was found under high light exposure conditions in Syrah and Pinot Noir (Bureau et al., 2000; Young et al., 2016). Conversely, Marais et al (1992a) found a higher TDN concentration but an unchangeable  $\beta$ -damascenone concentration in light exposed berries of Riesling and Chenin Blanc. Besides, higher altitude combined with lower temperature resulted in a higher carotenoids concentration in berries in Dauro Valley (Oliveira et al., 2004), but Falcão et al (2007) found that no significant relation was observed between  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -damascenone in wine with the vineyard's altitude in southern Brazil.



# Figure 10: Putative pathway for the formation of important $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids, in detail for $\beta$ -damascenone (Mendes-Pinto, 2009; Winterhalter and Gök, 2013).

# I.4 Method for investigation temperature effects

Until recently, three kinds of methods have been used to investigate the influence of temperature on grape berries and vines (Sadras and Soar, 2009). The first one is indirect by comparing seasonal and/or regional differences with the aid of statistical analysis (Chuine et al., 2004; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Stoll et al., 2012). This method cannot avoid the bias caused by other environmental factors. Secondly, a direct comparison under artefactual conditions, like greenhouse (Mori et al., 2007b; Rienth et al., 2016; Lecourieux et al., 2017). These studies in controlled conditions were conducted mostly with an abrupt thermal-shock with a temperature increment by more than 5 °C, which is much higher than projected global warming. The last one consists in changing the temperature closely surrounding specific plant

parts. To overcome these limitations, Sadras and Soar (2009) created a new and inexpensive open system to increase temperature in realistic vineyard conditions, a passive open-top heating system based on a very local greenhouse effect. This system gently increased maximum bunch temperature with 2.3-3.2°C that was commensurate with the projected global warming. Meanwhile it maintained daily temperature cycle without or with little effect on other microclimate factors (Sadras and Soar, 2009).

# **Objectives of the thesis**

Based on above bibliographic research, the general objective of this thesis is focused on the responses of berry quality (from metabolic and transcriptomic levels) to elevated temperature. The general objective is divided into the following partial objectives:

- Identify how moderately elevated temperature influence the concentrations of soluble sugars, organic acids and free amino acids in fruit over development;
- Gain a better understanding of the transcriptional regulations underlying berry responses to elevated temperature;
- > Verify the effects of temperature elevation on phenolic compounds;
- Investigate the accumulation of IBMP and 3SH precursors during berry development and their biosynthetic genes expression levels under two different thermal regimes;
- Explore the effect of elevated temperature on carotenoids and their hydrolytically derived C<sub>13</sub>-norisoprenoids.

For achieve this study, an open-top passive heating system was installed in the realistic vineyard in Bordeaux, France and Barossa Valley, Australia. Two representative red and white varieties in Bordeaux region, i.e. Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc were investigated in Bordeaux during two vintages (2015 and 2016). Only Cabernet Sauvignon was studied in Barossa Valley in one season (2015-2016). Comprehensive metabolite analysis was combined with qPCR and RNA-seq analysis

Chapter II: Effect of moderately elevated temperature on free amino acids content of Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc berries

# Effect of moderately elevated temperature on free amino acids content of Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc berries

Jing Wu<sup>1,2</sup>, Sabine Guillaumie<sup>1,2</sup>, Mingliang Gao<sup>2</sup>, Ghislaine Hilbert<sup>2</sup>, Serge Delrot<sup>1,2</sup>, Philippe Pieri<sup>\*2</sup>

Submitted for publication in the Food Research International

<sup>1</sup>Univ. de Bordeaux, Institut des Sciences de la Vigne et du Vin (ISVV), Ecophysiology and Functional Genomics of the Vine (EGFV), UMR 1287, 33140 Villenave d'Ornon, France.

<sup>2</sup>INRA, Institut des Sciences de la Vigne et du Vin (ISVV), Ecophysiology and Functional Genomics of the Vine (EGFV), UMR 1287, 33140 Villenave d'Ornon, France.

\* (C.v.L) Phone: +33 (0)5 57 57 5932 Fax: +33 (0)5 57 57 5903 E-mail: philippe.pieri@inra.fr

# ABSTRACT

In the context of global warming, elevated temperature may alter berry quality and development of grapevine. Free amino acids are the major nitrogenous compounds in grape berries and can serve as an important nitrogen source for yeast during winemaking. The present study investigated the effects of elevated temperature on berry amino acid concentrations under actual vineyard conditions. A passive open-top heating system was used to increase temperature from fruit setting to over-maturity by 0.5-1.6°C at bunch zone. Eighteen amino acids were assessed in the berries of two varieties (Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc) in 2015 and 2016. The elevated temperature did not affect the developmental profiles of individual amino acids nor the total amino acid concentration, except a significantly lower total amino acid concentration in the heated mature berry of Sauvignon Blanc in 2015. However, the elevated temperature affected the amino acid composition depending on varieties and developmental stages. All free amino acids concentrations were lower in heated mature berry of Cabernet Sauvignon, except Pro in 2015, and Pro, Tyr and Cys in 2016, which were more concentrated. Although 17 out of 18 amino acids concentrations (except Cys) were lower in SB heated berries at harvest, most of them were higher at mid-veraison stage. Conversely, in 2016, positive effects at ripen stage was found by elevated temperature. These results suggest that the developmental profile of free amino acids in grape berries is mainly determined by genetic factors, and that the elevated temperature only has a role of fine tuning their composition.

KEYWORDS: Amino acids, fruit quality, ripening, temperature, Vitis vinifera.

#### **II.1 Introduction**

Global climate change is demonstrated by a very wide range of observations across the world (IPCC, 2014a). A recent report shows that global annual average temperature has increased by more than 1.2°C since 1900 (through 2012) (Power et al., 2017). The quality of grape berry and development of grapevine *Vitis vinifera* L. depend on genotype and environmental factors (Seguin, 1986; Van Leeuwen et al., 2004; Deluc et al., 2007). As one of the most important climatic factors, the influence of temperature on viticulture is manifold. In the context of global warming, many studies investigated the effects of higher temperature on grape berry quality, and wine quality and typicality (Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Jones et al., 2005; Mori et al., 2007b; Azuma et al., 2012; Sweetman et al., 2014; Bonada et al., 2015). In general, long-term increase in temperature can accelerate phenological development (Jones and Davis, 2000), decrease acid concentration, but increase sugar concentration (Coombe, 1986). It was also reported that grape phenolic antioxidants exhibit significant degradation at high temperature (Hamama and Nawar, 1991; Sadras and Moran, 2012).

In grapes, free amino acids are the major nitrogenous compounds and can serve as an important nitrogen source for yeast during winemaking (Marcy et al., 1981). During wine making, total nitrogen in the must can vary from 100 to 1200 mg/L, of which amino acids make up about 50% (Conde et al., 2007). Phenylalanine and branched chain amino acids can be metabolized into the precursors of phenylpropanoids and volatile compounds and therefore affect grape flavours (Guan et al., 2017). They can also influence wine flavours, because of their role as precursors for the synthesis of aromatic compounds, such as isoamyl-acetate (Marcy et al., 1981; Conde et al., 2007). On the other hand, temperature is known to affect the biosynthesis of amino acids in many plants. In Arabidopsis, an increased concentration of many amino acids (Asn Leu, Ile, Thr, Ala, Leu, and Val) was observed under heat shock (Kaplan et al., 2004). Similarly, higher temperatures (+8°C) increased most amino acids, such as 4-aminobutyrate (GABA) and Glu, with the exception of Gln, Pro, His and Tyr in rice (Oryza sativa) (Yamakawa and Hakata, 2010). In greenhouse-grown grapevines, a significant increase of 7 amino acids (Thr, Arg, The, Cys, Lys and GABA) was observed after a heat treatment (+8°C) was applied to the bunch zone during veraison or ripening stages (Lecourieux et al., 2017). In field-grown Riesling grapevine, strong negative correlations were observed between the accumulation of amino acids and leaf removal which was coupled with a higher temperature (Friedel et al., 2015). However, Pieri et al (2016) found that southexposed Merlot berries in actual vineyard conditions with higher temperature (+5°C) and solar radiation had similar amino acid concentrations, compared with north-exposed berries. The studies in controlled conditions were conducted mostly with an abrupt thermal-shock stress; therefore, the results obtained could be questionable regarding the effects of long-term and gradient increase of temperature in the context of climate change and acclimation. Whether a modest but long-term temperature elevation influences amino acid accumulation and composition remains an open question.

Until recently, three kinds of methods were used to investigate the influence of temperature on grape berries and vines (Sadras and Soar, 2009). The first one is indirect and compares seasonal and/or regional differences with the aid of statistical analysis (Duchêne and Schneider, 2005); the second is a direct method that manipulates temperature under an artificial environment such as a phytotron (Mori et al., 2007b); the last one consist in changing the temperature closely surrounding specific plant parts (Petrie and Clingeleffer, 2005). All these three experimental methods come with their own limitations (see details in Sadras and Soar 2009 and Soar et al. 2009). To overcome these limitations, Sadras and Soar (2009) created a new and inexpensive open system to increase temperature in realistic vineyard conditions, a passive open-top heating system. This system gently increased maximum bunch temperature by 2.3-3.2°C and maintained daily temperature cycle with little effect on other climate factors, therefore providing a very good way to investigate the effects of future temperature elevation.

We applied this passive open-top heating system in Bordeaux, France, in order to identify how moderately elevated temperature influence fruit soluble sugars, organic acids and free amino acids concentrations in two of the most cultivated varieties in the Bordeaux region, Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc.

#### **II.2 Material and methods**

# **II.2.1** Site and vines

Experiments were conducted in 2015 and 2016 in Bordeaux vineyard (44° 46' 46' N, 00°34' 01'' W) with the varieties *V. vinifera cv.* Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) and Sauvignon Blanc (SB). They were planted in an experimental vineyard "VitAdapt" growing on level ground with no slope or geospatial variations. The field-grown grapevines were 8 years old, spur pruned, with

a spacing of 1.6 m between rows and 1 m between plants. Vineyard management followed the local standards.

# **II.2.2 Heating system and measurements**

The passive open-top heating system (Figure 1) was used to increase temperature from fruit setting to over-maturity (14 days after harvest). This system was inspired by the system of Sadras and Soar (2009) with a little modification to better adapt to the training system used in Bordeaux. The system consisted of modular rectangular polycarbonate panels (100 cm high  $\times$  300 cm width); two panels were installed obliquely on the two sides of the vines for each block of 5 vines, and fixed by thick ropes; the top and two sides were kept open. Most of leaves were left outside of this very local "greenhouse" effect heating system, therefore global plant function and source-sink ratios were reasonably assumed to remain unaffected.

The treatment was conducted with five replicates of five vines each. The same plots were used for the experiments of the two years to get a repetition and simulate accumulative effect of elevated temperature. To avoid boundary effects, measurements and sample collections were made only in the central three vines within each treatment. Bunch zone and berry temperature and bunch zone relative humidity were recorded at 20 min intervals using temperature and humidity probes (Vaisala HMP155 air temperature and humidity probes, copper-constantan thermocouples for berry and soil temperature) and stored by data loggers (Campbell Sci. CR1000 Datalogger).



Figure 1: Passive open-top system for increasing fruit zone temperature in vineyard.

One hundred berries were randomly sampled from each replicate at five different harvest stages: bunch closure (BC), mid-veraison (MV), mid-ripening (MR), ripe (R) and post-ripe (PR, 2016 only). All samples were ground into powder in liquid nitrogen using a ball grinder MM200 (Retsch, Haan, Germany), and stored at -80°C for later analysis.

#### **II.2.3 Soil and vine water status**

Predawn and midday water potentials were measured with a pressure chamber equipped with a digital LCD manometer (SAM Precis 2000, 33175 Gradignan, France), as described in Choné et al. (2000). Five primary leaves per block were measured, two times (MV and MR) in 2015 and five times (BC, MV, MR, R and PR) in 2016.

#### II.2.4 Extraction and analysis of free amino acid

Amino acids were extracted from 500 mg (fresh weight) finely ground powder of whole berries. The powder was extracted at 80°C successively with 2 mL water/ethanol (1:4, v/v), 2 mL water/ethanol (1:1, v/v) and 2 mL water. The supernatants were combined and then evaporated to dryness in a Speed-Vac concentrator (Savant Instruments, Inc., Hicksville, NY). The dry residue was dissolved in 2 mL deionized water.

Amino acids were determined by using HPLC (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) after derivation with 6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl-carbamate (AccQ-Fluor Reagent Kit, Waters), as described in Martínez-Lüscher et al. (2014). All the amino acids were identified and quantified with external chemical standards purchased from Sigma (St Louis, MO, USA).

# II.2.5 Analysis of soluble sugars and organic acids

Glucose and fructose were measured enzymatically as described in Guan et al. (2016). Tartaric and malic acids were determined using the autoanalyser TRAACS 800 (Bran & Luebbe, Plaisir, France) according to the method of Berdeja et al. (2014).

### **II.2.6 Statistical analysis**

To get overviews of correlations among amino acids, principal component analysis (PCA) and heatmaps were produced using R software (R development Core Team, 2010). The Student's t-test was used to test the significance of differences between berries under control

and elevated temperature at P<0.05 level. Dynamic profiles of total and individual amino acids were drawn using sigmaplot 11.0 (Systat Software Inc.).

# **II.3 Results**

#### **II.3.1** Heating system performance

#### II.3.1.1 Bunch zone and berry temperature of control and treatment in the field

The seasonal dynamics of maximal, average and minimal bunch zone temperatures in control (Figure 2a and 2b) and the elevation of temperature in treatment (Figure 2c and 2d) were assessed. In 2015, the average elevations of maximal, average and minimal temperatures were ~2.76°C, 1.18°C and 0.97°C respectively and they were 1.13°C, 0.81°C and 0.8°C respectively in 2016 (Figure 3). According to the regression between temperatures of treatment and control (Figure 2c), the system effectively increased the maximal, average and minimal temperatures. The heating effect in 2015 was slightly higher than in 2016 (Figure 3). Because the heating system is passive, the heating efficiency depends on the weather, especially the global solar radiation. In hot clear days, increase of maximal temperature could rise to a maximum of 5.3°C (Figure 2a and 2b). Conversely, in cloudy and rainy days, there was almost no heating effect and even a cooling effect (only three times in 2015 and four times in 2016) (Figure 2c and 2d). The average berry temperature during the treatment period was 22.03 °C in 2015 and 22.6 °C in 2016, increasing by 1.09°C and 0.8°C respectively (Figure 4), which was similar with the increase in bunch zone air temperature (Figure 3).



Figure 2: (a and b) seasonal dynamics of maximal, average and minimal bunch zone air temperatures in controls. (c and d) Difference of maximal and minimal temperature between heated (H) and control vines (C).



Figure 3: Increment of minimal, maximal and average air temperatures in bunch zone area during berry development in 2015 and 2016.



Figure 4: Increment of minimal, maximal and average berry temperature during berry development in 2015 and 2016.

Under vineyard conditions, the daily temperature cycle was maintained under elevated temperature condition (Figure 5a, 5b, 5c and 5d). As shown by the regressions between treated and control, the heating system slightly reduced the relative humidity (Figure 5e and 5g) and increased vapour pressure deficit (VPD) (Figure 5f and 5h), compared with control vines.



Figure 5: Daily temperature dynamics of representative sunny days (a and b) and cloudy days in each year (c and d). Regression of relative humidity (RH) (e and g) and vapour pressure deficit (VPD) (f and h) between control and heated.

The solid line is the 1:1 line

# II.3.1.2 Plant and soil water status

Pre-dawn water potential is a good indicator of root zone soil water availability and stem water potential can be considered as a relevant discriminating indicator for plant water deficit (Choné et al., 2001; Williams and Araujo, 2002). The values of both predawn and stem water potentials did not show any significant difference between treatment and control (Figure 6). Using this open-top system to increase temperature affected neither soil water status nor plant water status; therefore, no bias from a water regime factor was expected to affect the results of berry biochemical compositions.



Figure 6: Soil water status as measured by pre-dawn water potential (MPa) and vine water status as measured by stem water potential (MPa) in the experimental plots at the same day of sample collection in 2015 and 2016.

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates.

II.3.1.3 Berry weight, sugars and organic acids

For assessing whether higher temperature affected the parameters of berry ripeness, berry fresh weight, sugar concentration (glucose + fructose) and organic acids (malic and tartaric acids) were determined at each sampling time. Throughout the two years and two varieties, neither berry weight (Figure 7a) nor sugar concentration (Figure 7b) (147-166mg/g FW) at harvest was influenced by warming treatment. In contrast, the elevated temperature decreased malic acid concentration at harvest in comparison with the control, although its effect was significant only for CS in 2016 (Figure 7c). As expected, for CS in 2016, malic acid was lower in heated berries (2.34mg/g FW) than in control berries (2.96mg/g FW). Conversely, elevated temperature increased tartaric acid in the same sample from 6.5 mg/g FW to 7.7 mg/g FW (Figure 7d).



Figure 7: Fresh weight (a), sugar (b), malic acid (c) and tartaric acid (d) concentration at harvest.

Error bars indicate standard errors. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, P < 0.05). Each point is the mean of five replicates.

# II.3.2 Total amino acids and amino acid composition

The HPLC method used allowed us to identify and quantify 18 free amino acids in the berries. The total amino acid concentration was calculated by summing all 18 amino acids amounts and dividing by berry volume/weight. The developmental pattern of total amino acid concentration was similar (figure 8). It showed an increasing trend from BC to R/PR. During PR stage in 2016, the total amino acids concentration kept increasing under treatment while it slightly decreased in control. Generally, the total amino acid was present at a low concentration (around 5000 pmol/mg FW) at early stages (BC and MV), and thereafter increased dramatically. For CS, the concentration reached above 17000 pmol/mg FW at harvest and that of SB berries was between 10000 and 17000 pmol/mg FW. The total amino acid only showed a significantly higher concentration in SB control berries at R stage (16095 pmol/mg FW *versus* 12131pmol/mg FW). Comparing the two vintages, berries in 2015 contained more free amino acids than in 2016 in SB, while similar levels between the two vintages were observed for CS.



Figure 8: Seasonal variations of total amino acid concentrations in Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc in 2015 and 2016.

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)

According to their biosynthetic pathway, the 18 amino acids are separated into six groups based on their metabolic precursor: glutamate family (Glu, Gln, Arg, Pro and GABA), aspartate family (Asp, Asn, Met, Thr and Ileu), serine family (Ser, Gly and Cys), Pyruvate family (Ala, Val), aromatic amino acid family (Tyr and Phe) and histidine family (only His) (Figure 10). The proportion of each amino acid family was relatively conserved during berry development and glutamate family was always present in the highest proportion (59.9-92.4%) (Figure 9).

In CS, only glutamate family increased during berry development and accounted for about 90% of total amino acid at harvest (figure 9). The five other families decreased during whole stage or increased till MV and decreased thereafter. At the early stage (BC to MV), Arg, Gln and Glu were dominant in CS, ranging from 10 to 46.6%. However, they decreased dramatically down to 1.2-5.7% at harvest. In contrast, Pro concentration increased sharply up to 84.3% of total amino acid at harvest.

In SB, glutamate family was also the most predominant group, accounting for 59.9-75.7% depending on stage. Histidine, serine and aromatic amino acid families were in small proportions, under 5.5% (figure 9). With a continuous increase, the pyruvate family accounted for 7.6-12.6% of total amino acid at harvest. Aspartate family proportion peaked at MV then decreased to the initial level (12.6-15.5%). At harvest, Pro was present at the highest proportion (26.4-34.1%) followed by Arg, Glu and Thr, ranging from 8-21.5%.





Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)

# **II.3.3** Developmental changes of amino acid concentration

The dynamic changes of each amino acid are presented in detail according to their position in the biosynthesis pathway (Figure 10). To further clarify the difference between treatment and control of individual amino acid along berry development, heatmaps (Figure 11) were performed on the normalized ratio between treatment and control (H/C).

In CS, the elevated temperature mainly showed a negative effect during berry maturation (Figure 11), except BC stage in 2015 and PR stage in 2016 which showed a positive influence. Decreases in relative concentrations of most amino acids (except Pro, Tyr, Cys and His) were observed, but only Asp, Glu and Met concentrations exhibited significant differences in both years (Figure 10). Despite these differences, the concentration of total amino acid was not significantly affected by the temperature increase, because proline, the most predominant amino acid, did not significantly differ between heated and control.

In SB, vintage-dependent effects of elevated temperature on individual amino acids were observed between two years (Figure 11). In 2015, 17 out of 18 individual amino acids (except Cys) had a relative higher concentration and 7 of them showed a statistically higher level in control berries at harvest (figure 10). This resulted in a significantly higher concentration of total amino acid in control berries at harvest. In contrast, positive effects at R and PR stage were shown in 2016 (figure11), although only Gly and GABA significantly increased at R stage in heated berries.



Figure 10: Sugar-amino Acid metabolism pathways. The graphs demonstrate the dynamic changes of each amino acid concentration (pmol/mg FW).

Each graph contains four small graphs, left panel shows data in 2015 and right in 2016. Top panel is for Cabernet Sauvignon and bottom panel for Sauvignon Blanc. Closed red circles represent heated berries and open blue circles represent control berries. Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates.





Each column represents a developmental stage. The ratios of amino acid concentrations between treatment and control were represented as false colour with violet for higher concentration in heated berries and green for lower as illustrated in the colour key.

# **II.3.4 PCA analysis**

To understand better the accumulation of amino acid under different conditions, a principal component analysis (PCA) was performed (Figure 12 and 13).

For CS, principal component 1 (PC1) explained 54.2% of the variance, PC2 16.8% and PC3 8.79% (Figure 12a and12c). PC1 allowed the differentiation between developmental stages, and mainly correlated with the whole family of serine as well as GABA, Pro and Phe (Figure 12b). PC2 discriminated the temperature conditions and vintages, mainly determined by His, Asp and Glu. PC3 mainly correlated with Tyr and Gln (Figure 12d).

The PCA results for SB were similar. PC1, which explained the differences between developmental stages, accounted for 65.94% of the variance (figure 13a and 13c). Almost all individual amino acids contributed to PC1, especially Pro, Ala, Glu and His. PC2 (14.03%) separated vintage as well as treatment, strongly based on Met, Ileu and Arg (Figure 13b). PC3, which explained 7.94% of total variance, also discriminated vintage and was linked to Gly, GABA and Asp (figure 13d).



Figure 12: Principal component analysis of amino acid concentrations in Cabernet Sauvignon in two vintages. a and c discriminate years, treatment and developmental stages.

Berry size is represented by the size of the symbols. b and d load plots of primary metabolites and amino acid for the first three principal components (PC1 vs. PC2; PC2 vs. PC3)



**Figure 13:** Principal component analysis of amino acid concentrations in Sauvignon Blanc two vintages. a and c discriminate years, treatment and developmental stages. Berry size is represented by the size of the symbols. b and d load plots of primary metabolites and amino acid for the first three principal components (PC1 vs. PC2; PC2 vs. PC3)

#### **II.4 Discussion**

#### **II.4.1** Global warming context and heating system performance

According to the report "Le climat de la France au XXIe siècle" (Ouzeau et al., 2014), mean temperature is projected to rise by 0.6 to 1.3 °C in France by the mid-21st century (2021-2050) with respect to the 1976-2005 baseline and the summer mean temperature is projected to rise by 0.6-2°C by the late-21st century (2071-2100) with the same baseline. Simulating a similar increase temperature under realistic vineyard conditions can allow to better assess and help understand the potential impact of warming climate on grape berry development and quality. In the present study, the passive open-top heating system was installed in real vineyard during berry development in two consecutive years to manipulate *in-situ* temperature of grape. This system achieved to increase mean temperature by 0.5-1.6 °C, which was commensurate with the projected warming for the 21<sup>st</sup> century in France. The system maintained daily temperature dynamics with a slight decrease of the relative humidity and an increase of VPD. A similar performance was also obtained on cv. Shiraz in Adelaide under similar heating system (Sadras and Soar, 2009; Sadras et al., 2012; Sadras and Moran, 2012). However, the system also increased minimal temperature in Bordeaux vineyard, whereas it was not changed in Adelaide (Sadras and Soar, 2009). The open top and both ends insure air cycling and the clear transparent polycarbonate minimalize radiation difference. With this magnitude of elevated temperature, soil and plant water status were not affected.

#### **II.4.2** Response of technical maturity (sugars and organic acids)

In our study, season-long warming of approximately 1°C of mean temperature did not affect berry weight and sugar concentration in the two varieties. This finding matched previous studies which showed undetectable effect on Shiraz berry weight and sugar concentration at harvest with heating treatment at different key phenostages (Sadras and Soar, 2009; Sweetman et al., 2014). Malic acid concentration in SB was unresponsive to temperature, but it was 0.62 mg/g FW lower in warmed CS berries in 2016 than in control berries in our conditions. This strong seasonal/variety dependence to temperature is consistent with the results of Sadras et al. (2013), who observed that juice titratable acidity decreased in Cabernet Franc and Chardonnay, but was unresponsive in Shiraz and Semillon under elevated temperature conditions. According to Leeuwen et al. (2004), total variance of berry sugar concentration can be explained by varieties (41%), soil (32%) and climate (15%); conversely malic acid concentration was more sensitive to climate, which explained 62% total variance than to variety (19%). This might explain in part why sugar concentration did not change under heating treatment, but malic acid showed a statistical difference in one year in CS berries. Moreover, responses of sugar and acid concentration to higher temperature in CS and SB did not confirm the results of many previous studies where an increase in sugar concentration and a reduction of acid concentration were found under warming conditions. The explication might be linked to different temperature rise magnitude and/or temperature ranges, or otherwise the different experimental conditions that may confound the temperature effect with other environmental factors (Buttrose et al., 1971; Bowen et al., 2004; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Petrie and Sadras, 2008). These results emphasize the importance of considering the experimental set-up when comparing the effects of elevated temperatures on grape quality.

#### II.4.3 Amino acid response

To our best knowledge, nowadays no published work allows a direct assessment of season long warming effect on free amino acids in grapevine berries under realistic vineyard conditions. The present study showed that the response to temperature depends on individual amino acids, developmental stages, varieties and vintages; no significant effect of elevated temperature on total amino acid concentration was observed on CS, but a statistically lower concentration was found on SB, only in 2015.

Total amino acids concentration was much higher in CS than in SB for two years. Pro was predominant and its concentration in CS was more than three-fold higher as in SB. This result confirms earlier data obtained on grape juice of different varieties (Kliewer, 1968; Spayd and Andersen-Bagge, 1996; Stines et al., 1999; Hernández-Orte et al., 2002). Pro accumulation in many plant species differs from different environmental stresses including drought, high salinity and heavy metals (Hare and Cress, 1997; Szabados and Savouré, 2010; Krasensky and Jonak, 2012), but high temperature (heat stress) did not lead to proline accumulation in tobacco and Arabidopsis plants (Rizhsky et al., 2004; Dobra et al., 2010). No response of Pro concentration to elevated temperature in our study matched this conclusion. However, a 0.5-1.6 °C increase of mean temperature could hardly cause an actual heat stress.

The next two abundant free amino acids in both varieties were Arg and Glu which belong to the glutamate family. In some studies, they were reported as major amino acids in grape berries and must (Hernández-Orte et al., 1999; Stines et al., 2000; Guan et al., 2017). In CS berries, Arg decreased with time and Glu kept a similar concentration with some fluctuation regardless of temperature treatment. Both amino acids showed a negative response to elevated temperature. In SB, Arg accumulation had no uniform performance between vintages as well as treatments and Glu increased during berry development, but no significant difference was found between treated and un-treated berries. This finding contradicted previous studies where increases of glutamate family amino acids were observed with heating in Shiraz berries (Sweetman et al., 2014), in Arabidopsis (Kaplan et al., 2004) and in rice (Yamakawa and Hakata, 2010). However, two major differences distinguished the study of Sweetman (2014) from the present one. Firstly, the present study was conducted in a realistic vineyard, whereas the previous study was conducted in shade-house. Secondly, the magnitude and duration of warming was different, the present study manipulated temperature during whole berry ripening stage by 0.5-1.6 °C increase in mean temperature as opposed to heating at specific stages of berry development by increasing 10 °C and 5 °C of day and night temperature respectively.

Overall, free amino acids compositions were altered by elevated temperature. In CS, the other 15 free amino acids only represented 14.2% of total amino acids at maturity and ten of them represented even less than 1%. In SB, beside the three abundant amino acids, Thr, Ala, Asp and Gln were present in a relatively high proportion ( $\geq$ 5%). This varietal difference of free amino acids composition was also confirmed by many previous studies (Spayd and Andersen-Bagge, 1996; Stines et al., 2000; Guan et al., 2017). Although those amino acids presented at such a low level, they are involved in the biosynthesis of many important secondary metabolites such as flavonoids and anthocyanins (Dai et al., 2014). In CS, Phe is a precursors for phenylpropanoids biosynthesis, and a lower concentration under elevated temperature may explain in part the anthocyanins loss under high temperature (Mori et al., 2004; Yamane et al., 2006). Met and Cys, precursors of sulfur volatile compounds in wine (Moreira et al., 2002), showed different responses to temperature. Higher Met concentration and relative lower Cys concentration were detected in heated berries. Further studies are needed to investigate whether those amino acids concentration could influence sulfur volatile compounds in wine. GABA, glycine, valine, and alanine have previously been found to accumulate in heat and cold stress-exposed Arabidopsis seedlings and are considered as part of a global response to temperature stress in different organs of different plant species (Kaplan et al., 2004; Mangelsen et al., 2011). In this experimental study, none of them over-accumulated under warming conditions. The heterogeneous response to temperature of free amino acids in SB could explain why SB amino acid concentrations were strongly season- dependant.

# **II.5** Conclusion

The results obtained in actual vineyard conditions with standard practice in Bordeaux, increasing ambient mean temperature by a moderate 0.5-1.6 °C, similar with the projected global warming, unaffected individual amino acids developmental pattern and total amino acid concentration, except for SB berries at R stage in 2015. However, it affected differentially individual amino acid concentrations; amino acid composition of berries mainly varied with varieties and developmental stages. However, the elevated temperature affected the amino acid composition depending on varieties and developmental stages. All free amino acids concentrations were lower in heated mature berry of Cabernet Sauvignon, except Pro in 2015, and Pro, Tyr and Cys in 2016, which were more concentrated. Although 17 out of 18 amino acids concentrations (except Cys) were lower in SB heated berries at harvest, most of them were higher at mid-veraison stage. Conversely, in 2016, positive effects at ripen stage was found by elevated temperature. These results suggest that the developmental profile of free amino acids in grape berries is mainly determined by genetic factors, and that the elevated temperature only has a role of fine tuning their composition.

# Chapter III: Moderately elevated temperature affects metabolism and transcriptome of grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.) berries
### ABSTRACT

Temperature, one of the most important environmental factors, plays a key role in regulating grapevine phenology and berry composition. In the context of global warming, temperature becomes a threat to viticulture. To date, the mechanisms underlying the responses of grape berry to temperature elevation are still poorly understood. A passive open-top heating system was used to increase temperature from fruit setting to over-maturity by 0.5-1.6 °C at bunch zone under realistic vineyard conditions for Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) and Sauvignon Blanc (SB). Metabolite related to technical, phenolic and aromatic maturies were assessed in together with transcriptome via RNA-seq analysis in order to obtain a comprehensive view of berry responses to moderately elevated temperature. The elevated temperature hardly affected the concentrations of sugars, organic acids and tannins, but significantly reduced anthocyanins in CS and reduced two 3SH precursors (Glut-3SH-Al and Cys-3SH) in SB. A total of 357 genes were differentially expressed in response to the moderate elevated temperature. Enrichment analysis of Gene Ontology showed that temperature mainly regulated four GO categories, including microtubule, cell wall, extracellular region, and transcription factor activity. Twenty-two transcripts encoding biosynthetic enzymes of phenylpropanoid and flavonoid pathways were down-regulated, and this down-regulation could explain the decreased concentration of anthocyanins in CS. A significantly lower expression level of VviGST4 was associated with the lower concentration of 3-sulfanylhexan-1-ol precursors in SB. Meanwhile, VIT 08s0007g01420, a putative GST homologue, was down-regulated by elevated temperature and might be a potential candidate gene involved in the biosynthesis of 3SH precursors. By combing metabolite analysis and RNA-seq, our study provided novel molecular insights into the responses of grape berry to moderately elevated temperature in vineyard and could provide foundation for developing strategies for mitigating the effects of global warming.

KEYWORDS: RNA-seq, flavonoid, ripening, precursors, thiol, temperature, Vitis vinifera.

### **III.1 Introduction**

Grape is one of the world's most economically important fruit crops, with a reported annual production higher than 74 million tons (FAOSTAT-FAO Statistical Database, 2017). Its high economic value comes from its multi-usage, such as fresh fruit, raisin, juice, wine and liquor. The quality and production of grapevine mainly depends on environmental conditions and viticultural practices. Among environmental factors, temperature plays a key role in regulating grapevine phenology and berry composition (Coombe, 1986; Bergqvist et al., 2001; Tomasi et al., 2011). A recent report showed that global annual average temperature has increased by more than 1.2°C since 1900 (through 2012) (Power et al., 2017). Global warming is becoming a real challenge to viticulture and grape industry, not only because it may influence grape quality and production, but also because it may threaten the sustainability of viticulture in hot regions (Keller, 2010).

In the context of global warming, it is essential to better understand of the effects of temperature on berry and wine quality (Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Jones et al., 2005). Generally, higher temperature accelerates phenological development and decreases organic acid content while increasing sugar content (Coombe, 1986; Jones and Davis, 2000). However, recent studies with more precise temperature regulations showed that the temperature effects might be more complicated than previously reported. For example, Sweetman et al. (2014) showed that elevated night temperate imposed pre-veraison could increase the concentration of malic acid. In addition, Lecourieux et al. (2017) showed that bunch zone high temperature imposed pre-veraison could delay veraison date by two weeks. Moreover, the effects of high temperature on secondary metabolites, which largely influence berry quality and wine typicality, are less investigated and mainly focused on the phenylpropanoid biosynthetic pathway and aroma related components analysis (Jeandet et al., 2010; Peña-Gallego et al., 2012). Loss of anthocyanins in red-wine grape under high temperature was reported (Mori et al., 2007b). Conversely, tannins was less affected by temperature (Cohen et al., 2008). Lower 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine (IBMP, a green pepper aroma) content in berry, was always associated with a warmer vintage (Allen and Lacey, 1993; Falcão et al., 2007). Defoliation associated with a higher berry temperature only slightly but not significantly modified the precursors of thiols in Sauvignon Blanc berries (Sivilotti et al., 2017).

With the advance of plant genome projects, grapevine research is expanded from

metabolomic level to transcriptomic level. In 2007, the draft of the genome sequence of grapevine was finished (Jaillon et al., 2007). Grapevine transcriptomic analysis (via microarray or RNA sequencing) has provided different insights into mechanisms underlying the elevated temperature induced alteration in both primary and secondary metabolites. Several studies showed that the decreased anthocyanins content under high temperature was caused by the repression of related biosynthetic and regulatory genes such as flavonoids-3-Oglucosyltransferase and MYBA1 (Mori et al., 2007b; de Rosas et al., 2017). However, Carbonell-Bejerano et al. (2013) observed a reduction of anthocyanins without any different expressions of anthocyanin biosynthetic genes in Muscat Hamburg under elevated temperature. An alternative hypothesis for the negative effect of high temperature on anthocyanin content is the induction of anthocyanin degradation genes (Movahed et al., 2016). The effects of high temperature on aromatic potential have also been investigated at transcriptomic level. Lecourieux et al. (2017) found that heat treatment repressed three genes encoding for O-methyltransferase, which are responsible for synthesis of methoxypyrazine (Dunlevy et al., 2010; Guillaumie et al., 2013). The down-regulation of VviOMT coincides with lower concentration of IBMP found in warmer vintages (Ryona et al., 2008).

Three main kinds of methods have been used (Sadras and Soar, 2009). The first one consist in comparing, vintages and/or regions, but the temperature effect in this method is inherently confounded with other environmental factors, such as soil properties and composition, and rainfall (Duchêne and Schneider, 2005). The second one is the direct comparison under artefactual conditions, like greenhouse, but this impose limitations to apply the results to vineyard conditions (Mori et al., 2007b). The last method imposes temperature changes to specific plant parts or whole vine with plastic enclosures under realistic vineyard conditions. However, manipulation of specific plant parts only changes temperature in part and the enclosure around canopy changes other climatic factors as well as boundary layer of the canopy (Bowen et al., 2004; Petrie and Clingeleffer, 2005; Soar et al., 2009). To overcome these limitations, Sadras and Soar (2009) created a new and inexpensive open system leading to mild temperature increases under realistic vineyard conditions. This passive open-top heating system gently increased maximal bunch temperature by 2.3-3.2°C, that is commensurate with the projected global warming. Meanwhile it maintained daily temperature cycle without or little effect on other climate factors (Sadras and Soar, 2009).

In the present work, a passive open-top heating system was set up under realistic vineyard

conditions for the two representative red and white varieties in Bordeaux region, i.e. Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) and Sauvignon Blanc (SB), from fruit setting to two weeks after harvest. Berry primary and secondary metabolites were analysed and compared with transcriptome analysis via RNA sequencing. The objectives were 1) to verify the effects of temperature elevation at ~1.5-2°C in vineyard on berry metabolism in red and white cultivars; 2) to understand better the transcriptional regulations underlying the berry responses to elevated temperature. Our results show that grape berry metabolism and transcriptome changes induced by the elevated temperature, depended on the developmental stages and grape varieties. These results may provide a basis developing adaption strategies to mitigate the effects of global warming for wine industry.

### **III.2** Materials and methods

### III.2.1 Location, vine material and experimental set up

The experimental study was conducted in 2015 in Bordeaux vineyard (44° 46' 46' N, 00°34' 01" W) with the varieties *V. vinifera cv.* Sauvignon Blanc and Cabernet Sauvignon. They were planted in an experimental vineyard "VitAdapt" growing in level ground with no slope or geospatial variations. The field-grown grapevines were 8 years old, spur pruned, with a density of 1.6 m between rows and 1m between plants. Vineyard management followed the local standards.

A passive open-top heating system was used to elevate temperature from fruit setting to postmaturity (14 days after harvest). Full details of the heating system, its performance and limitations are described in chapter II.

### **III.2.2** Metabolites quantification

One hundred fresh berries were randomly sampled from each replicate at four different berry developmental stages: bunch closure (BC), mid-veraison (MV), mid-ripening (MR) and ripening (R). All samples were ground into powder in liquid nitrogen using a ball grinder MM200 (Retsch, Haan, Germany), and stored at -80°C for later analysis.

Sugar and organic acid contents

An aliquot of 500 mg fine powder of whole berries was extracted sequentially with ethanol

(80% and 50%), dried in a Speed-Vac, and re-dissolved in 2.5 mL de-ionized water. Glucose and fructose content were measured enzymatically with an automated micro-plate reader (Elx800UV, Biotek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA) according to the method of Gomez et al. (2007). Malic acid was determined with an automated colorimetric method using the TRAACS 800 autoanalyzer (Bran-Luebbe) by using an enzymatic kit (R-Biopharm, Darmstadt, Germany).

### Extraction and quantification of Cys-3SH, Glut-3SH and Glut-3SH-Al

An aliquot of 500 mg fine powder of whole berries was extracted in 1.5 mL methanol containing 0.1% HCl (v/v) and added 50  $\mu$ L 0.1 $\mu$ g/L the internal standard solution containing a deuterated form of the glutathionylated S-conjugate ((3-*S*-hexan-1-ol)-glutathione-d<sub>3</sub>). Extracts were centrifuged and subsequently evaporated using a RapidVap Vertex Dry Evaporator (Labconco, Kansas City, MO, USA). The residues were filtered filtered with a 0.45- $\mu$ m membrane before being analyzed by C18-RP-UHPLC-HRMS (Thermo Scientific, Illkirch, France).

The separation was performed on a Synchronis aQ column ( $100 \times 2.1 \text{ mm}$  i.d.,  $1.7 \mu \text{m}$ , Synchronis aQ, Thermo Scientific, Bremen, Germany) with a flow rate of 300  $\mu$ L min<sup>-1</sup> of solvent A (0.1% aqueous formic acid) and solvent B (0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile). The gradient for solvent B was as follows: 0 min, 9%; 0.8 min, 9%; 5 min, 40%; 5.2 min, 90%. The column was equilibrated with 9% of solvent B for 1 min prior to an injection. The ion source was operated in the positive ion mode at 3.5 kV. The vaporizer temperature of the source was set at 300°C, the capillary temperature at 350°C, the nitrogen sheath gas at 80, and the auxiliary and sweep gas at 5 (arbitrary units). A mass range of 100-500 was acquired in full scan MS mode. The resolution setting was 25000 (m/ $\Delta$ m, fwhm at m/z 400). To quantify the metabolites in samples, standards were prepared at the same time as the berries samples, by adding 50 µg L<sup>-1</sup> of the internal standard to solutions of the synthetized metabolites (mix of 1 mL water and 1 mL grape juice).

# Anthocyanin quantification

An aliquot of 500 mg of berry skin powder was freeze-dried for 72 h and the dried powder (50 mg) was extracted in 1.0 mL methanol containing 0.1% HCl (v/v). Extracts were filtered through a 0.45  $\mu$ m polypropylene syringe filter (Pall Gelman Corp., Ann Harbor, MI, USA)

for HPLC analysis. Each individual anthocyanin was analyzed with HPLC as described in Soubeyrand et al. (2014). Quantification was carried out by peak area integration at 520 nm. The concentration of individual anthocyanins was calculated in milligrams per gram (mg.  $g^{-1}$ ) of dry skin weight (DW) using malvidin 3-O-glucoside (Extrasynthese, Genay, France) as external standard.

### Tannins quantification

An aliquot (1g) the obtained powder was extracted using 40mL methanol containing 0.1% HCl. This solution was stirred for 3 h at 20°C. The extract was filtered through 20µm PTFE filters. Monomeric-dimeric tannins was analysed with HPLC as described in Cholet et al (2014). 600µL of phenolic extract, desiccated under nitrogen flow, plus 200µL of reagent (0.2 N methanol-HCl + ascorbic acid + phloroglucinol) were mixed and incubated at 50°C for 20 min. The reaction was stopped with 200µL of sodium acetate. This extract was filtered and placed in a 2 mL HPLC sealed vial. Ten microliters was injected into the HPLC for analysis (column, 250×4.6µm, 5µm, ODS (Beckman, RoissyCharles de Gaulle, France): precolumn, 10×4.6 mm, 5µm, BDS C18(Thermo Hypersil); flow rate, 1 mL/min; solvent A, water/acetic acid (19:1 v/v); solvent B, MeOH/acetic acid (19:1 v/v); gradient, 5% B from 0 to 30 min, 20% B from 30 to 55 min, 40% B from 55 to 60 min, 90% B from 60 to75 min, 5% B from 75 to 80 min; injection volume, 10µL; detection wavelength, 280 nm.

# III.2.3 RNA extraction and gene expression analysis

Total RNA from 1 g powder of whole berries was isolated according to the previous described method (Reid et al., 2006). RNA isolation was followed by DNase I treatment (Turbo DNA-free™ kit, Ambion, Austin, TX, USA). Afterward, total RNA was quantified using NanoDrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE), and the RNA quality was evaluated on 1% agarose gels. First-strand cDNA was synthesized from purified RNA using Superscript III enzyme (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA obtained was diluted (target concentration: 0.01ug/µl) in distilled water for later analysis. Quantitative real-time PCR expression analysis was carried out using the CFX96 Real-Time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad). PCR reaction mix and specific oligonucleotide primer pairs were those from Helwi et al (2016). PCR conditions were 3 min at 95 °C, 40 cycles of 10 s at 95 °C, and 15 s at 60 °C. The amplification efficiencies were determined by serial dilution. Melting curves to control the annealing specificity of

oligonucleotides were recorded after each run. All experiments were performed with three biological replicates and two technical replicates. Normalized expression of each gene was calculated using Bio-Rad CFX Manager software. Gene transcripts were quantified upon normalization to *VviEF1* and *VviUBIQUITIN* as internal standards by comparing the cycle threshold of the target gene with those of standard genes.

### **III.2.4 RNA-Seq library construction and sequencing**

RNA\_Seq analysis was conducted through platform GenomEast (IGBMC, Strasbourg). RNA-Seq libraries were generated from 600 ng of total RNA using TruSeq Stranded mRNA LT Sample Preparation Kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA), according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, following purification with poly-T oligo attached magnetic beads, the mRNA was fragmented using divalent cations at 94°C for 2 minutes. The cleaved RNA fragments were copied into first strand cDNA using reverse transcriptase and random primers. Strand specificity was achieved by replacing dTTP with dUTP during second strand cDNA synthesis using DNA Polymerase I and RNase H. Following addition of a single 'A' base and subsequent ligation of the adapter on double stranded cDNA fragments, the products were purified and enriched with PCR (30 sec at 98°C; [10 sec at 98°C, 30 sec at 60°C, 30 sec at 72°C] x 12 cycles; 5 min at 72°C) to create the cDNA library. Surplus PCR primers were further removed by purification using AMPure XP beads (Beckman-Coulter, Villepinte, France) and the final cDNA libraries were checked for quality and quantified using capillary electrophoresis. These libraries were then sequenced on the Illumina Hiseq 4000 as paired-end 50 base reads following Illumina's instructions.

## **III.2.5 Analysis of Illumina reads**

Reads were mapped onto the 12X assembly1 of the *Vitis vinifera* genome using Tophat v2.0.14 (Kim et al., 2013) and the bowtie2 v2.1.0 aligner (Langmead and Salzberg, 2012). Only uniquely aligned reads have been retained for further analyses. Quantification of gene expression was performed using HTSeq v0.6.13 (Anders et al., 2015) and CRIBI V1 annotations. The gene expression level was calculated by using RPKM (reads per exon kilo base per million mapped sequence reads).

Read counts have been normalized across libraries with the method proposed by Anders and Huber (2010). Comparison of interest were performed using the method proposed by Love et

al., (2014) and implemented in the DESeq2 Bioconductor library (DESeq2v1.0.19). Resulting p values were adjusted for multiple testing using the Benjamini and Hochberg (1995) method. The log2 Fold-Change was estimated using the method proposed by Love et al., (2014). Differentially expressed genes with an adjust p-value  $\leq 0.05$  and an absolute value of log2(ratio)  $\geq 1$  were used as the thresholds to judge the significance of gene expression difference. RNA-seq data were averaged of three biological replicates.

# **III.3 Results and discussion**

### **III.3.1** Heat treatment and berry characterization

Heat treatment was applied during berry development under realistic vineyard condition. The average elevations of maximal, average and minimal temperature was 2.76°C, 1.18°C and 0.97°C respectively (figure 1). The treatment slightly decreased relative humidity in bunch zone without changing plant and soil water status (chapterII). This system allowed to increase bunch zone mean air temperature 0.5-1.6 °C that was commensurate with the projected warming for the following 80 years in France (Ouzeau et al., 2014).



# Figure 1: Increment of minimal, maximal and average temperature in bunch zone area during berry development

Berries of CS and SB from two different stages: bunch closure (BC) and mid-ripening (MR) were sampled for RNA sequencing analysis. The average berries weight was not affected by

the treatment at those two stages. At BC stage, there was no difference in the levels of primary metabolites between treatment and control, except that elevated temperature only significantly increased fructose and decreased malic acid content of CS berries at MR stage (Table 1).

8								
	Bunch closure				Mid-ripening			
	Berry weight	Gluctose	Fructose	Malic acid	Berry weight	Gluctose	Fructose	Malic acid
Cabernet Sauvignon	g		mg/g (FW	/)	g		mg/g (FW	7)
Control	0.6 <sup>a</sup>	3.17 <sup>a</sup>	0.7 <sup>a</sup>	17.12 <sup>a</sup>	1.17 <sup>a</sup>	71.16 <sup>a</sup>	67.19 <sup>a</sup>	4.28 <sup>a</sup>
Heated	$0.52^{a}$	2.63 <sup>a</sup>	$0.78^{a}$	15.89 <sup>a</sup>	1.06 <sup>a</sup>	74.39 <sup>a</sup>	70.7 <sup>b</sup>	3.42 <sup>b</sup>
Sauvignon Blanc								
Control	0.66 <sup>a</sup>	4.83 <sup>a</sup>	0.51 <sup>a</sup>	16.99 <sup>a</sup>	1.28 <sup>a</sup>	79.89 <sup>a</sup>	79.11 <sup>a</sup>	3.52 <sup>a</sup>
Heated	$0.71^{a}$	5.22 <sup>a</sup>	0.49 <sup>a</sup>	17.57 <sup>a</sup>	1.29 <sup>a</sup>	77.51 <sup>a</sup>	77.29 <sup>a</sup>	3.02 <sup>a</sup>

Table 1: Effect of elevated temperature on berry weight, sugars and malic acid content measured at BC and MR stages.

Values are mean of five replicates. Different letters within the same parameter indicate statistically significant differences between treatment and control as determined by Student's t test (p value < 0.05). FW, fresh weight

# III.3.2 Global response of berry transcriptome to elevated temperature

Transcriptomic patterns in *Vitis vinifera* cv. CS and CS grape berries in response to elevated temperature were quantitively assessed using the Illumina Hiseq 2500.



Figure 2: Venn diagrams representing the number of differentially expressed genes between the control and the treatment for (a) Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) and (b) Sauvignon Blanc (SB) at bunch closure (BC) and mid-ripeness (MR); and between varieties at same stages (b and c).





The log2(Heated/Ccontrol) in Cabernet Sauvignon (two columns in left) and in Sauvignon Blanc (two columns in right) ratios were represented as false colour with red for higher expression level in heated berries and blue for lower as illustrated in the colour keys.

A total of 357 genes were differentially expressed in at least one of the four comparisons. The overlaps in differentially expressed genes (DEGs) under two conditions were shown with two-way Venn diagrams based on varieties and stages (figure 2). To get overviews of correlations among DEGs, heatmap was produced (figure 3).

For CS, the elevated temperature had less effect at BC stage than MR stage. At MR stage, most DEGs were down-regulated by elevated temperature. Only two genes were differentially expressed between control and treatment at BC stage, and both were down-regulated. A total number of 165 DEGs was found at MR stage and only 3 of them were up-regulated. Temperature have induced more changes at MR stage and show an inhibited effect.

For SB, different responses to elevated temperature between the two stages are illustrated in figure 3. The most remarkably down- and up-regulated genes found at BC stage were slightly induced or unaffected at MR stage. The down regulated genes at MR stage in SB berries were also repressed in CS berries at the same stage. Temperature effect was observed in SB berries with 141 DEGs at BC stage which was much more than the DEGs in CS berries at the same stage, and with 70 DEGs at MR stage which was less than half of that in CS berries. Among all DEGs, 69 and 61 genes were down-regulated at BC and MR stage, respectively. Meanwhile, there were 8 common down-regulated genes at two stages and one gene was up-regulated at first beginning then down-regulated at next stage. Comparing with CS berries, SB berries seemed to be influenced immediately by the treatment. Between two varieties, 11 down-regulated at BC stage in SB berries. No up-regulated transcript was found neither between treatment within same varieties nor between varieties at a given stage (Figure 2).

Sequence ID		Fold c	hange		
Genoscope 12 X V1	CS BC	CS MR	SB BC	SB MR	Best identity description
	stage	stage	stage	stage	
VIT_07s0031g01890	-2.5		-2		RING/U-box superfamily protein (Arabidopsis thaliana)
VIT_03s0038g04730		-1.83	-3.92	-1.81	polyphenol oxidase (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_10s0116g00410		-1.95	-2.52	-3.26	GA2OX8 (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_19s0177g00030		-2.17	-2.73	-4.12	GA2OX8 (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_04s0008g02070		-2.16		-2.53	protein kinase chloroplast (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_04s0008g04180		-1.54		-1.66	transporter arsb-like (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_05s0049g01650		-1.4		-1.98	cyclopropane-fatty-acyl-phospholipid synthase (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_05s0051g00680		-2.72		-1.26	SVR9 (Arabidopsis thaliana)
VIT_05s0094g00360		-2.25		-2.25	EP3 (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_07s0005g01210		-2.04		-2.6	MYB12 (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_07s0129g01010		-3.39		-3.32	CCT motif family protein (Arabidopsis thaliana)
VIT_08s0007g01420		-1.92		-1.81	GSTU8 (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_00s0317g00140			-1.36	-1.93	exocyst complex component 7 (Arabidopsis thaliana)
VIT_03s0038g03950			-1.11	-1.94	PHT3 (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_08s0007g03370			-1.33	-1.27	uncharacterized protein
VIT_12s0028g00320			-1.33	-1.25	LHB1B1 (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_16s0050g00020			-2.22	-2.86	transducin wd40 domain-containing protein (Vitis vinifera)
VIT_16s0100g00780			3.63	-3.67	TT4 (Vitis vinifera)

Table 2: Common genes differentially expressed between varieties and stages.

Adjust p value < 0.05 and  $|\log_2(H/C)| \ge 1$ . C, control. H, heated.

GA2OX8: gibberellin 2-beta-dioxygenase 8-like; SVR9: Suppressor of variegation 9; EP3: class iv chitinase; GSTU8: glutathione s-transferase protein; PHT3: mitochondrial phosphate carrier protein; LHB1B1: chlorophyll a b binding; TT4: stilbene synthase.

Enrichments of GO (Gene Ontology) categories

GO enrichment analysis was made to gain insight into the functional categories impacted by elevated temperature. Eighteen GO functional terms were significantly altered (FDR $\leq$ 0.05) by heating treatment (table 3). Genes encoding microtubule (9 terms) and cell wall (6 terms) were the most enriched. One term (GO: 0030312) about extracellular region and two terms (GO: 0001071 and GO: 0003700) involved in transcription factor activity were also enriched. No terms related to biological process was significantly changed. But to a less extent, four GO terms about metabolic process and one term related to biotic stimulus (GO: 0009607) response were enriched with a p-value<0.05 but FDR>0.05. GO:009699, GO:009698, GO:0044550 and GO:0019748 were related to secondary metabolic process and two of them (GO:009699 and GO:009698) were specifically involved in phenylpropanoid pathway.

GO term	Description	Queryitem	Bgitem	Pvalue	FDR
GO:0048046	apoplast	14	186	4.50E-07	7.90E-05
GO:0005618	cell wall	14	249	1.10E-05	0.00074
GO:0030312	external encapsulating structure	14	252	1.30E-05	0.00074
GO:0005576	extracellular region	17	424	8.30E-05	0.0036
GO:0016762	xyloglucan: xyloglucosyl transferase activity	6	37	2.00E-05	0.0072
GO:0016798	hydrolase activity, acting on glycosyl bonds	19	486	4.40E-05	0.0079
GO:0004553	hydrolase activity, hydrolyzing O-glycosyl compounds	18	466	8.10E-05	0.0097
GO:0005874	microtubule	8	127	0.00043	0.015
GO:0005875	microtubule associated complex	7	103	0.00064	0.017
GO:0099513	polymeric cytoskeletal fiber	8	140	0.00078	0.017
GO:0099512	supramolecular fiber	8	140	0.00078	0.017
GO:0005871	kinesin complex	6	79	0.0009	0.018
GO:0015630	microtubule cytoskeleton	9	185	0.0011	0.02
GO:0001071	nucleic acid binding transcription factor activity	24	821	0.00036	0.026
GO:0003700	transcription factor activity, sequence-specific DNA binding	24	821	0.00036	0.026
GO:0008017	microtubule binding	7	102	0.0006	0.036
GO:0003777	microtubule motor activity	6	79	0.0009	0.041
GO:0015631	tubulin binding	7	107	0.00079	0.041

 Table 3: GO functional analysis of elevated temperature related differentially expressed genes in grape berries

FDR, False Discovery Rate.

# **III.3.3 Identification of significantly altered transcripts**

# III.3.3.1 Cell wall metabolism

Softening is an important process of the ripening in most fleshy fruits and it results from the hydrolytic breakdown of cell wall polymers (Cosgrove, 2000). In previous studies, cell wall metabolism and some genes involved in cell wall structural modifications were influenced by growth conditions including temperature (Nunan et al., 1998; Nunan et al., 2001). In the present study, thirty DEGs were related to the functional category "Cell wall" and mainly belonged to genes encoding cell wall degrading enzymes.

Two major kinds of cell wall degrading enzymes play an important role softening. They are pectin degrading enzymes (e.g., pectinesterase and polygalacturonase) and polysaccharides degrading enzymes (e.g., cellulase, xyloglucan endotransglucosylase/hydrolase and  $\alpha$ -galactosidase) (Jenks and Bebeli, 2011). The mechanism underlying the actions of pectic

enzymes most likely involves the action of polygalacturonase (PGs), which acts on pectic substrates already suitably de-esterified by pectinesterase (PEs) (Deng et al., 2005). The expression level of two genes coding PEs (VIT 15s0048g00480 and VIT 02s0154g00600) was promoted in SB green berries by elevated temperature. A decreased level of VIT 05s0062g01160 (PEs) expression was observed in warmed mid-ripening CS berries. Meanwhile, VIT 10s0071g01120, a galactosidase, was down-regulated. Xyloglucans, a kind of polysaccharides, account for around 10% of cell wall material from grape berry mesocarp and reach 50% of the exocarp cell wall material (Doco et al., 2003). Xyloglucan endotransglycosylase/hydrolase (XTH), a xyloglucan modifying enzyme, has been proposed to have a role during fruit ripening by loosening the cell wall (Nunan et al., 1998; Munoz-Bertomeu et al., 2013). Six XTHs were altered by heat treatment in current study. VIT 11s0052g01260 and VIT 11s0052g01300 were up-regulated in warmed green SB berries and not during later stage. Consistently, an increased level of XET (Xyloglucan endotransglycosylase) transcripts was also measured in warmed green grape berries (Rienth et al., 2016; Lecourieux et al., 2017). Conversely, other two XTHs genes (VIT 11s0052g01250 and VIT 00s0386g00050) were down-regulated at MR stage in CS berries. Besides that, downregulated genes encoding cellulase (VIT 07s0005g00740 and VIT 00s2526g00010) and glucanase (VIT 05s0077g01150 and VIT 18s0122g00980) were found mostly in heated midripening berries. In addition to its effects on the primary cell wall, elevated temperature also showed a negative effect on two genes involved in lignin degradation (VIT 08s0007g01910 and VIT 13s0067g01970) in CS berries at MR stage. Overall, this suggested that the synthesis of cell wall components was affected by temperature and differed between genotypes. The changes of genes involved in cell wall metabolism support the idea that thermotolerance acquisition partially requires cell wall-remodelling enzymes, which could be involved in the biosynthesis or in subtle modification of major cell wall polymers (Yang et al., 2006; Le Gall et al., 2015). Moreover, the composition and structure of grape berry cell wall polysaccharides are of interest because of their effects on wine production. The cell wall of grape berries forms a barrier to the diffusion of components including aromas and phenols and acts as a protection against external factors (Doco et al., 2003; Vicens et al., 2009). Cell wallremodelling by elevated temperature may alter extractabilities of the phenolic compounds and then affect juice and wine quality.

### III.3.3.2 Microtubule

Microtubules (MTs) play important roles in regulation of cell division, cell expansion, and cell differentiation (Lloyd and Chan, 2004). 9 GO terms about microtubule including 11 DEGs were overrepresented. All the 11 DEGs were down regulated by elevated temperature, 9 of them in SB berries at bunch closure and only 2 in CS berries at mid-ripening stage. Cell division and expansion mainly occur during the green growth phase because of the increase in volume and weight (Ojeda et al., 1999). This could explain the enrichment of this category mainly in the BC stage.

### **III.3.3.3** Transcriptional factors

Presently, at least 64 families of transcriptional factors have been identified in the plant kingdom (Liu et al., 2014). In the present study, 24 DEGs were related to transcriptional factors and mainly belonged to "ethylene-responsive transcriptional factors" and "Basic leucine zipper/ HomeoDomain leucine zipper transcriptional factors".

Ethylene-responsive (ERF) subfamily transcriptional factors belong to APETALA2/Ethylene Responsive Factor (AP2/ERF) superfamily which are not only involved in various biological functions and environmental stimuli but also participate in signal transduction pathways of jasmonic acid, ethylene and abscisic acid (Ohme-Takagi and Shinshi, 1995). Eight transcripts encoding ethylene-responsive transcriptional factors (VIT 10s0003g00140, VIT 12s0028g03270, VIT 16s0013g01070, VIT 16s0013g01050, VIT 03s0063g00460, VIT 02s0025g04460, VIT 02s0234g00130 and VIT 05s0049g00510) were more abundant only in warmed SB berries at BC stage. Although ERF subfamily transcriptional factors are generally considered to be mediators of ethylene-related responses, they include members that respond to abiotic stresses, such as drought and high salinity, and can confer tolerance to these stresses by overexpression in transgenic plants (Fujimoto et al., 2000; Park et al., 2001). Genome-wide expression analyses of AP2/ERF family genes in poplar (*Populus trichocarpa*) (Zhuang et al., 2008), soybean (Zhang et al., 2008), tomato (Sharma et al., 2010) and rice (Sharoni et al., 2010) reveal that many ERF subfamily genes are also induced by low or high temperature.

*VIT\_16s0013g01070* and *VIT\_16s0013g01050* were named ERF105 by Romero et al. (2015) and Nwafor et al. (2014) respectively. They are more orthologous with AtERF6 genes in

Arabidopsis and classed in VviERF6 TF paralogs by Cramer et al. (2014). VviERF6 expression pattern, especially VviERF6L1, showed a high correlation with terpenoid metabolism, pigment biosynthesis and fatty acid and alcohol metabolism during late stages of ripening of CS berries (Cramer et al., 2014). This suggested that ethylene may play a more important role in the late stages of ripening when flavours are produced than previously thought (Cramer et al., 2014). In the present study, these genes were only altered at the early stage and this alteration may have an indirect or less important influence on the synthesis of flavour compositions. VIT 12s0028g03270, named as ERF9, was involved in repressing the activation of pathogen related genes in Arabidopsis (Camehl and Oelmüller, 2010). Meanwhile, it was reported that the expression level was higher in the skin than in the flesh of a red cultivars from the cross 'Syrah'× 'Pinot Noir' and was co-expressed with VviMYBA1 (Costantini et al., 2015). VIT 05s0049g00510, named ERF1, was highly expressed after veraison in "Fujiminori" grape berry (Shangguan et al., 2017). The function of ERF1 is unknown, but it is considered to regulate ethylene during fruit development. The Upregulations of VIT 05s0049g00510 may accelerate the ripening process of SB berries. The transcripts of VIT 02s0234g00130, named as ERF2 which is under group IX (B-3) of ERF TFs subfamily, were reported to increase in CS leaves after 1h of dehydration (Hopper et al., 2016). VIT 02s0025g04460 was the gene with the greatest increase in transcript abundance in the shoot tips after abscisic acid treatment (Rattanakon et al., 2016). The up-regulated genes coding ERF TFs, known regulators of abiotic stress in plant, play an important role in the response to temperature variation in SB grape berry at early stage.

The basic leucine zipper (bZIP) TFs family is one of the largest and most diverse families (Nijhawan et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2014). They play important roles in in all eukaryotes, not only in plant but also in animals (Gao et al., 2014). HomeoDomain leucine zipper (HD-Zip) TFs family also has a large number of TFs, but they seem be unique to the plant kingdom (Ariel et al., 2007). Both bZIP and HD-Zip TFs contain the Leu zipper (LZ) region. The bZIP TFs contains the basic region but HD-Zip TFs has Homeobox domain (HD). These two regions are highly conserved (Henriksson et al., 2005; Corrêa et al., 2008). Six transcripts encoding bZip/HD-Zip FTs and one CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins (C/EBPs) TFs which contents a bZIP region were found differentially expressed in at least one of the four comparisons.

VIT 15s0021g01880, Six (VIT 08s0007g06670, VIT 19s0015g01020, transcripts VIT 01s0026g01950, VIT 06s0080g00340 and VIT 11s0016g01480) were down-regulated in CS berries at mid-ripening stage. Only one transcript, VIT 10s0003g00380, was up-regulated in SB berries at BC stage. VIT 19s0015g01020 and VIT 06s0080g00340 are two Bzip TFs. They were named VvibZIP47 and VvibZIP19 by Liu et al. (2014), respectively. They were mainly expressed in seed at the end of fruit set (Liu et al., 2014). Note that these two genes were homologous with AtbZIP67/DPBF2, AtbZIP39/ABI5 in Arabidopsis, which showed an important role in ABA-mediated seed development, germination, and embryo maturation (Bensmihen et al., 2005; Yamamoto et al., 2009). While studying with many plants, reduces seed weight and size were observed after heated treatment (Sinsawat et al., 2004; Yamamoto et al., 2008; Mohammed and Tarpley, 2010) . VIT 01s0026g01950, VIT 08s0007g06670, VIT 10s0003g00380 and VIT 15s0021g01880 belong to HD-Zip TFs and were named VviHDZ05, VviHDZ14, VviHDZ17 and VviHDZ25 by Li et al (2017), respectively. HD-Zip genes are involved in embryo development (Prigge et al., 2005; Li et al., 2017). VviHDZ05 and VviHDZ17 were mainly expressed in Thompson Seedless while VviHDZ25 had no differences in Pinot Noir and Thompson Seedless. But VviHDZ11, a homologous gene of VviHDZ25, had lower expression in Thompson Seedless (Li et al., 2017). It was postulated that VviHDZ05, VviHDZ17 and VviHDZ11 may be associated with embryo abortion and surviving seeds. In this study, these 5 down-regulated genes may alter seeds development and maturation.

Two transcripts (*VIT\_07s0005g01210* and *VIT\_05s0077g01360*) that belong to MYeloBlastosis (MYB) TFs family were down-regulated in berries at the MR stage. *VIT\_07s0005g01210* (*VviMYBF1*), which was down-regulated by elevated temperature in CS and SB berries, is a regulator of the first step of flavonol biosynthesis (Czemmel et al., 2009). Meanwhile, *VIT\_17s0000g06930* and *VIT\_15s0021g02690*, members of The Basic Helix-Loop-Helix (bHLH) TFs, were also down-regulated in SB berries at BC and MR stage respectively. Previous results indicated that bHLH TFs participate in the control of flavonoids biosynthesis in many plants (Ludwig and Wessler, 1990; Quattrocchio et al., 2006; Bai et al., 2011). In grapes, MYB TFs regulate flavonoid pathway through an integration with basic bHLH proteins (Hichri et al., 2010). In addition, a bHLH TFs *VviCEB1* was shown be involved in cell expansion and auxin responses.

A WRKY transcriptional factor VIT\_08s0058g00690 was down regulated in SB berries at MR

stage. This gene is associated with antifungal defence and jasmonic acid signaling pathway (Domingos et al., 2016; Wong et al., 2016; Haile et al., 2017). Two zinc finger transcriptional factors (*VIT\_07s0005g02580* and *VIT\_04s0008g01290*) were down regulated only in SB berries. Heat treatment decreased the expression level of two B3 domain-containing transcriptional factor (*VIT\_14s0068g01290* and *VIT\_03s0063g00910*) in SB berries at BC stage and CS berries at MR stage, respectively.

### III.3.3.4 Metabolism

Only a significant higher fructose and lower malic acid was found in treated CS berries at MR stage. No transcript related to sugar and organic acids synthesis was significantly altered. Opposite to the pattern of sugar concentration, three sugar transporters (*VIT\_14s0030g00260*, *VIT\_05s0077g02260* and *VIT\_14s0030g00220*) were down-regulated in the same samples. This suggests that a mild elevated temperature may not alter sugar biosynthesis but changed sugar allocation between source and sink. Interestingly a sucrose synthase transcript (SuSy: VIT\_05s0077g01930) was also down -regulated in warmed CS berries at MR stage. SuSy is thought to be cytoplasmic enzymes in plant cells and UDP-glucose for the synthesis of cell wall polysaccharides and starch (Kleczkowski et al., 2010; Rienth et al., 2014a). As fructose and UDP-glucose shared the same precursors: sucrose, the depressed pathway to UDP-glucose may explain in part the higher fructose concentration.

The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) plays an integral and important role in plant response and adaptation to environmental stresses (Stone, 2014). In the present study, 9 DEGs potentially linked to ubiquitin machinery were putative ubiquitin ligases (E3). Only VIT 16s0050g00020 was inhibited whatever the developmental stage in SB berries. It is also reported as a homologous gene to AtRUP1 and AtRUP2, which in Arabidopsis are induced by UV-B radiation and increase flavonoid levels (Heijde and Ulm, 2013; Armijo et al., 2016). Only VIT 01s0026g01030 which was increased in SB berries at BC stage. The rest were specifically deregulated at MR stage. Five of them (VIT 18s0041g01090, VIT 11s0016g03590, VIT 01s0011g02360, VIT 09s0002g04720 and VIT 11s0016g03580) were in CS berries and only two transcripts (VIT 01s0011g06140 and VIT 06s0009g00370) were in SB berries. VIT 18s0041g01090 and other 110 genes potentially linked to UPS transcripts were conversely up-regulated in CS berries after a heat treatment (+8°C, 14 days) (Lecourieux et al., 2017). The UPS functions in grapevine are not clearly elucidated. The different responses to temperature may due to the magnitude and duration of warming.

The abundance of 22 transcripts encoding biosynthetic enzymes of phenylpropanoid and flavonoid pathways were changed by elevated temperature. 8 transcripts related to the flavonoid pathway were repressed in CS berries at MR stage by elevated temperature. Two flavonoid hydroxylases (VIT 03s0063g01690 and VIT 15s0048g01590), which catalyze the addition of hydroxyl groups to B-ring of flavonoids (Bogs et al., 2006), were heat repressed. These two genes could contribute to variation in the composition of flavonoids. The repression of a flavonol synthase (VIT 13s0106g00550) may decrease the flavonol content in heated berries. Three anthocyanidin UDP-glycosyltransferases (UFGT: VIT 08s0007g04570, VIT 03s0017g02000 and VIT 08s0007g04570), which catalyzes the transfer of glucose to the 3-position of anthocyanidins (Kovinich et al., 2010) and thereby increases their hydrophilicity and stability (Zheng et al., 2013), were also down-regulated. The transcript of genes encoding O-methyltransferase (OMT) (VIT 04s0008g02760 two and VIT 11s0016g02610) were also repressed by elevated temperature. This result agrees with recent work reporting the repression of several genes related to the flavonoids pathway in grape berries subjected to elevated temperature (Carbonell-Bejerano, Santa María et al. 2013, Rienth, Torregrosa et al. 2016, Lecourieux, Kappel et al. 2017). Anthocyanins content can also be changed through catabolism depending on many other enzymes such as laccases, polyphenol oxidases, class III peroxidases, and β-glucosidases (Oren-Shamir, 2009). Four gene coding laccases (VIT 13s0067g01970, VIT 18s0122g00420, VIT 13s0067g01970 and VIT 08s0007g01910) were deregulated by elevated temperature in CS mid-ripening berries. A polyphenol oxidase (VIT 03s0038g04730) was down-regulated in all warmed samples except CS berries at BC stage. That potentially impacted the polymerization rate of various phenolic compounds.

Compared with CS berries, SB berries responded to elevated temperature at early steps of phenylpropanoid pathway. Three phenylalanine ammonia lyases (PAL: *VIT\_06s0004g02620*, *VIT\_13s0019g04460* and *VIT\_16s0039g01360*) and two Chalcone Synthases (CHS: *VIT\_14s0068g00920* and *VIT\_14s0068g00930*) were heat repressed in SB berries at MR stage. Two glycosyltransferases (GTs: *VIT\_11s0052g01630* and *VIT\_11s0052g01600*) were down regulated in SB berries. These genes contribute to the chemical diversity of flavonol (Kovinich et al., 2010).

Lignin and stilbene represent branching points in the phenylpropanoid pathway. A transcript (*VIT\_09s0070g00240*) encoding cinnamoyl-CoA reductase (*VviCCR*) which is the first

committed enzyme of the lignin branch biosynthesis pathway (Lacombe et al., 1997) was down-regulated in CS berries at MR stage. Meanwhile two transcripts (*VIT\_11s0016g02610* and *VIT\_10s0042g00840*) linked to lignin and stilbene biosynthesis was repressed in CS and SB berries at MR stage, respectively. A gene (*VIT\_03s0038g04730*) with an increased expression level at BC stage but decreased at MR-stage was found in SB berries. Interestingly, *VIT\_16s0100g00780* which is also involved in lignin and stilbene synthesis was repressed in all heated samples except CS berries at BC stage. In plant, stilbenes and lignification respond to various biotic and abiotic stresses (Jeandet et al., 2010; Yun et al., 2013). Several genes related with stilbenes and lignin were down-regulated in grape berries (Rienth et al., 2014b; Lecourieux et al., 2017). The expression alterations of genes involved in stilbenes and lignins biosynthesis may change berry texture and tolerance to the environment.

Volatile thiols contributing to wine, are only present in grape and musts as their non-volatile S-Cysteinylated and S-glutathionylated thiol precursors (Peña-Gallego et al., 2012). Two enzymes:  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase (*VviGGT*) and glutathione-S-transferase (*VviGST*), were proposed to involve in the biosynthetic pathway from glutathione to precursors of thiols (Kobayashi et al., 2010). In present study, three GSTs transcripts were altered by heat treatment. *VIT\_08s0007g01420* was repressed at MR stage both in CS and SB berries. *VIT\_15s0024g01650* was only down-regulated in CS berries in the same stage. Conversely, *VIT\_14s0060g02170* was induced in SB berries at BC stage. This indicates that precursors of thiols content probably decreased by treatment. This hypothesis is expounded in more detail in the part of content thiols non-volatile precursors and relative genes expression.

# III.3.3.5 Hormone homeostasis and signaling

Abscisic acid (ABA) plays an important role in plant tolerance to extreme environmental conditions and regulate many important physiological and developmental processes (Salisbury and Marinos, 1985; Zeevaart and Creelman, 1988). Increase in ABA content induced by heat treatment in grapevine leaves resulted in improve thermotolerance (Abass and Rajashekar, 1993; Wang et al., 2005). *VIT\_18s0041g01500* encoding ABA 8'-hydroxylase, a key step of ABA inactivation, was repressed in warmed CS berries at MR stage. The suppression of ABA inactivation enzyme can also increase or maintain ABA content and activity.

Auxin and cytokinin are the two most important hormones regulating cell division (Skoog and

Miller, 1957). Cytokinin can also influence many aspects of plant growth and development (Mok and Mok, 2001). In grape berries, it is considered to be related with fruit set and growth promotion (Zhang et al., 2003). Heat treatment may involve inhibition of cytokinin biosynthesis in roots of Creeping Bentgrass (Liu et al., 2002) and decreased cytokinin in roots of bean and maize seedlings (Hare et al., 1997). A cytokinin mediated signaling gene (VIT 09s0002g03520) and a histidine kinase (VIT 19s0014g04420), which belongs to the cytokinin receptor family, were down-regulated in CS berries at MR stage. In the present study, the biosynthesis of cytokinin was not influenced through alteration of transcript levels, but the activity of these hormones may be inhibited by down-regulation of these two genes involved in the signaling pathway. Beside cell division, auxin also plays a major role in controlling cell elongation and function at the intersection between environmental and developmental cues (Davies, 2010). In grape berries, auxin is related with fruit set and growth promotion (Zhang et al., 2003). A recent article indicated that auxin content always stayed at a stable level during berry development (Symons et al., 2006). A YUCCA gene (VIT 07s0104g01260), which is important for auxin biosynthesis (Böttcher et al., 2013), was down-regulated in SB berries at MR stage. Interestingly, a gene encoding auxin polar transport (VIT 01s0127g00870) was up-regulated in the same samples. This up-regulated auxin transport gene was perhaps to counterbalance the decrease in auxin biosynthesis.

Gibberellins (GAs) play an important role in induction of flowering, pollen development and fruit growth (Davies, 2010). They are widely used in the "seedless" table grape industry, because GAs can promote berry enlargement but inhibit seeds development (Acheampong et al., 2015). Little is known about the role of GAs in grape berry development. In present work, four GA-beta-dioxygenases were down-regulated by higher temperature. Lower expression level of *VIT\_06s0004g06790* and *VIT\_09s0002g05280* were only found in CS berries at MR stage, and *VIT\_09s0002g05320* was observed just in SB berries at BC stage. *VIT\_19s0177g00030* and *VIT\_10s0116g00410* were commonly down-regulated gene in all warmed berries except CS berries at BC stage.

### III.3.4 Anthocyanins and tannins content in CS berries

Flavonoids occur widely in plant and are a biologically major and chemically diverse group of plant secondary metabolites (Treutter, 2006). In grapes, anthocyanins and tannins are two well studied flavonoids because their importance for berry and wine quality as well as their properties for human health.

Anthocyanins are the major pigmented compounds in grapes which are in berry skin of most red cultivars. A total of 13 anthocyanins were identified in CS berry skin at harvest. All anthocyanins identified were monoglucosides, including malvidin, peonidin, petunidin, delphinidin and cyanidin derivatives, with -3-O-glucoside as the main derivative and 8 acylated derivatives. Only malvidin, peonidin and petunidin were detected coumaroyl derivatives. Total anthocyanins content in warmed berries skin (16.89mg/g DW) than in control berries (23.07mg/g DW) (table 4). This observation coincides with previous studies which showed a negative effect of high temperature on anthocyanins concentration (Mori et al., 2007b; Lecourieux et al., 2017; Pastore et al., 2017). According to the number of substituents on the B-ring of the anthocyanin, cyanidin and peonidin and their derivatives have two hydroxylated groups and are called 3'-substituted anthocyanins. Delphinidin, petunidin and malvidin and their derivatives have three hydroxylated groups and are called 3',5'-substituted anthocyanins. Elevated temperature not only decreased total anthocyanins content but also reduced the proportion of 3',5'-substituted anthocyanins (table 4). For both thermal conditions, malvidin-3-O-glucoside was the most abundant individual anthocyanins and showed a statistically lower content in treated berry skins. Meanwhile, delphinidin and cyanidin-3-O-glucoside and petunidin-3-(6'- $\beta$ -coumaroyl) glucoside contents were also decreased by elevated temperature (figure 4). Under around 4°C higher temperature treatment, Sangiovese berry skin also showed a lower concentration of malvidin-3-Oglucoside (Pastore et al., 2017). Conversely, Lecourieux et al. (2017) and Mori et al. (2007) found that only malvidin derivatives were not significantly affected by temperature in CS berry skin. In these two studies, a 10°C higher temperature was applied to bunch zones for two weeks and whole plants from one week before veraison to harvest respectively. The different responses of individual anthocyanin may be caused by the different magnitude of increased temperature.

The significantly lower concentration of cyanidin-3-O-glucoside, delphinidin-3-O-glucoside and malvidin-3-O-glucoside coincide with the repression of three anthocyanidin UDPglycosyltransferase genes and two O-methyltransferase genes were also repressed expression at MR stage. This can explain in part that elevated temperature decreases anthocyanins content through down-regulation of related structural genes. Furthermore, the decrease in anthocyanins concentration at high temperature may be due to the down- regulation of genes encoding for transporters mediating the transport of anthocyanins into the vacuole (Azuma et al., 2012; Carbonell-Bejerano et al., 2013). Here, two MATE efflux protein(*VIT\_00s0225g00070* and *VIT\_10s0116g01880*) were down-regulated by elevated temperature.

Table 4: Effect of elevated temperature on total anthocyanins and ratio of 3'-substituted anthocyanins to 3', 5'-substituted anthocyanins in Cabernet Sauvignon berry skin at harvest.

	Total anthocyanins	3'-substituted anthocyanins	3',5'-substituted anthocyanins	E2111/E21 511	
		mg/g DW		гэ п/гэ ,э п	
Control	23.46±3.62 <sup>a</sup>	$6.25 \pm 1.15^{a}$	$17.21 \pm 3.06^{a}$	$0.36 \pm 0.03^{a}$	
Heated	$16.91 \pm 1.77^{b}$	5.20±0.26 <sup>a</sup>	$11.71 \pm 1.61^{b}$	$0.45 {\pm} 0.04^{b}$	

Different letters within the same parameter indicate statistically significant differences between treatment and control as determined by Student's t test (p value < 0.05). DW, dry weight





Error bars indicate STDEVA. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p < 0.005)

Tannins are a group of flavan-3-ols including monomers, oligomers and polymers, and called also condensed tannins or proanthocyanidins (Chira et al., 2011). Because of their astringency and bitterness, they have a great importance for grape and red wine quality. Here, two procyanidins (C: (+)-Catechin and EC: (-)-epicatechin) and flavan-3-ol dimers (B1:(-)-

epicatechin-(4β-8)-(+)-catechin; B2: (-)-epicatechin-(4β-8)-(-)-epicatechin; B3: (+)-catechin-(4a-8)-(+)-catechin and B4: (+)-catechin-(4a-8)-(-)-epicatechin) were identified and quantified at harvest in both seeds and skin of CS berries. As seen in table 5, neither seeds nor skin tannins content were affected by heat treatment. The same result was also found in Sangiovese and Muscat Hamburg berry skin as well as in Merlot seeds (Cohen et al., 2008; Carbonell-Bejerano et al., 2013; Pastore et al., 2017). Seeds had a much higher tannins concentration than skin, which was agreement with previous studies (Cohen et al., 2008; Chira et al., 2011). Meanwhile, tannins concentration trend in whole CS berries were analysed (figure 5). B4 was only detected at BC and MV stage and showed a decreasing trend. The accumulation of other tannins peaked at MV stage and then decreased toward harvest, except B3 in control berries which decreased continuously until harvest. These observations are in line with previous studies suggesting that the maximal level of PAs appeared around veraison both in seeds and in skin (Kennedy et al., 2000; Downey et al., 2003). Although the final tannin concentration was not changed by elevated temperature, the concentrations at MV stage were significantly increased in heating berries. Therefore, elevated temperature resulted in a larger decrease (66%) in tannin concentration from MV to maturity than that under control condition (50%). Cohen et al. (2008) also observed that tannins level at veraison was positively related to elevated temperature, but was not altered at harvest.

In contrast to the reduction of final anthocyanins concentration, tannins contents were not influenced by elevated temperature. Consistently, there were no differentially expressed genes directly related to tannins biosynthesis. Moreover, the change of tannins concentration occurred around veraison, but no RNA-seq analysis was done for this stage. It should be an interesting point for further research. It generally considered that decreased tannins concentrations are caused by a decrease in tannin extractability rather than degradation or turnover (De Freitas and Glories, 1999; Kennedy et al., 2001; Downey et al., 2003). Tannin extraction is limited by tannin binding to cell walls. Renard et al. (2001) observed that tannin had greater affinity for pectic polysaccharides than xyloglucan and the least affinity for cellulose. Therefore, a cell wall with a higher proportion of pectic polysaccharides than neutral polysaccharides (xyloglucan and cellulose) may have a greater tannin-binding capacity and result in low tannin extractability. In warmed berries, a gene (*VIT\_05s0062g01160*) encoding for pectic polysaccharides in cell wall and, in turn, lead to a lower tannin extractability. This lower tannin extractability at maturity stage in heated berry

may counteract the higher tannins observed at MV stage and result in a higher decrease from MV to maturity. An alternative possibility for the higher decrease in tannin monomer and dimer concentrations from MV to maturity might be that more tannin monomers and dimers have been transformed into high tannin polymers in heated berries. These hypotheses deserve further investigation by analysing tannin extractability, tannin polymers, tannin polymerization degree, in combine with analysing key genes involved in tannin biosynthesis.

Table 5: Effect of elevated temperature on monomers and oligomers tannins in CabernetSauvignon berry seeds and skin at harvest.

	B1	B3	С	B2	B4	EC		
CS seeds	mg/g FW							
Control	$0.14{\pm}0.04^{a}$	$0.56 \pm 0.11^{a}$	$2.10{\pm}0.40^{a}$	$0.28{\pm}0.02^{a}$	$0.14{\pm}0.05^{a}$	$1.43{\pm}0.14^{a}$		
Heated	$0.11 \pm 0.01^{a}$	$0.56{\pm}0.03^{a}$	$2.00{\pm}0.26^{a}$	$0.28{\pm}0.03^{a}$	$0.13 \pm 0.02^{a}$	$1.35{\pm}0.08^{a}$		
CS skin								
Control	n.d.	0.03 <sup>a</sup>	$0.09 \pm 0.01^{a}$	$0.02^{a}$	$0.02^{a}$	$0.04^{a}$		
Heated	n.d.	0.03 <sup>a</sup>	$0.08 \pm 0.03^{a}$	$0.02^{a}$	$0.02^{a}$	0.04 <sup>a</sup>		

Different letters within the same parameter indicate statistically significant differences between treatment and control as determined by Student's t test (p value < 0.05). FW, fresh weight; n.d., not detected.



Figure 5: Concentration trend of monomers and oligomers tannins (mg/g FW) in control (blue) and heated (red) Cabernet Sauvignon berries.

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.005). BC, bunch closure stage; MV, miveraison stage; MR, mid-ripening stage; R, ripening stage; C, (+)-Catechin ; EC, (-)-epicatechin; B1, (-)-epicatechin-(4 $\beta$ -8)-(+)-catechin; B2, (-)-epicatechin-(4 $\beta$ -8)-(-)-epicatechin; B3, (+)-catechin-(4a-8)-(-)-epicatechin; B4, (+)-catechin-(4a-8)-(-)-epicatechin

### III.3.5 3SH precursors content and gene expressions in their pathway in berries

Volatile thiols, a group of sulfur containing alcohols, include a variety of aromas. Depending on their concentration and proportions, they contribute positively or negatively to wine flavor (Swiegers et al., 2007). Among them, 3-sulfanylhexan-1-ol (3SH) is a major aromatic compound in CS and SB wine which has a smell of grapefruit or passion fruit (Darriet et al., 2012). The 3SH does not exist in berries and musts, but is present as its odorless precursor form (Darriet et al., 1995). The precursors of 3SH in grape juice included S-3-(hexan-1-al)glutathione (Glut-3SH-Al), S-3-(hexan-1-ol)-glutathione (Glut-3SH) and S-3-(hexan-1-ol)-Lcysteine (Cys-3SH) (Tominaga et al., 1998b; Peyrot des Gachons et al., 2002; Thibon et al., 2016). Until now, the biosynthesis pathways of these precursors are still far away being well understood. Based on several studies, the hypothetic pathway is illustrated in Figure 6 (Peyrot des Gachons et al., 2002; Kobayashi et al., 2010; Thibon et al., 2011; Kobayashi et al., 2012; Thibon et al., 2016). The first step of biosynthesis of 3SH precursors is the formation of Glut-3SH-Al through the conjugation of glutathione on (E)-hex-2-enal by glutathione-S-transferase (GST). Next, Glut-3SH is synthesized by reduction of Glut-3SH-Al. Cys-3SH derives from Glut-3SH by removing of the glycine. This reaction needs two enzymes: a yglutamyltranspeptidase (VviGGT) and a carboxypeptidase (Peyrot des Gachons et al., 2002; Thibon et al., 2011; Thibon et al., 2016). Finally, 3SH is synthesized during the alcoholic fermentation by Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Pinu et al., 2012) (figure 6). In the present work, the accumulation of glutathione and three 3SH precursors in CS and SB grape berries during ripening was investigated. Moreover, relative genes expression profiling was evaluated to investigate their response to elevated temperature and their implication in 3SH synthesis.





The production of 3-sulfanylhexan-*1*-ol (3SH) occurred during the alcoholic fermentation by the yeast.

To evaluate the effect of elevated temperature on Glut-3SH-Al, Glut-3SH and Cys-3SH in berries, their concentrations in control and warmed berries were monitored in four developmental stages (Figure 7). Glut-3SH and Cys-3SH concentrations were around limitation of quantification, and Glut-3SH was undetectable in CS berries. Glut-3SH-Al content was about 1000-fold higher than Cys-3SH content in all samples. Both compounds showed a similar accumulation profile with an important increase from MV to MR stage. Cys-3SH content was always higher in control berries even though it decreased during ripening stage in control berries, from 0.4 to 0.3  $\mu$ g/kg FW. In contrast, Glut-3SH-Al content only showed a significant higher level at harvest in control berries (847.2 *versus* 441.3  $\mu$ g/kg FW)

because of a dramatical decrease in heated berries from MR to R stage. In SB berries, all three precursors of 3SH were detected. Similar profiles were observed between control and treated berries for Glut-3SH-Al and Cys-3SH. Their concentrations remained low before veraison then increased rapidly from veraison onward. Significantly higher concentrations were always found in control berries than in heated berries. At harvest, Glut-3SH-Al content was 3.5-fold higher in control berries, with 3727.4  $\mu$ g/kg FW *versus* 1062.5  $\mu$ g /kg FW. Cys-3SH content was 2.5-fold higher in control berries, with 1.1  $\mu$ g/kg FW *versus* 0.4  $\mu$ g/kg FW. No significant difference of Glut-3SH between control and treated berries was found at any stage. The concentration increased from 0.4  $\mu$ g/kg FW to 0.9  $\mu$ g/kg FW and then decreased to around 0.7  $\mu$ g/kg FW at harvest.

The accumulation profiles of 3SH precursors depended on varieties but the general trends increased during development except Glut-3SH accumulation in SB berries. Several studies also found that S-cysteinylated and/or S-glutathionylated thiol precursors increased during berry development (Cerreti et al., 2015; Helwi et al., 2016). Conversely, Capone et al. (2012) mentioned that the concentration of thiol precursors may have some fluctuation and even decreased during ripening. 3SH precursors in CS berries and Glut-3SH in SB berries decreased during certain stages, in agreement with Capone's observation (2012). Capone et al. (2011) also detected but not quantified Glut-3-MH-Al in SB juices. It was considered as an intermediate in the formation of Glut-3SH and its concentration was estimated to be much higher than Glut-3SH based on an assumption of the same ionization efficiency. An extremely higher concentration of Glut-3SH-Al than other concentrations in this study agrees with the finding of Capone et al. (2011). In the present study, elevated temperature decreased 3SH precursors, and SB berries showed more significant differences between control and treated than CS berries. Kobayashi et al. (2010) observed that environmental stress, including cold shock, heat shock, UV-C irradiation, and biological stimulation, enhanced Glut-3SH and Cys-3SH in grape berries. This finding is in contradiction with the present study. The main differences between Kobayashi's study and the present one are the magnitude and duration of temperature treatment. Moreover, Glut-3SH-Al was identified as a new potential precursor of 3SH by Thibon and al. (2016), so that previous studies only quantified Glut-3SH and Cys-3SH contents in berry and must as precursors of 3SH (Cerreti et al., 2015; Helwi et al., 2016). Interestingly, Subileau et al. (2008) demonstrated that only 3-7% of total 3SH in wine was released by Cys-3SH lysis and considered that Cys-3SH is not the major 3SH precursor. Moreover, Winter et al. (2011) found that 3SH formation from Glut-3SH was significantly

less efficient than that of Cys-3MH. In view of an extremely higher concentration of Glut-3SH-Al than other precursors in berries, the hypothesis that Glut-3SH-Al, is a main precursor of 3SH can be made, but requires further investigations.



Figure 7: Concentration trend of Glut-3SH-Al, Cys-3SH and Glut-3SH (µg/kg FW) in control (blue) and heated (red) Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc berries in 2015.

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05). n.d.: no detected.

### Responses of the 3SH pathway to elevated temperature

*OPT1*, a gene encoding an oligopeptide transporter, was shown to be a high affinity glutathione transporter in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Bourbouloux et al., 2000) and was identified in Helwi et al (2016) as potential candidate gene implicated in the transport of glutathione (GSH) or the GSH-S-conjugates, that are necessary for the genesis of 3SH precursors.. *VviGST3* and *VviGST4*, members of glutathione-s-transferase family, were described as two essential genes for the addition of glutathione to the trans-2-hexanal, producing Glut-3SH. Meanwhile, *VviGGT* was also considered to be involved in the conversion of Glut-3SH to Cys-3SH (Kobayashi et al., 2010). The expression profile of these genes was determined in two varieties at different developmental stages (Figure 8). Their expression was evaluated relative to the expression of two endogenous reference genes used as internal standards *VviEF1* and *VviUBIQUITIN*.

The expression pattern of *VviOPT1* differed between the two varieties. The expression level was always higher in SB berries than in CS. Elevated temperature did not affect *VviOPT1* expression levels in CS berries, but resulted in a longer increasing period in SB berries (figure 8). The expression level of *VviOPT1* increased till veraison in control berries, but it increased up to the peak at MR stage. Elevated temperature only decreased the relative transcript abundance of *VviOPT1* at BC and MV stage in SB berries.



Figure 8: Changes in relative transcript levels of gene of *VviOPT1, VviGST3, VviGST4* and *VviGGT* in CS (left) and SB (right) berry development in 2015.

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05).

The transcript abundances of VviGST3 and VviGST4 were also studied during berry development (figure 8). In CS berries, the transcript abundance of both GST genes was downregulated by elevated temperature only at BC stage. VviGST3 transcripts amounts decreased during berry ripening, but VviGST4 transcripts increased till MV and MR stage in control and warmed berries respectively, then it decreased to harvest. In SB berries, elevated temperature did not influence the transcript abundance of VviGST3 during berry development, but significantly regressed VviGST4 expression. Transcript amounts of VviGST4 in control berries were almost 10-fold higher compared to warmed berries. Over development, VviGST3 and VviGST4 increased from BC to MV stage and decreased from veraison onwards. VviGGT, encoding a gamma glutamyl-transpeptidase, regulates the synthesis of S-(3-hexan-l-ol)-Lcysteinylglycine, an intermediate between Glut-3SH and Cys-3SH. The expression profile of this gene differed between the two varieties studied (figure 11). In CS berries, the transcript level increased till to harvest and was not affected by temperature. In SB berries, the expression pattern was similar with VviOPT1, peaking at MV and MR stage in control and treated berries respectively. Elevated temperature only statistically repressed VviGGT expression at BC and MV stage.

Combined with RNA-seq results, three genes coding for glutathione transferase activity: *VIT\_08s0007g01420, VIT\_15s0024g01650* and *VIT\_14s0060g02170*, was altered by temperature. Among them, *VIT\_08s0007g01420 (VviGSTU18)* was down-regulated in all warmed samples, but only showed a significantly lower expression level with a log2 (heated/control) value around -2 at MR stage in both varieties. Down-regulated *VviGSTU18* by temperature was corresponded with negative influence on 3SH precursors. *VviGSTU18* could be a potential candidate gene encoding enzyme involved in the biosynthesis pathway of 3SH precursors. In addition, Helwi et al. (2016) mentioned that *VIT\_19s0015g00860* sequence had a high (69%) similarity with *ATGSTU25* in *Arabidopsis* which can catalyse the addition of glutathione to trans-2-hexenal. In our study, no different expression was found about this gene.

### **III.4 Conclusion**

This work provides the first molecular insights into the understanding of the effect of elevated temperature in actual vineyard conditions for Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc, and brings data describing the response of certain important metabolites to temperature. Increasing ambient mean temperature by 0.5-1.6 °C from fruit setting to harvest, similar with

projected global warming, remodelled the berry transcriptome, decreased anthocyanins content in Cabernet Sauvignon berry skin and precursors of 3-mercaptohexanol in both varieties, but did not affect tannin levels. Based on the enrichment of Gene Ontology, temperature mainly regulated four GO categories: microtubule, cell wall, extracellular region and transcription factor activity. 22 downregulated transcripts encoding biosynthetic enzymes of phenylpropanoid and flavonoid pathways were found based on RNA-seq data, which could explain the decreased concentration of anthocyanins in Cabernet Sauvignon berry. VviGST4 expression profile correlated tightly with the accumulation precursors of 3-mercaptohexanol. Meanwhile, *VIT\_08s0007g01420 (VviGSTU8)* was also selected as a potential candidate gene involved the biosynthesis of precursors of 3-mercaptohexanol. Finally, the data provide a rich transcriptomic and metabolomic resource for further studies about plant responses to global warming.
## Chapter IV: Effect of moderately elevated temperature on 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine in berries of Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc

## ABSTRACT

Methoxypyrazines (MPs) are a group of nitrogen heterocycle compounds, which are responsible for the very characteristic "green, herbaceous, or vegetative" aromas. 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine (IBMP) is the major MPs component in grape berries and wine, and its concentration is reported to be highly affected by temperature. The present study investigated the effects of elevated temperature on berry IBMP content under actual vineyard conditions. A passive open-top heating system was used to increase temperature from fruit setting to over-maturity by 0.5-1.6°C at bunch zone. However, final IBMP concentrations in berries were not affected by elevated temperature in two vintages (2015 and 2016) and two varieties (Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc). The elevated temperature only significantly reduced IBMP content and expression level of VviOMT3 in Cabernet Sauvignon berries at bunch closure stage in both vintages. On the other hand, the elevated temperature reduced the expression level of VviOMT3 at bunch closure stage without affecting IBMP concentration. This limited and genotype-dependent effect of elevated temperature suggest that a moderate temperature elevation (0.5-1.6 °C) may not be sufficient to modify IBMP at maturity, or other environmental factors (e.g. light) play dominant role in regulating IBMP than temperature. In addition, IBMP concentration in mature berry was higher in 2015 than in 2016 in both varieties, while the mean temperature and thermal degree day were similar between both vintages. More detailed analysis showed that 2015 was warmer at pre-veraison but cooler at post-veraison than 2016, which may lead to a lower degradation in 2015 and therefore a higher IBMP content. Therefore, it is most likely that a separate analysis of the effect of preand post-veraison temperature conditions on IBMP levels may be more suitable for predicting IBMP concentration in mature berries.

**KEYWORDS**: 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine, aroma, IBMP, temperature, global warming, *Vitis vinifera, VviOMT* 

## **IV.1 Introduction**

The characteristics and quality of a wine are an overall impression which composes of appearance (colour, transparency etc.), smell (olfactory) and taste (gustatory). Particularly, olfaction plays a "dominant" role in the tasting of food (Spence, 2015). In wine, olfactory quality is influenced by a complex mixture of volatile aroma compounds which are determined by many variables, including grape variety, environmental conditions, viticultural and oenological practices (Lacey et al., 1991; Swiegers and Pretorius, 2005; Pickering et al., 2006). Varietal aromas explain the unique flavours of wines made with different types of grapes. They are considered as key factors to recognition of a typicity or sensory identity of wine, such as methoxypyrazines, monoterpenes and thiols.

Methoxypyrazines (MPs) are a group of nitrogen heterocycle compounds, widely found in plant kingdom including grapevine (Bayonove et al., 1975; Murray and Whitfield, 1975). They are responsible for the very characteristic "green, herbaceous, or vegetative" aromas of Sauvignon Blanc, Cabernet Sauvignon and some other Bordeaux variety wines (Lacey et al., 1991; Noble et al., 1995; Ryona et al., 2008). Five MPs were identified in grape berries and wines. Based on previous studies (Allen and Lacey, 1998; Godelmann et al., 2008; Darriet et al., 2012) (Table 1), three of them are highly odorous with very low odour thresholds in water: 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine (IBMP), 2-methoxy-3-isopropylpyrazine (IPMP) and 2methoxy-3-sec-butylpyrazine (SBMP). IBMP is the major MPs component in grape berries, juice and wine. The olfactory perception threshold of IBMP in water is very low, below to 1ng/L. The recognition threshold in the wine, in range of 2-6 ng/L, is quite different from those determined in water and is variable due to the different composition from one wine to another (Roujou de Boubée et al., 2000; Pickering et al., 2007). An excessive level of IBMP concentration ( $\geq$ 15 ng/L) in wine has a negative effect as an obvious herbaceous off-flavours (Roujou de Boubée et al., 2000), but a concentration near its detection threshold can contribute to pleasant varietal aromas in Sauvignon Blanc wines (Allen et al., 1991). Therefore, controlling IBMP concentration at a suitable level is very important to wine quality. Based on previous studies, IBMP concentration in wine is highly correlated with its concentration in berry at harvest. It is easily extracted during maceration and difficult to reduce by oenological practice (de Boubée et al., 2002; Darriet et al., 2012).

Name	Abbreviations	Structure	Detection threshold (ng/L)	Levels in wine (ng/L)	Aroma descriptors
2-methoxy-3-	IBMP	R: CH <sub>2</sub> (CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	1	2-60	Bell pepper / Herbaceous/Pea pod
isobutylpyrazine					
2-methoxy-3-	IPMP	R: CH (CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	2	< 10	Bell pepper/Asparagus/rotten vegetable
isopropylpyrazine					
2-methoxy-3-sec-	SBMP	R: CH	1	< 10	Bell pepper/Galbanum oil/earthy
butylpyrazine		(CH <sub>3</sub> )CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>3</sub>			
2-methoxy-3-	EMP	R: CH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>3</sub>	425	<40	Earthy/Potato-like
ethylpyrazine					
2-methoxy-3-	MFMP	R. CH	4000	<1	
methylpyrazine	IVILIVII	it. eng	1000	1	

Table 1: 2-methoxy-3-alkylpyrazines identified in grapes and wines

The biosynthesis pathway of MPs has not yet been well determined, in not only grapes, but in any plant species (Dunlevy et al., 2010). MPs formation has been hypothesised to begin with an amino acid (Glycine, leucine, isoleucine, valine) (Figure 1). After transforming into an amide and reacting with a 1,2-dicarbonyl compound, 3-alkyl-2-hydroxypyrazine (HP) is formed. The last reaction is enzymatic methylation from HP to methoxypyrazine (MP) by an *O*-methyltransferase enzyme (OMT) (Dunlevy et al., 2010; Darriet et al., 2012; Dunlevy et al., 2013). In recent studies, four OMTs (*VviOMT1*, *VviOMT2*, *VviOMT3* and *VviOMT4*) which are able to methylate HP to MP have been identified (Dunlevy et al., 2010; Dunlevy et al., 2013; Guillaumie et al., 2013). *VviOMT1* and *VviOMT2* showed a higher catalytic activity against flavanol quercetin, while *VviOMT3* and *VviOMT4* showed a high specificity and efficiency for methylated reaction during MPs formation (Dunlevy et al., 2013; Guillaumie et al., 2013).



**Figure 1: Hypothetical biosynthesis pathway of IBHP and IBMP from valine respectively** (Helwi et al., 2015).

It has been found that MPs accumulate in grape berries before veraison and degrade thereafter (Darriet et al., 2012). Their concentrations are affected by genotype and an interactive ecosystem (including climate, soil and human factors) as well as the interaction between genotype and the ecosystem (Allen and Lacey, 1993; Ryona et al., 2008; Mendez-Costabel et 113

al., 2014; Helwi et al., 2015). In general, high temperature has been reported to reduce IBMP level (Lacey et al., 1991; Allen and Lacey, 1998; Marais et al., 1999; Falcão et al., 2007). However, these results were often obtained by comparing wine-growing regions or vintages that have relatively different climate conditions such as geographic variation between regions and precipitation between vintages, making the temperature effect confounded with effects of other environmental factors. According to a recent report (Power et al., 2017), global annual average temperature has increased by more than 1.2°C since 1900 (through 2012) and will continue to warm up. In France, mean temperature is projected to rise by 0.6 to 1.3 °C by the mid-21st century (2021-2050) (Ouzeau et al., 2014). Therefore, it is necessary to understand whether the projected global warming has a direct effect on MPs synthesis and degradation.

The present paper, in which the heating effect manipulated in realistic vineyard using an open-top heating system with minimizing influence on other environmental factors, has investigated the effect of a 0.6-1.5°C increase in mean temperature on IBMP concentration during berry development in the two representative red and white varieties of Bordeaux region, Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc. Meanwhile, as some genes involved in the biosynthesis of IBMP are known, their expression levels were also studied.

## **IV.2 Materials and methods**

#### IV.2.1 Site and vines

Experiments were conducted in 2015 and 2016 in Bordeaux vineyard (44° 46' 46' N, 00°34' 01'' W) with the varieties *V. vinifera cv.* Sauvignon Blanc (SB) and Cabernet Sauvignon (CS). They were planted in an experimental vineyard "VitAdapt" growing in level ground with no slope or geospatial variations. The field-grown grapevines were 8 years old, spur pruned, with a spacing of 1.6m between rows and 1m between plants. Vineyard management followed the local standards.

## **IV.2.2 Heating system**

The passive open-top heating system was used to elevate temperature from fruit setting to over-maturity (14 days after harvest). Full details of the heating system, its performance and limitations are in chapter II.

One hundred fresh berries were randomly sampled from each replicate at four different harvest stages: bunch closure (BC), mid-veraison (MV), mid-ripening (MR) and ripening (R). All samples were ground into powder in liquid nitrogen using a ball grinder MM200 (Retsch, Haan, Germany), and stored at -80°C for later analysis.

## **IV.2.3 Extraction and analysis of IBMP**

IBMP was quantified in whole grape berries by a stable isotope dilution assay using headspace solid phase micro-extraction coupled to a gas chromatograph and a mass spectrometer (SIDA-SPME-GC-MS) adapted from Guillaumie et al. (2013). Samples preparation involved weighing 1 g of ground frozen berries dissolved in 6 mL of deionized water into 20 mL SPME vials along with 4 g of sodium chloride (NaCl). An internal standard,  $[^{2}H_{3}]$ -IBMP, was also added to yield a final concentration of 100 ng L<sup>-1</sup>.

The IBMP extraction and assay method was adapted from Guillaumie et al (2013). Samples were submitted to agitation (500 rpm for 5 s, stop for 2 s) for 5 min at 50 °C and then to the extraction with the SPME fiber for 40min at 50 °C. A three-phase divinylbenzene/ carboxen/ polydimethylsiloxane fibre (DVB/CAR/PDMS 50/30 µm thickness, 24 gauge, Supelco Bellefonte, PA, USA) was inserted, and the vial was agitated at 500 rpm for 40 min at 50 °C. SPME injection was then implemented in splitless mode for 10 min with a desorption temperature of 240 °C. Automated GC-MS analysis was carried out on a 6890 N gas chromatograph (Agilent Technologies) equipped with a Combi PAL autosampler (CTC Analytics). The GC was coupled to an HP 5973N mass selective detector (Agilent Technologies) functioning in electron impact mode at 70 eV. The analyses were performed on a Carbowax 20 M capillary column (BP20, 50 m, 0.25 mm internal diameter, 0.2µm film thickness, Scientific Glass Engineering). Helium N60 (Air Liquide) was used as a carrier gas at a flow rate of 0.9 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. The temperature program was as follows: initial hold for 5 min at 45°C, followed by a 3°C min<sup>-1</sup> ramp to 140°C and then a ramp at 30°C min<sup>-1</sup> to 240°C, and a 10 min hold. The injector port was at 240°C. During the elution of the methoxypyrazine, the GC-MS was switched to single-ion monitoring mode and tuned to measure m/z values of 127, 94, and 154 for <sub>2</sub>H<sup>3</sup>-IBMP and 124, 94, and 151 for IBMP. Data processing was carried out by MSD Chemstation software (5973n Data Analysis, Agilent Technologies). Results were reported on a per weight basis of nanograms per kilogram of fresh weight for berries.

## IV.2.4 RNA extraction and gene expression analysis

Total RNA from 1 g powder of each sample was isolated according to the previous described method (Reid et al., 2006). RNA isolation was followed by DNase I treatment (Turbo DNAfree™ kit, Ambion, Austin, TX, USA). Afterward, total RNA was quantified using NanoDrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE), and the RNA quality was evaluated on 1% agarose gels. First-strand cDNA was synthesized from purified RNA using Superscript III enzyme (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA obtained was diluted (target concentration: 0.01µg/µl) in distilled water for later analysis. Quantitative real-time PCR expression analysis was carried out using the CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection system (Bio-Rad). PCR reaction mix and specific oligonucleotide primer pairs were those from Guillaumie et al (2013). PCR conditions were 3 min at 95°C, 40 cycles of 10 s at 95°C, and 15s at 60°C. The amplification efficiencies were determined by serial dilution. Melting curves to control the annealing specificity of oligonucleotides were recorded after each run. All experiments were performed with three biological replicates and two technical replicates. Normalized expression of each gene was calculated using Bio-Rad CFX Manager software. Gene transcripts were quantified upon normalization to VviEF1 and VviUBIQUITIN as internal standards by comparing the cycle threshold of the target gene with those of standard genes.

## **IV.2.5 Statistical analysis**

Data were analysed with multivariate analysis methods using the R statistics Environment R CORE TEAM (TEAM, 2010). The Student's t-test was used to test the significance of differences between berries under control and elevated temperature at P<0.05 level. Dynamic profiles of IBMP and gene relative expressions were drawn using Sigmaplot 11.0 (Systat Software Inc.).

### **IV.3 Results**

## IV.3.1 Heating system performance and grape berry response

All details were shown in chapter II. Briefly, the open-top heating system achieved to increase mean bunch zone air temperature 0.5-1.6 °C. The system maintained daily temperature dynamic, slightly increased relative humidity and increased vapor pressure deficit. Soil and plant water status were not affected by this level of temperature increment. Through the two

years and two varieties, neither berry weight nor sugar content were influenced by temperature at harvest. Only significant lower concentration of malic acid and higher concentration of tartaric acid in CS berries in 2016 were found.

## IV.3.2 IBMP content in grape berries and VviOMT expressions

IBMP profiles of CS and SB berries under two moderately contrasted temperature regimes were determined during two successive years, 2015 and 2016 (Figure 2). For both varieties, IBMP accumulation profile was similar regardless of vintage and treatment. As expected, maximum values of IBMP were found at BC stage, and then IBMP content decreased dramatically till to harvest. No significant difference was observed between control and treated berries at harvest as well as at MV and MR of both varieties. Only CS berries contained a statistically lower IBMP under warming conditions at bunch closure, 20.3% less in 2015 and 16.4% in 2016. Meanwhile, the concentration of IBMP slightly increased or kept stable from BC to MV in warmed CS berries. SB berries had less concentrated IBMP at harvest compare to CS berries, 19.1 *versus* 30.3 ng/kg FW in 2015 and 14.5 *versus* 19.1 ng/kg (FW) in 2016. Comparison between two vintages, the monthly mean temperature and the average growing degree accumulation (°C) were similar (Table 2), IBMP contents in both varieties were higher in 2016 at bunch closure than in 2015. Conversely, final concentrations in CS were lower in 2016 than in 2015, SB berries had similar final concentrations in both years.



Figure 2: Seasonal variation of IBMP concentration in Cabernet Sauvignon and Sauvignon Blanc in 2015 and 2016. Insert tables are concentrations in BC and R stages and for the effect of vintage and treatment by two-way ANOVA.

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)

 Table 2: Comparison of weather conditions (average monthly temperature, accumulation of growing degree days (GDD), and monthly precipitation) between June and September in 2015 and 2016<sup>a</sup>

-	av. monthly temp (°C)		sum. GE	$DD(^{\circ}C)^{b}$	monthly prec	monthly precipitation (mm)	
	2015	2016	2015	2016	2015	2016	
June	21.3	19	345	274.3	38.8	74.5	
July	23	21.6	420.2	370.4	26	11.5	
Aug	21.8	22.6	380.7	400	109.5	10	
Sept	17.4	20.4	235.6	327.2	24.5	48	
average	20.9	20.9	345.4	343	49.7	36	

<sup>a</sup> Data provided by the INRA weather station, La Grande Ferrade-Villenave d'Ornon

<sup>b</sup> Growing degree days (GDD) were determined as GDD = [(maximum daily temperature + minimum daily temperature)/2]-10

Transcript levels of two genes from methyltransferases family, *VviOMT3* and *VviOMT4* which have a high specificity of MPs formation (Guillaumie et al. 2013), were analysed by qPCR (Figure 3 and 4). Their expression patterns followed the same trend as IBMP concentration in grape berries, which were high at BC stage, and almost undetectable from veraison to mature stages. In CS berries of the two vintages, significantly higher expression level of *VviOMT3* and relative higher expression level of *VviOMT4* were observed at BC stage in control berries. These results are consistent with those obtained for IBMP content in CS berries at the same stage. In SB berries, these two OMT genes were more expressed in control than in heated berries at BC stage, and expression of *VviOMT3* in 2015 and *VviOMT4* in 2016 differed significantly. However, the concentrations of IBMP did not differ between control and elevated temperature conditions.



Figure 3: Expression profiles of *VviOMT3* genes in CS and SB berry development in 2015 and 2016

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)



Figure 4: Expression profiles of *VviOMT4* genes in CS and SB berry development in 2015 and 2016

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of five replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)

## **IV.4 Discussion**

Methoxypyrazines, particularly the IBMP, play an important role in shaping the aromas of both juice and wines. The magnitudes of IBMP concentration quantified in our study in CS and SB are in agreement with previous studies (Allen et al., 1991; Lopez et al., 1999), which established that CS and SB are two varieties known for producing higher levels of IBMP than other varieties. Concentrations of IBMP were maximum before veraison and decreased rapidly thereafter in both varies and vintages, also in line with literatures (Scheiner et al., 2010; Helwi et al., 2015). Moreover, the IBMP concentrations at harvest were above the reported odour detection threshold, indicating its potential influence on wine aroma.

Therefore, sensorial and chemical analysis of wines made by grape berries from experimental plots would be valuable.

Temperature has been considered as one of the key factors affecting the level of MPs in grape berries. Comparisons of different growing regions or vintages showed higher IBMP concentrations in grape berries and wine under cooler growing conditions (Allen et al., 1991; Falcão et al., 2007; Mendez-Costabel, 2012; Helwi et al., 2015). In the present study, the average growing degree day (GDD) accumulation (°C day) from June to September in 2015 and 2016 was similar, with 345 °C day and 343 °C day respectively. However, IBMP concentrations in mature grapes of CS were higher in 2015 than in 2016, which is contradictory with the assumption of cooler conditions coupled with higher IBMP level. Moreover, lower IBMP concentrations at bunch closure were found in 2015 than 2016 in both varieties. This observation also contrasts to the study of Ryona et al. (2008), where a positive correlation was observed between IBMP concentrations at pre-veraison and at harvest. The contrary results observed in the present study may be explained by the monthly temperature differences between the two vintages (Table 2). In 2016, a lower average growing degree accumulation from fruit set to veraison (June and July) resulted in a hyper-accumulation of IBMP, but a higher average growing degree accumulation after veraison to harvest (August and September) accelerated IBMP degradation. Accordingly, the degradation rate in 2016 was indeed higher than in 2015, with IBMP concentrations in CS and SB berries decreased by 92.7% and 95.1% in 2016 versus 87% and 91.5% in 2015, respectively. Therefore, the well accepted conclusion that cooler growing conditions produce more IBMP is oversimplified. Our results may also provide clues to understand why temperature was not a good predictor for IBMP accumulation and degradation in a multisite partial least squares regression to model IBMP concentrations by several viticultural and environmental factors (Scheiner et al., 2010). We argue that considering the relative contributions of the effects of pre- and postveraison temperature conditions may be more reliable for predicting final IBMP concentrations in grape.

In addition to the differences between vintages, our heating system affected IBMP concentration in a genotype and developmental stage dependent manner. It decreased IBMP concentration in CS berries at BC stage in both vintages, but had no effect at mature stage in CS and no effect at all stages in SB berries. The limited effect of a moderate temperature elevation (0.5-1.6  $^{\circ}$ C) on IBMP in our study seems to be contrasted with other reports, where

negative effect of high temperature and light exposure on IBMP accumulation was concluded based on experiments of leaf removal or un-shading conditions (Marais et al., 1999; Scheiner et al., 2010; Šuklje et al., 2012). However, two confusing points may hamper the comparison between those studies and ours. First, leaf removal may significantly change the leaf area/crop weight ratio, which is one of the determining factors for berry composition and quality (Kliewer and Dokoozlian, 2005), and it also decreases the whole-vine photosynthesis (Petrie et al., 2003). The modified berry composition and vine growth rate may also affect IBMP content. Second, other environmental factors may be changed by leaf removal, not only temperature and light but also wind speed, canopy density, vapour pressure deficit etc. (English et al., 1989). In our study, no part of grapevine aerial canopy was manipulated. A 0.5-1.6 °C mean temperature increase in the bunch zone achieved by an open top heating system in which temperature can be considered as the largely predominant changed environmental factor. This magnitude and duration of warming did not change final IBMP concentrations in mature berries, regardless of varieties and vintages, although the concentrations at BC stage responded to elevated temperature in CS but not SB. These results suggest that a moderate temperature elevation (0.5-1.6 °C) may not be sufficient to modify IBMP at maturity, or other environmental factors (e.g. light) play dominant role in regulating IBMP than temperature.

To understand the different response of IBMP concentrations to warming conditions between varieties, the expression of *O*-methyltransferase genes, *VviOMT3* and *VviOMT4*, was analysed. Until now, only a single enzyme family involved in MPs biosynthesis has been identified: *VviOMT1*, *VviOMT2*, *VviOMT3* and *VviOMT4*. All of them able to methylate hydroxypyrazine intermediate. Among them, *VviOMT3* shows a higher specificity for IBMP methylation (Dunlevy et al., 2010; Dunlevy et al., 2013; Guillaumie et al., 2013; Battilana et al., 2017). In both varieties, *VviOMT3* and *VviOMT4* genes expression followed the expected pattern, as has been described in literatures. In heated berries of CS at bunch closure, *VviOMT3* expression level and IBMP accumulation were all significantly repressed, but *VviOMT4* did not differ significantly. Based on their differential expressions, *VviOMT3* showed a higher specification to IBMP biosynthesis than *VviOMT4*. This result confirms the conclusion of Guillaumie et al. (2013). Unexpectedly, these two OMT genes were down-regulated in treated SB berries, while IBMP levels were similar between control and treated berries at BC stage, suggesting that other regulators than OMTs may also play a role in

regulating IBMP, such as the alteration of precursor concentration and/or IBMP degradation by elevated temperature (Guillaumie et al. 2013).

## **IV.5** Conclusion

Understanding the effect of temperature on chemical and biological differences in grape berries can help vines growers and winemakers to manage grape and wine quality under the global warming context. In the current study, final IBMP concentrations in berries of CS were not affected by a warming condition of 0.6-1.5 °C mean temperature increase during berry development, but this magnitude of warming treatment significantly decreased IBMP content and VviOMT3 expression level at bunch closure in CS berries. In contrast, IBMP content in SB berries was not altered at any stages and in any vintages, although two OMTs genes expression level were lower under elevated temperature at bunch closure. The unchanged IBMP content with changed OMT expression may be caused by the alteration of its precursors and/or degradation rate by temperature. So far, very little is known about the MPs degradation. IBMP concentration in mature berry was higher in 2015 than in 2016 in both varies, while the mean temperature and thermal degree day were similar between both vintages. More detailed analysis showed that 2015 was warmer at pre-veraison but cooler at post-veraison than 2016, which may lead to a lower degradation in 2015 and therefore a higher IBMP. Therefore, we argue that a separate analysis of the effect of pre- and postveraison temperature conditions on IBMP levels may be more suitable for predicting IBMP concentration in mature berries. Further investigation on IBMP degradation as well as biosynthesis pathway may allow us to explain the different responses of IBMP to temperature. Moreover, longer duration of elevated temperature treatments (not only during berry development) in realistic vineyard for several years could better simulate global warming impact and give more insight plant acclimation ability.

Chapter V: Effect of moderately elevated temperature on free amino acids, carotenoids and C<sub>13</sub>-Norisoprenoids in berries of Cabernet Sauvignon in Barossa Valley

## ABSTRACT

In Australia, almost four fifths of total grape production is employed for wine production. Berry quality, a major determinant of wine quality, depends on the composition and concentration of primary and secondary metabolites, which are influenced by temperature. In the context of global warming, temperature elevation could become a threat to viticulture. A passive open-top heating system was applied in Cabernet Sauvignon vines grown with standard practice in the Barossa Valley, Australia to increase the bunch zone mean temperature by around 0.6 °C. This magnitude of temperature elevation was commensurate with the projected warming for the following forty years in Australia. The moderately elevated temperature maintained yield, total soluble solid and titratable acid, but decreased pH value at harvest. Heating treatment increased total amino acid concentrations during berry development, but no significant difference was observed in mature berries. Although some individual amino acids showed different responses to elevated temperature depending on stages, most individual amino acid concentrations were higher in heated mature berries, except Asp, Cys and Glu. Total carotenoid concentrations and two most predominant carotenoids: lutein and β-carotene, were not altered by elevated temperature. Zeaxanthin was reduced by elevated temperature and was significantly less concentrated in heated mature berries than in control. This lower concentration may limit the biosynthesis of  $\beta$ -damascenone and explain the observation that lower  $\beta$ -damascenone in post-ripen berries in the present study.

**KEYWORDS:** Amino acids, carotenoids, zeaxanthin,  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids,  $\beta$ -damascenone, fruit quality, ripening, temperature, *Vitis vinifera*.

## V.1 Introduction

Grapevine is one of the most valuable fruit species worldwide because of its multi-usage, such as fresh fruit, raisin, juice, wine and liquor. In 2016, total world area under vines was 7.6 million hectares and global grape production was 7.8 million tons, among which around 50% were used for wine production (OIV, 2017). Moreover, this percentage reached 78% in Australia (OIV, 2017).

Berry quality, a major determinant of wine quality; depends on the composition and concentration of primary and secondary metabolites, which are influenced by complex interactions between genotypes, environment and human factors (Seguin, 1986; Van Leeuwen et al., 2004; Deluc et al., 2007). Among environmental factors, temperature is important to regulate grapevine phenology, alter berry quality, and even threaten the viticulture sustainability (Bergqvist et al., 2001; Azuma et al., 2012; Fraga et al., 2016). Global climate change is a worldwide phenomenon and global annual average temperature of 2012 was more than 1.2°C higher than that of 1900 (through 2012) (IPCC, 2014a) (Power et al., 2017). Although most wine grapes (*Vitis Vinifera* L.) display large variation in terms of tolerance to excessive temperature (Palliotti and Poni, 2015), earlier harvest dates and higher potential alcohol levels at harvest associated with a significant increase in temperature were observed in the past several decades (Chuine et al., 2004; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Stoll et al., 2012). These modifications induced by elevated temperature may modify wine typicity and threaten viticulture sustainability in the future.

In general, accelerating the sugar accumulation is often associated with thermal increase, as indicated by the trend observed in the last decades (Coombe, 1986; Petrie and Sadras, 2008; Rienth et al., 2016). However, recent experiments with precise temperature regulations established that the effects of temperature on grape quality depend on the intensity of temperature elevation, stage of high temperature treatment, and grape genotypes. Two weeks treatment of 2-4°C increase in maximal temperature at different phenological stages did not increase sugar concentration in Shiraz berries (Sadras and Moran, 2012; Sadras et al., 2013; Sweetman et al., 2014). Moreover, Lecourieux et al. (2017) showed that bunch zone

high temperature imposed pre-veraison or during veraison did not change sugar concentrations. Contrast with the general consideration of negative correlation between acid concentrations and temperature increment, variety-dependent thermal response of acidity was observed (Bergqvist et al., 2001; Sadras et al., 2013). Moreover, Rienth et al. (2016) found that higher day temperature brought forward malic and tartaric acid accumulation by 5.5 days without changing their maximal accumulation rates. Meanwhile they observed that higher temperature desynchronized sugar accumulation and organic malate breakdown.

In grape, free amino acids are the major nitrogenous compounds and can serve as an important nitrogen source for yeast during winemaking (Marcy et al., 1981). Meanwhile, several amino acids are involved in the biosynthesis of many important secondary metabolites, such as phenylalanine, glutathione and leucine (Hashizume et al., 2001; Thibon et al., 2016; Guan et al., 2017). In greenhouse-grown grape, higher temperature (+8°C) applied to the bunch zone during veraison or ripening stages significantly increased 7 amino acids (Thr, Arg, The, Cys, Lys and GABA) (Lecourieux et al., 2017). In field-grown Riesling grape, leaf removal associated with higher temperature negatively affected the accumulation of amino acids (Friedel et al., 2015). However, Pieri et al (2016) found that south-exposed Merlot berries in actual vineyard conditions with higher temperature (+5°C) and solar radiation had similar amino acid concentrations, compared with north-exposed berries.

Fruit-derived flavours are important contributors to wine typicity. Most of them present in grape as odourless precursors and are released during alcohol fermentation and aging process, such as monoterpenes, thiol and  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids (Sefton et al., 1994; Pinu et al., 2012). Among them, the  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids are responsible for several kinds of aromas in wine depending on their chemical structures and  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids are widely identified in wine (Darriet et al., 2012) (Table 1). TDN (1,1,6-trimethyl-1,2-dihydronaphthalene) is considered to be responsible of petrol/kerosene-like aroma in Riesling wine (Black et al., 2012). TPB (1-(2,3,6-trimethylphenyl)buta-1,3-diene) gives aroma of geranium leaf and is more concentrated in white wine than in red wine (Cox et al., 2005).  $\beta$ -damascenone and  $\beta$ -

ionone have been identified as "floral" aromas and widely exist in red and white wines (Ferreira et al., 2000; Gomez-Miguez et al., 2007; Ristic et al., 2010; Darriet et al., 2012).

Table 1: Characteristics of important  $C_{13}$ -norisppronoids in grapes and wines.(Darriet et al., 2012)

Name	Structure	descriptors	detection threshold (ng/L)	Concentraion range in wine (ng/L)
β-damascenone	$\sum_{i=1}^{n}$	apple sauce rose	60/2 <sup>a</sup>	100-2500
β-ionone	X	violet raspberry	800/120	nd-2415
TDN		kerosene petrol	20000/3000	nd-30000
TPB		geranium leaf	24/20	nd-120

<sup>a</sup> Detection threshold in model solution and water, respectively. nd: no detected.

 $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids are thought to be formed as biodegradation products of carotenoids, which are  $C_{40}$  tetraterpenoid compounds with an important role in biochemical hormone regulation and the formation of numerous biologically active cleavage products such as aroma compounds, vitamins and phytohormones (Choudhury and Behera, 2001; Winterhalter and Rouseff, 2002). Of all the carotenoids detected in grapes,  $\beta$ -carotene and lutein are present in the highest concentration representing nearly 80% of the total carotenoids, with the xanthophylls neoxanthin, violaxanthin, zeaxanthin and flavoxanthin making up the bulk of the remainder (Mendes-Pinto, 2009). These carotenoids are usually located in chloroplasts and can be found in a wide range of fruits and vegetables such as mango and tomato (Medlicott et al., 1986; Dumas et al., 2003). The biosynthetic pathway proposed for the formation of  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids from carotenoid combines three steps (Figure 2). Initially, the bio-oxidative cleavage of the carotenoid gives rise to primary degradation products, followed by enzymatic conversion to the aroma precursor involving glycosylation (catalysed by glycosyltransferases) of those norisoprenoids with a hydroxyl group. At harvest,  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids are present in the grape as non-volatile glycosidically bound precursors. The aglycones are released from the carbohydrate moiety (mono- and disaccharide) during maturation, storage, processing or aging through the action of enzymes, acid, or heat and undergo further transformation and rearrangement to result in the final aroma-active compound (Figure 1) (Marais et al., 1992; Winterhalter and Rouseff, 2002; Mendes-Pinto, 2009; Winterhalter and Gök, 2013).





(a): 3,6-dihydroxymegastigm-4-en-9-one 3-O-glucoside.

A linear relationship between the concentration of carotenoids and  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids was observed under various environmental conditions (Bindon et al., 2007; Kwasniewski et al.,

2010). Temperature is known to affect the carotenoids concentration in many plants. For example, current-year needles of Douglas-Fir seedlings had a higher carotenoid concentration at elevated temperature (Ormrod et al., 1999), but total carotenoid content in Cavendish banana peels remained constant under different thermal conditions (Thomas and Janave, 1992). More detailly, Tran and Raymundo observed that a-carotene, acryptoxanthin, β-cryptoxanthin, zeaxanthin and violaxanthin in bitter melon was not significantly affected at high temperature while  $\beta$ -carotene and the total carotenoids increased (Tran and Raymundo, 1999). In grape berries, investigating the effect of temperature on carotenoids and C13-norisoprenoids was always associated with alteration of light conditions. In light exposure Sauvignon Blanc berries, total carotenoids concentration were significantly lower, but total norisoprenoids concentrations were higher (Young et al., 2016). Moreover, higher concentration of  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoidic glycosides was found under light exposure conditions in Syrah and Pinot noir (Bureau et al., 2000; Young et al., 2016). Conversely, Marais et al (1992a) found a higher TDN concentration but an unchangeable  $\beta$ damascenone concentration in light exposed berries of Riesling and Chenin Blanc. Besides, higher altitude combined with lower temperature resulted in a higher carotenoids concentration in berries in Dauro Valley (Oliveira et al., 2004), but Falcão et al (2007) found that no significant relation was observed between  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -ionone and  $\beta$ damascenone in wine with the vineyard's altitude in southern Brazil.

In summary, most studies mentioned above either confounded with other environmental factors or focused on abrupt thermal-shock stress; therefore, the obtained results have limitations to extrapolate the effects of elevated temperature on berry compositions in the climate change context. Whether a modest but long-term temperature elevation influences the accumulation and composition of free amino acids, carotenoids and  $C_{13}$ -norisopornoids remains an open question. In 2009, Sadras and Soar created a new and inexpensive open system to increase temperature in realistic vineyard conditions, a passive open-top heating system. This system gently increased maximum bunch temperature by 2.3-3.2°C and maintained daily temperature cycle with little effect on other climate factors, therefore providing a suitable way to investigate the effects of future temperature elevation.

Using the open-top heating system in realistic vineyard conditions, the current study aimed to explore the effect of a modest but long-term temperature elevation on free amino acids, carotenoids and hydrolytically derived  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids in Cabernet Sauvignon, one of the most cultivated varieties worldwide, including the South Australia region.

## V.2 Material and methods

## V.2.1 Site and vines

Experiments were conducted in the 2015-2016 growing season with *V. vinifera cv.* Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) at Nuriootpa Research Station in the Barossa Valley of the South Australian Research and Development Institute (34°S, 139°E). Gladstones (1992) and Dry and Coombe (2004) described the climate and viticultural practices of the region. Vines were own-rooted and planted in 1989. They are arranged with a row by vine spacing of 3.50-2.25 m; cordon trained to a single-wire trellis, have been spur-pruned and managed with irrigation since planting using a single 4 L/h dripper per vine.

## V.2.2 Heating system and measurements

The passive open-top heating system (Figure 2) was used to increase temperature from fruit setting to over-maturity (two weeks after harvest). The system, as described in Sadras and Soar (2009), consists of modular rectangular polycarbonate units (158 cm high×151 cm wide) each supported by a pair of fold-out legs (870 mm tall) hinged 125 m below the top of the panel face. The frame was made from 25 mm square tube steel (Stratco, Australia) and the unit face was made from solid Standard-Clear-Greca polycarbonate sheeting fastened to the steel frame (Suntuf, Australia). Consecutive units were fastened together during vineyard installation using plastic "zip" cable ties and each unit was independently anchored to the ground using 30 cm pegs.

The treatment was conducted with four replicates of five vines each. To avoid boundary effects, measurements and sample collections were made only in the central three vines within each treatment. Ambient temperature and relative humidity at bunch height were

recorded at 15 min intervals using TinyTag Ultra2 loggers (Hastings Dataloggers, Port Macquatie, Australia) which were shielded in Stevenson-type screens. Vapour pressure deficit was calculated as a function of temperature and relative humidity.

One hundred berries were randomly sampled from each replicate at five different harvest stages: bunch closure (BC), mid-veraison (MV), mid-ripening (MR), ripe (R) and post-ripe (PR). All samples were ground into powder in liquid nitrogen using an Ultra-Turrax T 25 (IKA Labortechnik, Staufen, Germany). The fine powders were stored at -80°C for free analysis of amino acids, carotenoids and  $\beta$ -damascenone.



Figure 2 : Passive open-top system for increasing temperature in vineyard.

## V.2.3 Total soluble solids, titratable acidity and pH measurement

Additional fifty berries were taken on each sampling date for sugar and acids analysis. Berries were weighted, and then crushed with a manual press. The free-run juice was decanted into a 50-mL centrifuge tube and spun at  $2000 \times g$  for 10 min. Total soluble solids (TSS), titratable acidity (TA) and pH were measured on the clarified juice sample using a digital refractometer (HI 96801, HANNA, Woonsocket, Rhode Island, USA) and an autotitrator (CRISON, Barcelona, Spain) for TA and pH.

## V.2.4 Extraction and analysis of free amino acids

Quantification of amino acids was performed using a derivatisation technique with 6aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate (AQC) followed liquid by chromatography (LC) tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) in ESI positive ionization mode, adapted from Bonghton et al (2011). Sample preparation involved weighing 50mg freeze dried power of whole berries dissolved in 0.5 mL de-ionized water and vortexed in 1 min. the centrifugal supernatants were diluted 1:100 with Milli-Q water to be in the appropriate concentration range. An Agilent 1290 Infinity LC system coupled with Agilent 6490 triple quadrupole LC/MS system with iFunnel technology (Forest Hill, VIC, Australia) were used for qualify and quantify for free amino acids. Calibration standard was prepared with 12 calibrant levels, ranging from 0.0005  $\mu$ M to 200  $\mu$ M. l-Valine-<sup>13</sup>C<sub>5</sub>, <sup>15</sup>N was used as internal standard (250 µM). The LC-MS conditions were as follows: 1 µL of sample was injected at a flow rate of 0.8 mL/min. Solvent A was 0.1% formic acid in Milli-Q-Water, and solvent B was 0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile. Separation was achieved using an Agilent Zorbax Eclipse Plus C18 RRHD (2.1 × 100 mm 1.8 µm, Forest Hill, VIC, Australia) column, held at 60 °C. The solvent ramp was as follows: 0 min to 0.5 min (1% B), 3.5 min (10% B), 6 min (15% B), 6.5 min (20% B), 6.6 min to 7.5 min (75% B), 7.6 min to 10 min (1% B). The MS conditions were as follows: gas temperature 315 °C, gas flow 14 L/min, nebulizer pressure 40 psi, sheath gas heater 400 °C, sheath gas flow 11 L/min, capillary voltage 3800 V, nozzle voltage 1500 V, start time 0 min, with dynamic multiple reaction monitoring scan type.

## V.2.5 Extraction and analysis of carotenoids

The extraction procedure for carotenoids was adapted from Bindon et al. (2007) and Pop et al. (2014). Total carotenoids were extracted from 10.0 g finely ground powder of whole berries two times using 10ml methanol/ethyl acetate/petroleum benzine (1:1:1, v/v/v) containing 0.2% (w/v) butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) as an anti-oxidant in the dark for 10 mins on an orbital shaker. The two upper organic phases were combined and spiked with a known amount of  $\beta$ -apo-8'-carotenal (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) as an internal standard. The extracts were dried with around 1.5 g of anhydrous magnesium sulphate, and then

evaporated using a vacuum rotary evaporator. The extract was dissolved in 1 mL of methanol/ Methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) (1:1, v/v) and filtered through a 0.45 µm PTFE-filter into amber glass vials.

Carotenoids were identified and quantified using the HPLC system Agilent 1260 Infinity. Samples were injected onto a C30 reversed phase column YMC carotenoid (250 mm x 2.1 mm i.d., 3 µm particle size). Total run time was 60 min with a flow rate of 0.3 mL·min<sup>-1</sup>, and a column temperature of 25 °C. The injection volume was 10 µL. Mobile phases consisted of methanol/ MTBE /water 93:5:2 ( $\nu/\nu/\nu$ ) for solvent A, and 8:90:2 ( $\nu/\nu/\nu$ ) for solvent B. The following elution profile was used: isocratic at 100% A for 2.5 min, from 100% to 40% A in 37.5 min, from 40% to 0% A in 1 min, isocratic at 0% A for 9 min, back to 100% A in 0.5 min, and for re-equilibration isocratic at 100% A for 9.5 min. Individual carotenoids were quantified by in-line UV/Vis at 450nm and additional UV/Vis were recorded in the range from 200 to 640 nm. The calibration curve for pure  $\beta$ -carotene, lutein, and zeaxanthin were prepared. Remaining carotenoids were quantified using the calibration of lutein.

## V.2.6 Extraction and analysis of total C<sub>13</sub>-norisoprenoids

The analysis of total  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids was based on a solid-phase extraction (SPE) protocol described by Kwasniewski et al. (2010). 20 g of frozen powder was thawed at room temperature, and then centrifuged and filtered through Whatman filter paper to get 10 mL juice. Juice was spiked with 20 µL deuterated standard mix solution (d<sub>4</sub>- $\beta$ -Damascenone, d<sub>3</sub>- $\beta$ -ionone and d<sub>8</sub>-Naphthalene with a concentration of 10.0 mg/L in ethanol) and hydrolysed for 60 min in a 25 mL sealed pressure vessel at 100 °C at pH 1 adjusted by 2 M HCl. Due to the formation of a haze after cooling, juice samples were refiltered through Whatman filter paper prior to loading onto preconditioned LiChrolut EN SPE cartridges (Merck, Germany), preconditioned with dichloromethane (5 mL), methanol (5 mL) and Milli-Q water (10 mL). Following sample loading, cartridges were rinsed with Milli-Q water (4 mL) to eliminate sugars, acids and other water-soluble compounds prior to elution of the analytes with dichloromethane (4 mL). The eluent was concentrated under N<sub>2</sub>

gas using a TurboVap® LV evaporator (Zymark) at 40  $^{\circ}$ C to a final volume of approximately 100  $\mu$ L. Instrument parameters, acquisition ions and retention times were described in tables 2 and 3.

Instrument	Agilent 7890 series gas chromatograph with Agilent 5975C mass spectrometer
GC Column	VF-WAX column, 30 m x 250 µm ID x 0.25 µm FT (Agilent J&W GC columns, CP9205)
Carrier gas	Helium, constant flow, 1.2 mL/min
Syringe	$10 \ \mu L$ – needle: 0.64mm OD, 52.2 mm length, conical tip type C, Gerstel Art. Nr. 009970-024-00
Injection	Splitless, 2 µL (volume)
Inlet temperature	200 °C
MS transfer line	250 °C
Oven program	60 °C held for 1 min then 10 °C/min to 250 °C for 10 min
Injection pulse pressure	34 psi until 0.5 min
Purge flow to split vent	50 mL/min at 0.6 min
Gas saver	OFF
Solvent delay	5 min
Run time	30 min
Acquisition Mode	scan m/z 40–220, SIM listed in Table 3
Data acquisition	MSD ChemStation Data Analysis Application (Agilent Technologies, USA)

	Table 2:	GC setting	for total	C <sub>13</sub> -norisor	orenoids	analysis
--	----------	------------	-----------	--------------------------	----------	----------

	Target			RT
Analyte	Ion	<b>Qualifier Ion I</b>	<b>Qualifier Ion II</b>	(mins)
TDN	142	157	172	15.5
d <sub>8</sub> -naphthalene	136	108	68	15.5
β-damascenone	190	175	69	16.26
d <sub>4</sub> -damascenone	194	179	73	16.00
β-Ionone	177	192	178	17.35
d <sub>3</sub> -ionone	180	195	181	17.32

Table 3: MS Acquisition ions and retention times of analytes under method conditions for total C<sub>13</sub>-norisoprenoids analysis – SIM parameters

RT: retention time

## V.3 Results

## V.3.1 Heating system performance

The seasonal dynamics of maximal, average and minimal bunch zone temperatures in control (Figure 3a) and the elevation of temperature in treatment (Figure 3b) were evaluated. Over the growing season, the heating system increased the maximal temperature at bunch zone by  $1.23\pm0.64$  °C and the minimal temperature by  $0.28\pm0.27$  °C (Figure 4). The mean temperature of treated plots was  $0.6\pm0.29$  °C higher than in the control (Figure 4).

Under prevailing conditions of this experiment, the heating system maintained the daily cycle of temperature and relative humidity with a very slightly increase of vapor pressure deficit (VPD) (Figure 5). Considering vineyard was drop-irrigated during the whole season, stem water potential was randomly measured two times during berry development and no difference between control and heated vines (data not shown).



Figure 3: (a) Seasonal dynamics of maximal, average and minimal bunch zone air temperature in controls. (b) Differences of maximum and minimum temperature between heated (H) and control vines (C).



Figure 4: Increment of minimal, maximal and average air temperature in bunch zone area during berry development in season 2015-2016.



Figure 5: Daily temperature dynamics of representative sunny days (a) and cloudy days in each year (b). Regression of relative humidity (RH) (c) and vapour pressure deficit (VPD) (d) between control and heated.

The solid line is the 1:1 line.

## V.3.2 Response of technical maturity to elevated temperature

Berry weight, total soluble solids (TSS), pH and titratable acidity (TA) were determined in berries for assessing whether elevated temperature affected these berry ripeness parameters (Table 4). CS vine maintained yield at around 7-8 kg/vine in response to elevated temperature. At harvest, the heated berries had a significantly lower pH than the control. At PR stage, heated berry weight was statistically higher and other parameters did not show any differences.

Table 4: Influence of elevated temperature on berry weight, yield, total soluble solid
(TSS), titratable acidity (TA) and pH at harvest and post-ripen stages in Caberne
Sauvignon berries in the Barossa Valley of Australia

Stage	Treatment	Berry weight (g)	Yield (kg/vine)	TSS (°Brix)	TA (g/L)	pН
Ripen	control	$0.66^{a}$	7.26 <sup>a</sup>	25.13 <sup>a</sup>	7.34 <sup>a</sup>	3.22 <sup>a</sup>
	Heated	$0.68^{a}$	7.99 <sup>a</sup>	24.95 <sup>a</sup>	7.98 <sup>a</sup>	3.13 <sup>b</sup>
Post-ripen	control	$0.68^{\rm a}$	nd	25.35 <sup>a</sup>	$6.97^{a}$	3.45 <sup>a</sup>
	Heated	$0.74^{\rm b}$	nd	25.1 <sup>a</sup>	$6.54^{a}$	3.55 <sup>a</sup>

Values are mean of four replicates. Different letters within the same parameter indicate statistically significant differences between heated and control berries as determined by Student's t test (P value < 0.05). FW for fresh weight; nd for non-detect.

# V.3.3 Developmental changes of amino acid concentration in response to elevated temperature

The LC/MS method allowed us to identify and quantify twenty-two free amino acids in the berries. The total amino acid concentration was calculated by summing all 22 amino acids and dividing by berry fresh weight. Total amino acid concentration had the similar developmental profile between control and heated conditions, maintaining at low level between BC and MV and increasing continuously thereafter (Figure 6). The elevated temperature consistently increased total amino acid concentration at all stages, although significant differences were only found at BC and MR stages. At harvest, elevated temperature did not affect total amino acid concentration (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Seasonal variations of total amino acid concentrations in Cabernet Sauvignon under heated and control conditions.

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of four replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)

According to their biosynthetic pathway, the 22 amino acids are separated into six groups based on their metabolic precursor: glutamate family (Glu, Gln, Arg, Pro and GABA), aspartate family (Lys, Asp, Asn, Met, Thr and Ileu), serine family (GSH, Ser, Gly and Cys), Pyruvate family (Ala, Leu and Val), aromatic amino acid family (Trp, Tyr and Phe) and histidine family (only His) (Figure 8). The proportion of glutamate family increased continuously during berry development and was the highest proportion (56.9-89.8%) (Figure 7e). The proportion of serine family decreased gradually during the whole season from 5% to 1.5%. The rest four families increased till MV then decreased to lower or similar levels comparing with initial levels. Only the proportion of histidine family was significantly increased by the elevated temperature after veraison, the proportion of other amino acid families was conserved between heated and control berries during berry development (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Seasonal variations of the proportion of six amino acid families in Cabernet Sauvignon berries under heated or control conditions.

The dynamic changes of each amino acid are presented in detail according to their position in the biosynthesis pathway (Figure 8). To further clarify the differences between treatment and control of individual amino acid along berry development, heatmaps (Figure 9) were performed on the normalized ratio between heat treatment and control (H/C). Although the elevated temperature mainly showed a positive effect on amino acids during berry

Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of four replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)
maturation (Figure 9), except Cys and GSH, it did not alter free amino acid accumulation profiles (Figure 8). At the early stage (BC to MV), Arg, Gln and Glu were dominant in CS with a concentration between 800-4000 pmol/mg FW, ranging from 10-40% of total amino acids; then decreased to 200-400 pmol/mg FW at harvest. These three amino acids were more concentrated in heated berries than in control before harvest, but no significant effect of elevated temperature was found at R and PR stages. In contrast, Pro concentration increased sharply from 1% to 80% of total amino acid at harvest with a concentration around 13000 pmol/mg FW, and it was not affected by elevated temperature during berry ripening.



Figure 8: Sugar-amino Acid metabolism pathways. The graphs demonstrate the dynamic changes of each amino acid concentration (pmol/mg FW).

Closed red circles represent heated berries and open blue circles represent control berries. Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of four replicates. \* Significantly different from control (independent t-test, p < 0.05)





Each column represents a developmental stage (from left to right: bunch closure to postripen stage). The ratios of each compound concentration between treatment and control were represented as false colour with violet for higher concentration in heated berries and green for lower as illustrated in the colour key.

### V.3.4 Developmental changes of carotenoids in response to elevated temperature

The HPLC method allowed us to identify and quantify eleven carotenoids in the berries. The total carotenoid concentration was calculated by summing all carotenoids identified and dividing by berry fresh weight (Figure 10). Total carotenoids declined sharply from BC to MR and thereafter declined slowly to PR (from 20  $\mu$ g/g FW to 5  $\mu$ g/g FW at harvest). Heated berries had similar concentrations with control berries throughout berry development. Lutein was the most predominant carotenoid which represented 50% of the total carotenoids followed by  $\beta$ -carotene (15%) in berries. Their proportions were

maintained but their concentrations decreased from BC to PR stage. Zeaxanthin, considered as the precursor of  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids (Deluc et al., 2009), was the third abundant carotenoid (10%) and continuously decreased from BC to PR stage with some fluctuations. Its concentrations were lower in heated berries except for PR stage, but only at R stage the difference was significant. The rest 7 carotenoids: violaxanthin, neoxathin, neochrome, flavoxathin, chrysanthemaxanthin, auraxanthin, and luteoxanthin, totally accounted 25% of the total and decreased during berry development without significant differences between heated and control berries (Figure 11).



Figure 10: Seasonal variations of total carotenoids concentrations in Cabernet Sauvignon under heated and control conditions.

Closed red circles represent heated berries and open blue circles represent control berries. Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of four replicates.



Figure 11: Seasonal variations of individual carotenoid and  $\beta$ -damascenone concentrations in Cabernet Sauvignon under heated or control conditions. Error bars indicate standard error. Each point is the mean of four replicates. \* Significantly

different from control (independent t-test, p<0.05)

# V.3.5 Developmental changes of $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids in response to elevated temperature

Based on the GC/MS method for  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids,  $\beta$ -damascenone,  $\beta$ -ionone and TDN were detected in all samples, but only  $\beta$ -damascenone concentrations were above the limitation of quantification. Because of the limitation of sample quantity, BC samples were not analysed.  $\beta$ -damascenone was accumulated from MV to R stage in both control and heated berries (Figure 11). Meanwhile, during the same developmental period, no significantly different concentrations were observed between control and heated berries. During PR stage,  $\beta$ -damascenone concentration continued increasing to 90 ng/mL (juice) in control berries, but it decreased to 77 ng/mL (juice) in warmed berries, which was significantly lower than that in the control.

# V.3.6 PCA analysis

To gain an overview on the effect of elevated temperature on berry biochemical compositions, a principal component analysis (PCA) was performed (Figure 13). Principal component 1 (PC1), which explained the differences between developmental stages, accounted for 52.5% of the variance (figure 13a). It mainly correlated with glutamate and serine family as well as three predominant carotenoids. PC2 (23.3%) almost separated treatments, strongly based on aromatic amino acid family, pyruvate family, His, Met, and several low concentrated carotenoids.



Figure 12: Principal component analysis of amino acid and carotenoid concentrations in Cabernet Sauvignon under heated and control conditions. a discriminate treatment and developmental stages.

Berry size is represented by the size of the symbols. b load plots of amino acid and carotenoid for the first two principal components

# V.4 Discussion

# V.4.1 Global warming context and heating system performance

In many of the Australian grape-growing regions, projected increase in annual average temperature is 0.4 to 2.6 °C in the next forty years (Webb, 2006). Simulating a similar temperature increase under realistic vineyard conditions can better assess and help understand the potential impact of warming climate on grape berry development and quality. In our study, the open-top heating system achieved to increase mean temperature during berry development by 0.6 °C, which was commensurate with the projected warming for the next decades in Australia. The mean minimal temperature also had an increase of 0.3 °C by using this system, and the relative humidity and VPD were not altered, partially in accordance with the results of Sadras and Soar (2009), which showed an unchanged minimal temperature and relative humidity with a distinct increase of VPD under heated conditions. Although we applied the system as used by Sadras and Soar (2009), the different

performances of the heating system were found between the two studies. The different durations of treatment may explain this difference. Over all, the open-top heating system effectively increased temperature during berry development with little effect on other environmental factors.

#### V.4.2 Response of technical maturity

Many previous studies found that an increased sugar concentration and a reduction of TA coupled with increase in pH were associated with high temperature (Keller, 2010). However, these studies were often based on indirect methods to modulating temperature by comparison between years and/or regions and therefore may lead the conclusions about elevated temperatures confounded with other environmental factors (Coombe, 1986; Duchêne and Schneider, 2005; Petrie and Sadras, 2008). In our experiment, temperature was not the only but the most predominantly changed environmental factor. Yield, TSS and TA did not response to elevated temperature in CS berries at R stage. This finding matched previous studies which showed undetectable treatment effect on Shiraz berry TSS, TA and vine yield at harvest (Sadras and Soar, 2009; Sadras et al., 2013). Interestingly, although TA was not affected, pH was lower in heated berries at R stage. This suggests that the elevated temperature may have also influenced other components that could influence must pH, such as Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> (Iland et al., 2011) and further investigations are needed.

For understand more about temperature effect, post-ripening berries were collected after two weeks after standard harvest. Brix continued increasing from R to PR stage and did not show any difference between two thermal regimes. This observation accorded with the results of Mccarty (1999) that Brix was more closely correlated with days after flowering than with temperature summation. This further increase in Brix seems not a result of berry dehydration, because berry weights were higher at PR than those of R stage. On the other hand, the higher berry weight in heated conditions at PR stage may dilute TA and result in similar pH values between the two conditions.

#### V.4.3 Amino acid response

To our best knowledge, nowadays no published work allows a direct assessment of season long warming effect on free amino acids in grapevine berries under realistic vineyard conditions. The present study showed no significant difference of total amino acid concentrations between control and heated berries at harvest, although they were higher in heated berries than in control during all berry development stage except PR. This is mainly caused by unchanged concentrations of glutamate family, especially Pro under heated conditions, which was the most predominant amino acid family. Similar results were obtained in our experiments in Bordeaux (data in Chapter II) that total amino acid concentrations in CS mature berries was not affected by elevated temperature. Pro accounted almost 80% of total amino acids in mature CS berries, and this consisted with the results obtained in Bordeaux. Moreover, Pro was also confirmed as the most predominant amino acids in CS berries in many other studies (Kliewer, 1968; Stines et al., 2000; Hernández-Orte et al., 2002). Significant differences of Pro concentration in CS berries were observed neither in Adelaide nor in Bordeaux. This high stability of Pro to temperature elevation was also found by Lecourieux et al. (2017), who showed that a short heat treatment (+8 °C) applied in bunch zone at pre-veraison and veraison did not influence Pro concentration in CS berries. This high resistance of Pro to high temperature was also confirmed in other plants, such as in tobacco and Arabidopsis plants (Rizhsky et al., 2004; Dobra et al., 2010).

In the present study, the elevated temperature had a general positive effect on amino acid concentrations. Only GSH and Cys were significantly decreased in heated berries. GSH, a non-protein thiol compound, plays a critical role in protecting organism against oxidative stress (Masella et al., 2005). Tolerance to high temperature stress in crop plants have been reported to be associated with an increase in antioxidant enzymes activity included GSH reductase (Rui et al., 1990; Badiani et al., 1993). Although a 0.6 °C increase of mean temperature could hardly cause an actual heat stress, the high sensitivity to temperature of GSH may explain its significantly lower concentrations in heated berries. Cys, a sulphur-

containing amino acid, involves in dimethyl sulphide synthesis by yeast during alcohol fermentation (Moreira et al., 2002). Its lower concentration may change wine aromas. Overall, free amino acid compositions were altered by elevated temperature. 19 out of 22 identified amino acids had a higher concentration in heated mature berries than in control. Although most of them presented at such a low level, they are involved in the biosynthesis of many important secondary metabolites such as sulfur volatile compounds, flavonoids and anthocyanins (Dai et al., 2014). Further studies are needed to investigate whether those amino acid concentrations could result in alternation of aromas and aroma precursors in berry and wines.

#### V.4.4 Carotenoids and β-damascenone response

Carotenoids are a heterogeneous group of plant isoprenoids primarily involved in photosynthesis and their degradations lead to the formation of apocarotenoids with functions ranging from phytohormones (i.e. abscisic acid and strigolactone) to volatile aroma compounds (C<sub>13</sub>-norisoprenoids) (Mendes-Pinto, 2009; Young et al., 2012). During grape berry ripening, the levels of 11 carotenoids and total  $\beta$ -damascenone (the only quantified C13-norisoprenoid in the present study) were found to change in opposite patterns. The carotenoids had the highest concentrations at the earliest stage and decreased gradually throughout berry development, while β-damascenone increased during the whole season. Carotenoids showed the expected decline in concentration during CS berry development, which was also found in different cultivars and also in other plants, such as olives (Razungles et al., 1988; Minguez-Mosquera and Garrido-Fernandez, 1989; Oliveira et al., 2004; Bindon et al., 2007). Many previous studies showed that lutein and  $\beta$ -carotene are two major carotenoids in grapes (Razungles et al., 1987; Razungles et al., 1996; Marais et al., 1999). This observation was also confirmed in the present study. Elevated temperature did not alter total and two major carotenoids in CS berries in our conditions. In literature, the results about carotenoids response to environmental factors were lack of consistency. Higher carotenoids level in Riesling and Chenin Blanc were found in hotter regions (Marais et al., 1991); lower altitude combined with higher temperature resulted in a lower berry

carotenoids concentration in Dauro Valley (Oliveira et al., 2004); different timings of leaf removal in the fruiting zone, which generally increased temperature around berries, did not alter total carotenoids in Riesling at harvest (Kwasniewski et al., 2010); carotenoid contents were consistently higher in grapes exposed to shade than in those exposed to direct sunlight (Oliveira et al., 2004). All studies mentioned above did not have a direct conclusion about temperature effect on carotenoids, because many other environmental factors were also changed. In the present study, temperature can be considered as the most predominantly modulated variable among all environmental factors and there was no significant correlation between elevated temperature and carotenoids concentrations. This may indicate that other factors, such as radiation, soil and leaf-fruit ratio, may play more important roles in carotenoid accumulation than temperature.

Zeaxanthin can be cleaved into  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids and  $C_{14}$ -dialdehyde by a carotenoid cleavage dioxygenase (CCD) (Mathieu et al., 2005; Deluc et al., 2009). Zeaxanthin concentrations were always relatively lower in heated berries. It only showed a significantly lower level at harvest while  $\beta$ -damascenone concentrations had no difference, but a significantly lower concentration of  $\beta$ -damascenone was observed at PR stage. Earlier acceleration of zeaxanthin degradation in heated berries by elevated temperature may have contributed to the later lower total  $\beta$ -damascenone concentration. In the present study, total  $\beta$ -damascenone concentration was not affected by elevated temperature from veraison to harvest. Unaffected total  $\beta$ -damascenone concentrations were also found between different vineyard altitudes (Falcão et al., 2007) and between different light exposures (Marais et al., 1992; Kwasniewski et al., 2010). However, a positive correlation between  $\beta$ -damascenone and the bunch light exposure was observed in Syrah and Pinot noir (Bureau et al., 2000; Young et al., 2016). Combining with our results, the repression of  $\beta$ -damascenone accumulation could be better explained by the limitation of the precursors rather than a direct influence of temperature.

## **V.5** Conclusion

Bunch zone mean temperature increasing by around 0.6 °C during whole berry development did not alter the yield, TTS and TA in berries of Cabernet Sauvignon vines grown with standard practice in the Barossa Valley. Only a significant lower pH was found in heated berries at harvest. Heating treatment increased total amino acid concentrations during berry development, but no significant difference was observed in mature berries. Although some individual amino acids showed different responses to elevated temperature depending on stages, all individual amino acid concentrations were higher in heated mature berries, except Asp, Cys and Glu. The concentrations of total carotenoids and two most predominant carotenoids: lutein and  $\beta$ -carotene, was not altered by elevated temperature. Zeaxanthin showed a negative correlation with elevated temperature and was significantly less concentrated in heated mature berries than in control. Its lower concentration may limit the further biosynthesis of  $\beta$ -damascenone and explain the observation that lower  $\beta$ damascenone in post-ripening berries in the present study. **Chapter VI : General conclusions and perspectives** 

A recent report shows that global annual average temperature has increased by more than 1.2°C since 1900 (through 2012). In the context of global warming, many studies focus on the elevated temperature impacts on viticulture including grapevine phenology, berry development, and even re-distribution of wine grape-growing regions. Although no large-scale change of viticultural regions has been realized to-date, earlier harvest dates and higher potential alcohol levels at harvest associated with increases in temperature were observed worldwide in the past several decades. In this work, both metabolomic and transcriptomic analysis were used to investigate the effects of moderately elevated temperature on berry quality in realistic vineyard conditions.

The experiments were conducted in two different places: Bordeaux, France and Barossa Valley, Australia, which are two of the most reputable and representative wine regions in the world. Meanwhile, they represent two different climatic types (Figure 1). Firstly, Bordeaux is temperate oceanic climate and Barossa valley is classified as hot-summer Mediterranean climate, based on Köppen climate classification (Köppen et al., 2011). Secondly, because of the different precipitations, irrigation is required in Barossa Valley, but it is forbidden in Bordeaux AOC vineyards. Thirdly, all grapevines used in Barossa Valley are own-rooted, but grapevines from Bordeaux are all grafted to rootstocks. The three above-mentioned points are the most noteworthy ones but not the only differences between two regions. Thus, our results may provide wider views on elevated temperature effects on grape berries.

The applied open-top heating system effectively increased the mean bunch zone air temperature by 0.5-1.6 °C. Comparing with the previous temperature-related studies reported in literature, this system has several advantages. First of all, the magnitude of temperature increase was similar with the projected global warming for the next thirty years. Furthermore, the system was applied in the realistic vineyard conditions, from which the results can be better extended to estimate the effect of global warming on berry quality than those studies conducted under artificial environment such as phytotron. Although we are not entirely sure that temperature was the only altered factor in our system, it can be considered as the most predominant independent variable among potential sources of variation.



**Figure 1: Adelaide (Barossa Valley) and Bordeaux monthly climate graph** (www.climatemprs.com)

The primary and secondary metabolite contents in Cabernet Sauvignon (CS) and Sauvignon Blanc (SB, only in Bordeaux) berries were analyzed at different developmental stages in two vintages in Bordeaux (2015 and 2016) and only one vintage in Barossa Valley (the 2015-2016 growing season). Besides metabolite analysis, q-PCR and RNA-seq analysis were conducted to obtain a comprehensive view of berry responses to moderately elevated temperature.

# EFFECT ON PRIMARY METABOLITES

The moderate rise of temperature hardly affected the concentrations of sugars and acids in all vintages, cultivars, and locations. It neither affected the developmental profiles of individual amino acids nor the total amino acid concentration at harvest, except Sauvignon Blanc in 2015 at Bordeaux (higher in control), but it altered free amino acid composition depending on varieties, vintages and locations. Sugars variations depend more on leaves activity than on grape temperature. This small sugar variation may indicate that the heating system had no bias linked to primary metabolism at leaf level.

In the past several decades, higher potential alcohol levels at harvest associated with increases in temperature were observed. Conversely with our results, it may indicate that vintage effects on primary metabolites are more important than the effects of a moderate temperature elevation in the bunch zone, as imposed by our open-top system. Moreover, designing a heating system which could heat all along the year, may better simulate interactions between primary and secondary metabolism. Also, for a clear understanding of the effects of global warming, long-term multi-year experiments may be more valuable since taking into account the acclimation of grapevines.

#### EFFECT ON BERRY METABOLITES THROUTH RNA-SEQ

A total of 357 genes were differentially expressed in response to the moderately increased temperature in Bordeaux samples in 2015. Among them, 11 down-regulated DEGs (differentially expressed gene) were shared between CS and SB at Mid-ripe (MR) stage and three of them were also down-regulated at bunch closure (BC) stage in SB berries. Enrichment analysis of Gene Ontology showed that temperature mainly regulated four GO categories, including microtubule, cell wall, extracellular region, and transcription factor activity. To a less extent, four GO terms about metabolic process and one term related to biotic stimulus response were enriched. Thirty DEGs were related to the functional category "Cell wall" and mainly belonged to gene encoding cell wall degrading enzymes. 11 DEGs encoding microtubules were down regulated by elevated temperature mainly at the BC stage. Twenty-four DEGs were related to transcriptional factors" and "Basic leucine zipper/ HomeoDomain leucine zipper transcriptional factors".

The RNA-seq was only analyzed with the samples from bunch closure and mid-ripening of two varieties in 2015. The interesting candidate genes selected through RNA-seq analysis should be checked by q-PCR in 2016 samples. This will provide more details about gene expression at different vintages and further validate the current results.

#### EFFECT ON IBMP

The IBMP concentrations in mature berries were not affected by elevated temperature in two vintages and two varieties, which seems to contrast with the conclusion of a negative correlation between thermal increase and final IPMP concentrations from previous studies in literature. The most likely explanation for this contrast is that the previous studies investigated temperature effect on IBMP concentration mostly based on indirect comparisons between vintages and/or regions. These comparisons generally confounded the temperature effects with other environmental factors. Here, interestingly, the elevated temperature significantly reduced IBMP content and expression level of *VviOMT3* in Cabernet Sauvignon berries at bunch closure stage in both vintages, but it reduced the expression level of *VviOMT3* at bunch

closure stage without affecting IBMP concentration in Sauvignon Blanc berries. This limited and genotype-dependent effect of elevated temperature suggests that a moderate temperature elevation (0.5-1.6 °C) may not be sufficient to modify IBMP at maturity, or that other environmental factors (e.g. light) play a dominant role in regulating IBMP rather than temperature. In addition, IBMP concentration in mature berry was higher in 2015 than in 2016 in both varieties, while the mean temperature and thermal degree day accumulation were similar between the two vintages. More detailed analysis showed that 2015 was warmer at pre-veraison but cooler at post-veraison than 2016, which may lead to a lower degradation in 2015 and therefore a higher IBMP concentrations. Therefore, it is most likely that a separate analysis of the effect of pre- and post-veraison temperature conditions on IBMP levels may be more suitable for predicting IBMP concentration in mature berries. Further experiments increasing bunch zone temperature separately pre- and post-veraison should be helpful to verify this hypothesis.

#### EFFECT ON PENOLIC COMPOUNDS

The phenolic compounds were only analyzed in Cabernet Sauvignon berries in 2015. Significantly reduced anthocyanin concentrations were observed in warming conditions. Based on the RNA-seq results, three anthocyanidin UDP-glycosyltransferase genes and two *O*-methyltransferase gene expressions were repressed at MR stage by heating treatment. This could explain, at least in part, that elevated temperature decreased anthocyanins concentration through down-regulation of related structural genes. Furthermore, the decrease in anthocyanin concentration at high temperature may be due to the down- regulation of genes encoding for transporters mediating the transport of anthocyanins into the vacuole. Here, two MATE efflux proteins were also down-regulated by elevated temperature.

On the other hand, monomer and dimer tannin concentrations increased from BC to MV and thereafter gradually decreased towards maturity. Elevated temperature resulted in a higher monomer and dimer tannin concentrations at MV stage, but showed no effect on the concentration at maturity. Therefore, elevated temperature resulted in a larger decrease (66%) in tannin concentration from MV to maturity than that under control condition (50%). Decreases in tannin concentrations during berry development are generally considered as a result of decrease in tannin extractability rather than degradation or turnover. In warmed berries, a gene (*VIT\_05s0062g01160*) encoding for pectinesterase was down-regulated at mimaturation that may result in a higher proportion of pectic polysaccharides (greater affinity

than other cell wall compositions) in cell wall and, in turn, lead to a lower tannin extractability. This lower tannin extractability at maturity stage in heated berry may counteract the higher tannins observed at MV stage and result in a higher decrease from MV to maturity. An alternative possibility for the higher decrease in tannin monomer and dimer concentrations from MV to maturity might be that more tannin monomers and dimers have been transformed into high tannin polymers in heated berries. These hypotheses deserve further investigation by analysing tannin extractability, tannin polymers, tannin polymerization degree, in combination with analysing key genes involved in tannin biosynthesis.

#### **EFFECT ON 3SH PRECURSORS**

3SH is a major aromatic compound in CS and SB wine which has a smell of grapefruit or passion fruit, and is present under its odorless precursor form in berries. Using a direct extraction method of 3SH precursors from frozen powder of whole berries, Glut-3SH-Al was found to be much more concentrated than Glut-3SH and Cys-3SH. Reduced Glut-3SH-Al and Cys-3SH was associated with a significantly lower expression level of *VviGST4* (a proposed key gene for 3SH precursors biosynthesis) in heated Sauvignon Blanc berries in 2015. Meanwhile, similar *VviGST4* expression patterns were confirmed with 2016 samples. Besides that, *VIT\_08s0007g01420*, a putative GST homologue, was also down-regulated by elevated temperature and might be a potential candidate gene involved the biosynthesis of precursors of 3SH.

It has to be mentioned that the biosynthetic pathways of 3SH precursors are still far from being fully understood. Glut-3SH-Al has been identified as 3SH precursor recently, its concentration in berries through a direct extraction method should be checked in more varieties to confirm its role in the 3SH metabolism pathway. The function of genes which showed a high correlation with 3SH precursors, such as the novel candidate gene (*VIT\_08s0007g01420*), also needs to be verified in more varieties and to be confirmed enzymatically.

#### EFFECT ON CAROTENOIDS AND $\beta$ -DAMASCENONE

In Cabernet Sauvignon from Barossa Valley, the concentrations of total carotenoids and two major individual carotenoids, lutein and  $\beta$ -carotene, were not altered by the increased

temperature. In contrast, a minor component of carotenoids, Zeaxanthin, showed a negative trend with elevated temperature and was significantly less concentrated at harvest in heated berries. Moreover, it is considered as the precursor of  $C_{13}$ -norisoprenoids, including  $\beta$ -damascenone. This lower concentration may limit the biosynthesis of  $\beta$ -damascenone and explain the observed lower  $\beta$ -damascenone in post-ripen berries under elevated temperature.

In summary, a moderate bunch zone temperature increase in realistic vineyard conditions hardly affected primary metabolite concentrations but altered their compositions. For secondary metabolites, this heating treatment showed different effects:

- i. decreased the initial IBMP concentrations in CS but unaffected the final concentrations in the two varieties;
- ii. increased Glut-3SH-Al concentrations in SB but not in CS;
- iii. decreased total anthocyanins;
- iv. unaffected final tannins concentrations but increased them at mi-veraison;
- v. unaffected total carotenoids and  $\beta$ -damascenone at harvest, but decreased zeaxanthin coupled with lower concentration of  $\beta$ -damascenone at post-harvest.

Overall, our results provide a better understanding of global warming effects on metabolite changes during berry development and gain novel molecular insights into the responses of grape berry in vineyard. Furthermore, our observations may constitute an advantage for the design of adaptive strategies to preserve high quality viticulture in the context of global warming.

# References

- Abass, M., and Rajashekar, C. (1993). Abscisic acid accumulation in leaves and cultured cells during heat acclimation in grapes. *HortScience* 28, 50-52.
- Acheampong, A.K., Hu, J., Rotman, A., Zheng, C., Halaly, T., Takebayashi, Y., Jikumaru, Y., Kamiya, Y., Lichter, A., and Sun, T.-P. (2015). Functional characterization and developmental expression profiling of gibberellin signalling components in Vitis vinifera. *Journal of experimental botany* 66, 1463-1476.
- Allen, M., and Lacey, M. (1993). Methoxypyrazine grape flavour: influence of climate, cultivar and viticulture. *Wein-Wissenschaft* 48, 211-213.
- Allen, M., and Lacey, M. (1998). "Methoxypyrazines of grapes and wines." ACS Publications).
- Allen, M.S., Lacey, M.J., Harris, R.L., and Brown, W.V. (1991). Contribution of methoxypyrazines to Sauvignon blanc wine aroma. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 42, 109-112.
- Anders, S., Pyl, P.T., and Huber, W. (2015). HTSeq—a Python framework to work with high-throughput sequencing data. *Bioinformatics* 31, 166-169.
- Ariel, F.D., Manavella, P.A., Dezar, C.A., and Chan, R.L. (2007). The true story of the HD-Zip family. *Trends in plant science* 12, 419-426.
- Armijo, G., Espinoza, C., Loyola, R., Restovic, F., Santibáñez, C., Schlechter, R., Agurto, M., and Arce-Johnson, P. (2016). "Grapevine biotechnology: molecular approaches underlying abiotic and biotic stress responses," in *Grape and Wine Biotechnology*. InTech).
- Azuma, A., Yakushiji, H., Koshita, Y., and Kobayashi, S. (2012). Flavonoid biosynthesisrelated genes in grape skin are differentially regulated by temperature and light conditions. *Planta* 236, 1067-1080.
- Badiani, M., Schenone, G., Paolacci, A.R., and Fumagalli, I. (1993). Daily fluctuations of antioxidants in bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) leaves as affected by the presence of ambient air pollutants. *Plant and cell physiology* 34, 271-279.
- Bai, Y., Pattanaik, S., Patra, B., Werkman, J.R., Xie, C.H., and Yuan, L. (2011). Flavonoidrelated basic helix-loop-helix regulators, NtAn1a and NtAn1b, of tobacco have originated from two ancestors and are functionally active. *Planta* 234, 363.
- Battilana, J., Dunlevy, J.D., and Boss, P.K. (2017). Histone modifications at the grapevine VvOMT3 locus, which encodes an enzyme responsible for methoxypyrazine production in the berry. *Functional Plant Biology* 44, 655-664.
- Bayonove, C., Cordonnier, R., and Dubois, P. (1975). Etude d'une fraction caractéristique de l'arôme des raisins de Cabernet-Sauvignon (Study of the characteristic aroma fraction of Cabernet Sauvignon grapes). *CR Acad. Sci. Ser. D* 281, 75-78.
- Bell, S.J., and Henscken, P.A. (2005). Implications of nitrogen nutrition for grapes, fermentation and wine. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 11, 242-295.
- Bensmihen, S., Giraudat, J., and Parcy, F. (2005). Characterization of three homologous basic leucine zipper transcription factors (bZIP) of the ABI5 family during Arabidopsis thaliana embryo maturation. *Journal of experimental botany* 56, 597-603.
- Bergqvist, J., Dokoozlian, N., and Ebisuda, N. (2001). Sunlight exposure and temperature effects on berry growth and composition of Cabernet Sauvignon and Grenache in the Central San Joaquin Valley of California. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 52, 1-7.
- Bertin, R.I. (2008). Plant phenology and distribution in relation to recent climate change. *The Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society* 135, 126-146.

- Bindon, K.A., Dry, P.R., and Loveys, B.R. (2007). Influence of plant water status on the production of C13-norisoprenoid precursors in Vitis vinifera L. cv. Cabernet Sauvignon grape berries. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55, 4493-4500.
- Black, C., Francis, L., Henschke, P., Capone, D., Anderson, S., Day, M., Holt, H., Pearson, W., Herderich, M., and Johnson, D. (2012). Aged Riesling and the development of TDN. *Wine & Viticulture Journal* 27, 20-22.
- Bogs, J., Ebadi, A., Mcdavid, D., and Robinson, S.P. (2006). Identification of the flavonoid hydroxylases from grapevine and their regulation during fruit development. *Plant Physiology* 140, 279-291.
- Bonada, M., Jeffery, D., Petrie, P., Moran, M., and Sadras, V.O. (2015). Impact of elevated temperature and water deficit on the chemical and sensory profiles of Barossa Shiraz grapes and wines. *Australian journal of grape and wine research* 21, 240-253.
- Bondada, B.R., Matthews, M.A., and Shackel, K.A. (2005). Functional xylem in the post-veraison grape berry. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, 2949-2957.
- Böttcher, C., Davies, C., Burbidge, C.A., and Boss, P.K. (2013). Interactions between ethylene and auxin are crucial to the control of grape (Vitis vinifera L.) berry ripening. *BMC plant biology* 13, 222.
- Bourbouloux, A., Shahi, P., Chakladar, A., Delrot, S., and Bachhawat, A.K. (2000). Hgt1p, a high affinity glutathione transporter from the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 275, 13259-13265.
- Bowen, P., Bogdanoff, C., and Estergaard, B. (2004). Impacts of using polyethylene sleeves and wavelength selective mulch in vineyards. II. Effects on growth, leaf gas exchange, yield components and fruit quality of Vitis vinifera cv. Merlot. *Canadian journal of plant science* 84, 555-568.
- Bureau, S.M., Baumes, R.L., and Razungles, A.J. (2000). Effects of vine or bunch shading on the glycosylated flavor precursors in grapes of Vitis vinifera L. Cv. Syrah. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 48, 1290-1297.
- Buttrose, M., Hale, C., and Kliewer, W.M. (1971). Effect of temperature on the composition of Cabernet Sauvignon'berries. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 22, 71-75.
- Camehl, I., and Oelmüller, R. (2010). Do ethylene response factorS9 and-14 repress PR gene expression in the interaction between Piriformospora indica and Arabidopsis? *Plant signaling & behavior* 5, 932-936.
- Carbonell-Bejerano, P., Santa María, E., Torres-Pérez, R., Royo, C., Lijavetzky, D., Bravo, G., Aguirreolea, J., Sánchez-Díaz, M., Antolín, M.C., and Martínez-Zapater, J.M. (2013). Thermotolerance responses in ripening berries of Vitis vinifera L. cv Muscat Hamburg. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 54, 1200-1216.
- Carbonneau, A., Deloire, A., Torregrosa, L., Pellegrino, A., Jaillard, B., Métay, A., Ojeda, H., Lebon, E., and Abbal, P. (2015). *Traité de la vigne-2e éd.: Physiologie, terroir, culture*. Dunod.
- Castellarin, S.D., Gambetta, G.A., Wada, H., Krasnow, M.N., Cramer, G.R., Peterlunger, E., Shackel, K.A., and Matthews, M.A. (2015). Characterization of major ripening events during softening in grape: turgor, sugar accumulation, abscisic acid metabolism, colour development, and their relationship with growth. *Journal of experimental botany* 67, 709-722.
- Castellarin, S.D., Gambetta, G.A., Wada, H., Shackel, K.A., and Matthews, M.A. (2011). Fruit ripening in Vitis vinifera: spatiotemporal relationships among turgor, sugar accumulation, and anthocyanin biosynthesis. *Journal of experimental botany* 62, 4345-4354.

- Castellarin, S.D., Pfeiffer, A., Sivilotti, P., Degan, M., Peterlunger, E., and Di Gaspero, G. (2007). Transcriptional regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis in ripening fruits of grapevine under seasonal water deficit. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 30, 1381-1399.
- Cerreti, M., Esti, M., Benucci, I., Liburdi, K., Simone, C., and Ferranti, P. (2015). Evolution of S-cysteinylated and S-glutathionylated thiol precursors during grape ripening of Vitis vinifera L. cvs Grechetto, Malvasia del Lazio and Sauvignon Blanc. Australian journal of grape and wine research 21, 411-416.
- Chakraborty, S., Murray, G., Magarey, P., Yonow, T., O'brien, R., Croft, B., Barbetti, M., Sivasithamparam, K., Old, K., and Dudzinski, M. (1998). Potential impact of climate change on plant diseases of economic significance to Australia. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 27, 15-35.
- Chira, K., Lorrain, B., Ky, I., and Teissedre, P.-L. (2011). Tannin composition of cabernetsauvignon and merlot grapes from the bordeaux area for different vintages (2006 to 2009) and comparison to tannin profile of five 2009 vintage mediterranean grapes varieties. *Molecules* 16, 1519-1532.
- Choné, X., Van Leeuwen, C., Dubourdieu, D., and Gaudillère, J.P. (2001). Stem water potential is a sensitive indicator of grapevine water status. *Annals of botany* 87, 477-483.
- Chorti, E., Guidoni, S., Ferrandino, A., and Novello, V. (2010). Effect of different cluster sunlight exposure levels on ripening and anthocyanin accumulation in Nebbiolo grapes. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 61, 23-30.
- Choudhury, N., and Behera, R. (2001). Photoinhibition of photosynthesis: role of carotenoids in photoprotection of chloroplast constituents. *Photosynthetica* 39, 481-488.
- Chuine, I., Yiou, P., Viovy, N., Seguin, B., Daux, V., and Ladurie, E.L.R. (2004). Historical phenology: grape ripening as a past climate indicator. *Nature* 432, 289-290.
- Cohen, S.D., Tarara, J.M., and Kennedy, J.A. (2008). Assessing the impact of temperature on grape phenolic metabolism. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 621, 57-67.
- Conde, C., Silva, P., Fontes, N., Dias, A.C.P., Tavares, R.M., Sousa, M.J., Agasse, A., Delrot, S., and Gerós, H. (2007). Biochemical changes throughout grape berry development and fruit and wine quality.
- Coombe, B. (Year). "Influence of temperature on composition and quality of grapes", in: Symposium on Grapevine Canopy and Vigor Management, XXII IHC 206), 23-36.
- Coombe, B. (1992). Research on development and ripening of the grape berry. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 43, 101-110.
- Coombe, B.G., and Mccarthy, M. (2000). Dynamics of grape berry growth and physiology of ripening. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 6, 131-135.
- Corrêa, L.G.G., Riaño-Pachón, D.M., Schrago, C.G., Dos Santos, R.V., Mueller-Roeber, B., and Vincentz, M. (2008). The role of bZIP transcription factors in green plant evolution: adaptive features emerging from four founder genes. *PloS one* 3, e2944.
- Cosgrove, D.J. (2000). Loosening of plant cell walls by expansins. Nature 407, 321-326.
- Costantini, L., Malacarne, G., Lorenzi, S., Troggio, M., Mattivi, F., Moser, C., and Grando, M.S. (2015). New candidate genes for the fine regulation of the colour of grapes. *Journal of experimental botany* 66, 4427-4440.
- Cox, A., Capone, D.L., Elsey, G.M., Perkins, M.V., and Sefton, M.A. (2005). Quantitative analysis, occurrence, and stability of (E)-1-(2, 3, 6-trimethylphenyl) buta-1, 3-diene in wine. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 53, 3584-3591.
- Cramer, G.R., Ghan, R., Schlauch, K.A., Tillett, R.L., Heymann, H., Ferrarini, A., Delledonne, M., Zenoni, S., Fasoli, M., and Pezzotti, M. (2014). Transcriptomic analysis of the late stages of grapevine (Vitis vinifera cv. Cabernet Sauvignon) berry

ripening reveals significant induction of ethylene signaling and flavor pathways in the skin. *BMC plant biology* 14, 370.

- Czemmel, S., Stracke, R., Weisshaar, B., Cordon, N., Harris, N.N., Walker, A.R., Robinson, S.P., and Bogs, J. (2009). The grapevine R2R3-MYB transcription factor VvMYBF1 regulates flavonol synthesis in developing grape berries. *Plant physiology* 151, 1513-1530.
- Dai, Z., Vivin, P., Barrieu, F., Ollat, N., and Delrot, S. (2010). Physiological and modelling approaches to understand water and carbon fluxes during grape berry growth and quality development: a review. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 16, 70-85.
- Dai, Z.W., Meddar, M., Renaud, C., Merlin, I., Hilbert, G., Delrot, S., and Gomès, E. (2014). Long-term in vitro culture of grape berries and its application to assess the effects of sugar supply on anthocyanin accumulation. *Journal of experimental botany* 65, 4665-4677.
- Dai, Z.W., Ollat, N., Gomès, E., Decroocq, S., Tandonnet, J.-P., Bordenave, L., Pieri, P., Hilbert, G., Kappel, C., and Van Leeuwen, C. (2011). Ecophysiological, genetic, and molecular causes of variation in grape berry weight and composition: a review. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 62, 413-425.
- Darriet, P., Thibon, C., Dubourdieu, D., Gerós, H., Chaves, M., and Delrot, S. (2012). Aroma and aroma precursors in grape berry. *The biochemistry of the grape berry*, 111-136.
- Darriet, P., Tominaga, T., Demole, E., and Dubourdieu, D. (1993). Mise en évidence dans le raisin de Vitis Vinifera var. Sauvignon d'un précurseur de la 4-mercapto-4-méthylpentan-2-one. *Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences. Série 3, Sciences de la vie* 316, 1332-1335.
- Darriet, P., Tominaga, T., Lavigne, V., Boidron, J.N., and Dubourdieu, D. (1995). Identification of a powerful aromatic component of Vitis vinifera L. var. sauvignon wines: 4-mercapto-4-methylpentan-2-one. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal* 10, 385-392.
- Daugherty, M., Bosco, D., and Almeida, R. (2009). Temperature mediates vector transmission efficiency: inoculum supply and plant infection dynamics. *Annals of applied biology* 155, 361-369.
- Davies, P.J. (2010). "The plant hormones: their nature, occurrence, and functions," in *Plant hormones*. Springer), 1-15.
- Davis, C., and Robinson, S. (1996). Sugar accumulation in grape berries. *Plant Physiol* 111, 275-283.
- De Boubée, D.R., Cumsille, A.M., Pons, M., and Dubourdieu, D. (2002). Location of 2methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine in Cabernet Sauvignon grape bunches and its extractability during vinification. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 53, 1-5.
- De Freitas, V.a.P., and Glories, Y. (1999). Concentration and compositional changes of procyanidins in grape seeds and skin of white Vitis vinifera varieties. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 79, 1601-1606.
- De Orduna, R.M. (2010). Climate change associated effects on grape and wine quality and production. *Food Research International* 43, 1844-1855.
- De Rosas, I., Ponce, M.T., Malovini, E., Deis, L., Cavagnaro, B., and Cavagnaro, P. (2017). Loss of anthocyanins and modification of the anthocyanin profiles in grape berries of Malbec and Bonarda grown under high temperature conditions. *Plant Science* 258, 137-145.
- Deluc, L.G., Grimplet, J., Wheatley, M.D., Tillett, R.L., Quilici, D.R., Osborne, C., Schooley, D.A., Schlauch, K.A., Cushman, J.C., and Cramer, G.R. (2007). Transcriptomic and

metabolite analyses of Cabernet Sauvignon grape berry development. *BMC genomics* 8, 429.

- Deluc, L.G., Quilici, D.R., Decendit, A., Grimplet, J., Wheatley, M.D., Schlauch, K.A., Mérillon, J.-M., Cushman, J.C., and Cramer, G.R. (2009). Water deficit alters differentially metabolic pathways affecting important flavor and quality traits in grape berries of Cabernet Sauvignon and Chardonnay. *BMC genomics* 10, 212.
- Deng, Y., Wu, Y., and Li, Y. (2005). Changes in firmness, cell wall composition and cell wall hydrolases of grapes stored in high oxygen atmospheres. *Food Research International* 38, 769-776.
- Diago, M., Vilanova, M., and Tardaguila, J. (2010). Effects of timing of early defoliation (manual and mechanical) on the aroma attributes of Tempranillo (Vitis vinifera L.) wines. *Am. J. Enol. Vitic* 61, 382-391.
- Dimitrovska, M., Bocevska, M., Dimitrovski, D., and Murkovic, M. (2011). Anthocyanin composition of Vranec, Cabernet Sauvignon, Merlot and Pinot Noir grapes as indicator of their varietal differentiation. *European Food Research and Technology* 232, 591-600.
- Dobra, J., Motyka, V., Dobrev, P., Malbeck, J., Prasil, I.T., Haisel, D., Gaudinova, A., Havlova, M., Gubis, J., and Vankova, R. (2010). Comparison of hormonal responses to heat, drought and combined stress in tobacco plants with elevated proline content. *Journal of plant physiology* 167, 1360-1370.
- Doco, T., Williams, P., Pauly, M., O'neill, M.A., and Pellerin, P. (2003). Polysaccharides from grape berry cell walls. Part II. Structural characterization of the xyloglucan polysaccharides. *Carbohydrate polymers* 53, 253-261.
- Dokoozlian, N., and Kliewer, W. (1996). Influence of light on grape berry growth and composition varies during fruit development. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 121, 869-874.
- Dokoozlian, N.K. (2000). Grape berry growth and development. *Raisin production manual* 3393, 30.
- Domingos, S., Fino, J., Cardoso, V., Sánchez, C., Ramalho, J.C., Larcher, R., Paulo, O.S., Oliveira, C.M., and Goulao, L.F. (2016). Shared and divergent pathways for flower abscission are triggered by gibberellic acid and carbon starvation in seedless Vitis vinifera L. *BMC plant biology* 16, 38-38.
- Downey, M.O., Dokoozlian, N.K., and Krstic, M.P. (2006). Cultural practice and environmental impacts on the flavonoid composition of grapes and wine: a review of recent research. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 57, 257-268.
- Downey, M.O., Harvey, J.S., and Robinson, S.P. (2003). Analysis of tannins in seeds and skins of Shiraz grapes throughout berry development. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 9, 15-27.
- Downey, M.O., Harvey, J.S., and Robinson, S.P. (2004). The effect of bunch shading on berry development and flavonoid accumulation in Shiraz grapes. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 10, 55-73.
- Duchêne, E. (2016). How can grapevine genetics contribute to the adaptation to climate change? *Oeno One* 50, 113-124.
- Duchêne, E., Dumas, V., Jaegli, N., and Merdinoglu, D. (2014). Genetic variability of descriptors for grapevine berry acidity in Riesling, Gewürztraminer and their progeny. *Australian journal of grape and wine research* 20, 91-99.
- Duchêne, E., and Schneider, C. (2005). Grapevine and climatic changes: a glance at the situation in Alsace. *Agronomy for sustainable development* 25, 93-99.

- Dumas, Y., Dadomo, M., Di Lucca, G., and Grolier, P. (2003). Effects of environmental factors and agricultural techniques on antioxidantcontent of tomatoes. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 83, 369-382.
- Dunlevy, J.D., Dennis, E.G., Soole, K.L., Perkins, M.V., Davies, C., and Boss, P.K. (2013). A methyltransferase essential for the methoxypyrazine-derived flavour of wine. *The Plant Journal* 75, 606-617.
- Dunlevy, J.D., Soole, K.L., Perkins, M.V., Dennis, E.G., Keyzers, R.A., Kalua, C.M., and Boss, P.K. (2010). Two O-methyltransferases involved in the biosynthesis of methoxypyrazines: grape-derived aroma compounds important to wine flavour. *Plant molecular biology* 74, 77-89.
- E. M. Wolkovich, I. García De Cortázar-Atauri, I. Morales-Castilla, K.a.N., and Lacombe, T. (2018). From Pinot to Xinomavro in the world's future wine-growing regions. *nature Climate Change* 8, 8.
- Ebeler, S.E., and Thorngate, J.H. (2009). Wine chemistry and flavor: looking into the crystal glass. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 57, 8098-8108.
- English, J., Thomas, C., Marois, J., and Gubler, W. (1989). Microclimates of grapevine canopies associated with leaf removal and control of Botrytis bunch rot. *Phytopathology* 79, 395-401.
- Esteban, M.A., Villanueva, M.J., and Lissarrague, J. (1999). Effect of irrigation on changes in berry composition of Tempranillo during maturation. Sugars, organic acids, and mineral elements. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 50, 418-434.
- Falcão, L.D., De Revel, G., Perello, M.C., Moutsiou, A., Zanus, M.C., and Bordignon-Luiz, M.T. (2007). A survey of seasonal temperatures and vineyard altitude influences on 2methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine, C13-norisoprenoids, and the sensory profile of Brazilian Cabernet Sauvignon wines. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55, 3605-3612.
- Ferreira, V., Lopez, R., and Cacho, J.F. (2000). Quantitative determination of the odorants of young red wines from different grape varieties. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 80, 1659-1667.
- Ferrise, R., Trombi, G., Moriondo, M., and Bindi, M. (2016). Climate change and grapevines: A simulation study for the Mediterranean basin. *Journal of Wine Economics* 11, 88-104.
- Fraga, H., García De Cortázar Atauri, I., Malheiro, A.C., and Santos, J.A. (2016). Modelling climate change impacts on viticultural yield, phenology and stress conditions in Europe. *Global change biology* 22, 3774-3788.
- Fraga, H., Santos, J.A., Malheiro, A.C., and Moutinho-Pereira, J. (2012). Climate change projections for the Portuguese viticulture using a multi-model ensemble. *Ciência e Técnica Vitivinícola* 27, 39-48.
- Francesca, S., Simona, G., Francesco Nicola, T., Andrea, R., Vittorio, R., Federico, S., Cynthia, R., and Maria Lodovica, G. (2006). Downy mildew (Plasmopara viticola) epidemics on grapevine under climate change. *Global Change Biology* 12, 1299-1307.
- Friedel, M., Stoll, M., Patz, C., Will, F., and Dietrich, H. (2015). Impact of light exposure on fruit composition of white Riesling grape berries (Vitis vinifera L.). VITIS-Journal of Grapevine Research 54, 107-116.
- Fujimoto, S.Y., Ohta, M., Usui, A., Shinshi, H., and Ohme-Takagi, M. (2000). Arabidopsis ethylene-responsive element binding factors act as transcriptional activators or repressors of GCC box-mediated gene expression. *The Plant Cell* 12, 393-404.
- Gao, M., Zhang, H., Guo, C., Cheng, C., Guo, R., Mao, L., Fei, Z., and Wang, X. (2014). Evolutionary and expression analyses of basic zipper transcription factors in the

highly homozygous model grape PN40024 (Vitis vinifera L.). *Plant molecular biology reporter* 32, 1085-1102.

- García De Cortázar-Atauri, I., Duchêne, E., Destrac-Irvine, A., Barbeau, G., De Rességuier, L., Lacombe, T., Parker, A., Saurin, N., and Van Leeuwen, C. (2017). Grapevine phenology in France: from past observations to future evolutions in the context of climate change.
- Godelmann, R., Limmert, S., and Kuballa, T. (2008). Implementation of headspace solidphase-microextraction–GC–MS/MS methodology for determination of 3-alkyl-2methoxypyrazines in wine. *European Food Research and Technology* 227, 449.
- Gomez-Miguez, M.J., Cacho, J.F., Ferreira, V., Vicario, I.M., and Heredia, F.J. (2007). Volatile components of Zalema white wines. *Food Chemistry* 100, 1464-1473.
- Guan, L., Dai, Z., Wu, B.-H., Wu, J., Merlin, I., Hilbert, G., Renaud, C., Gomès, E., Edwards, E., and Li, S.-H. (2016). Anthocyanin biosynthesis is differentially regulated by light in the skin and flesh of white-fleshed and teinturier grape berries. *Planta* 243, 23-41.
- Guan, L., Li, J.-H., Fan, P.-G., Chen, S., Fang, J.-B., Li, S.-H., and Wu, B.-H. (2012). Anthocyanin accumulation in various organs of a teinturier grape cultivar (V. vinifera L.) during the growing season. *American journal of enology and viticulture*, ajev. 2011.11063.
- Guan, L., Wu, B., Hilbert, G., Li, S., Gomès, E., Delrot, S., and Dai, Z. (2017). Cluster shading modifies amino acids in grape (Vitis vinifera L.) berries in a genotype-and tissue-dependent manner. *Food Research International*.
- Guillaumie, S., Ilg, A., Réty, S., Brette, M., Trossat-Magnin, C., Decroocq, S., Léon, C., Keime, C., Ye, T., and Baltenweck-Guyot, R. (2013). Genetic analysis of the biosynthesis of 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine, a major grape-derived aroma compound impacting wine quality. *Plant physiology* 162, 604-615.
- Gump, B.H., Zoecklein, B.W., Fugelsang, K.C., and Whiton, R.S. (2002). Comparison of analytical methods for prediction of prefermentation nutritional status of grape juice. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 53, 325-329.
- Habran, A., Commisso, M., Helwi, P., Hilbert, G., Negri, S., Ollat, N., Gomès, E., Van Leeuwen, C., Guzzo, F., and Delrot, S. (2016). Roostocks/scion/nitrogen Interactions affect secondary metabolism in the grape berry. *Frontiers in plant science* 7.
- Haile, Z.M., Pilati, S., Sonego, P., Malacarne, G., Vrhovsek, U., Engelen, K., Tudzynski, P., Zottini, M., Baraldi, E., and Moser, C. (2017). Molecular analysis of the early interaction between the grapevine flower and Botrytis cinerea reveals that prompt activation of specific host pathways leads to fungus quiescence. *Plant, Cell & Environment*.
- Hall, A., and Jones, G.V. (2009). Effect of potential atmospheric warming on temperaturebased indices describing Australian winegrape growing conditions. *Australian Journal* of Grape and Wine Research 15, 97-119.
- Hamama, A.A., and Nawar, W.W. (1991). Thermal decomposition of some phenolic antioxidants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 39, 1063-1069.
- Hannah, L., Roehrdanz, P.R., Ikegami, M., Shepard, A.V., Shaw, M.R., Tabor, G., Zhi, L., Marquet, P.A., and Hijmans, R.J. (2013). Climate change, wine, and conservation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, 6907-6912.
- Hare, P., and Cress, W. (1997). Metabolic implications of stress-induced proline accumulation in plants. *Plant growth regulation* 21, 79-102.
- Hare, P., Cress, W., and Van Staden, J. (1997). The involvement of cytokinins in plant responses to environmental stress. *Plant Growth Regulation* 23, 79-103.
- Hashizume, K., Tozawa, K., Endo, M., and Aramaki, I. (2001). S-Adenosyl-L-methioninedependent O-methylation of 2-hydroxy-3-alkylpyrazine in wine grapes: a putative

final step of methoxypyrazine biosynthesis. *Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry* 65, 795-801.

- Hatfield, J.L., and Prueger, J.H. (2015). Temperature extremes: effect on plant growth and development. *Weather and Climate Extremes* 10, 4-10.
- Hawker, J. (1969). Changes in the activities of enzymes concerned with sugar metabolism during the development of grape berries. *Phytochemistry* 8, 9-17.
- He, F., Mu, L., Yan, G.-L., Liang, N.-N., Pan, Q.-H., Wang, J., Reeves, M.J., and Duan, C.-Q. (2010). Biosynthesis of anthocyanins and their regulation in colored grapes. *Molecules* 15, 9057-9091.
- Heijde, M., and Ulm, R. (2013). Reversion of the Arabidopsis UV-B photoreceptor UVR8 to the homodimeric ground state. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, 1113-1118.
- Helwi, P., Guillaumie, S., Thibon, C., Keime, C., Habran, A., Hilbert, G., Gomes, E., Darriet, P., Delrot, S., and Van Leeuwen, C. (2016). Vine nitrogen status and volatile thiols and their precursors from plot to transcriptome level. *BMC plant biology* 16, 173.
- Helwi, P., Habran, A., Guillaumie, S., Thibon, C.C., Hilbert, G., Gomes, E., Delrot, S., Darriet, P., and Van Leeuwen, C. (2015). Vine nitrogen status does not have a direct impact on 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine in grape berries and wines. *Journal of* agricultural and food chemistry 63, 9789-9802.
- Henriksson, E., Olsson, A.S., Johannesson, H., Johansson, H., Hanson, J., Engström, P., and Söderman, E. (2005). Homeodomain leucine zipper class I genes in Arabidopsis. Expression patterns and phylogenetic relationships. *Plant Physiology* 139, 509-518.
- Hernández-Orte, P., Cacho, J.F., and Ferreira, V. (2002). Relationship between varietal amino acid profile of grapes and wine aromatic composition. Experiments with model solutions and chemometric study. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 50, 2891-2899.
- Hernández-Orte, P., Guitart, A., and Cacho, J. (1999). Changes in the concentration of amino acids during the ripening of Vitis vinifera Tempranillo variety from the Denomination d'Origine Somontano (Spain). American Journal of Enology and Viticulture 50, 144-154.
- Hichri, I., Heppel, S.C., Pillet, J., Léon, C., Czemmel, S., Delrot, S., Lauvergeat, V., and Bogs, J. (2010). The basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor MYC1 is involved in the regulation of the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway in grapevine. *Molecular plant* 3, 509-523.
- Hoddle, M.S. (2004). The potential adventive geographic range of glassy-winged sharpshooter, Homalodisca coagulata and the grape pathogen Xylella fastidiosa: implications for California and other grape growing regions of the world. *Crop Protection* 23, 691-699.
- Holzapfel, B., and Treeby, M. (2007). Effects of timing and rate of N supply on leaf nitrogen status, grape yield and juice composition from Shiraz grapevines grafted to one of three different rootstocks. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 13, 14-22.
- Hopper, D.W., Ghan, R., Schlauch, K.A., and Cramer, G.R. (2016). Transcriptomic network analyses of leaf dehydration responses identify highly connected ABA and ethylene signaling hubs in three grapevine species differing in drought tolerance. *BMC plant biology* 16, 118.
- Huang, Z., and Ough, C. (1989). Effect of vineyard locations, varieties, and rootstocks on the juice amino acid composition of several cultivars. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 40, 135-139.
- Huglin, P., and Schneider, C. (1998). Biologie et écologie de la vigne.

- Iland, P., Dry, P., Proffitt, T., and Tyerman, S. (2011). "The grapevine: from the science to the practice of growing vines for wine". Patrick Iland Wine Promotions).
- Ipcc (2014a). Climate Change 2014–Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Regional Aspects. Cambridge University Press.
- Ipcc (2014b). Climate change 2014: synthesis report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. IPCC.
- Jackson, R.S. (2008). Wine science: principles and applications. Academic press.
- Jaillon, O., Aury, J.-M., Noel, B., Policriti, A., Clepet, C., Casagrande, A., Choisne, N., Aubourg, S., Vitulo, N., and Jubin, C. (2007). The grapevine genome sequence suggests ancestral hexaploidization in major angiosperm phyla. *Nature* 449, 463-467.
- Jeandet, P., Delaunois, B., Conreux, A., Donnez, D., Nuzzo, V., Cordelier, S., Clément, C., and Courot, E. (2010). Biosynthesis, metabolism, molecular engineering, and biological functions of stilbene phytoalexins in plants. *Biofactors* 36, 331-341.
- Jenks, M.A., and Bebeli, P. (2011). Breeding for fruit quality. John Wiley & Sons.
- Jones, G.V. (2006). Climate and terroir: impacts of climate variability and change on wine. *Fine wine and terroir-the geoscience perspective*, 1-14.
- Jones, G.V., and Davis, R.E. (2000). Climate influences on grapevine phenology, grape composition, and wine production and quality for Bordeaux, France. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 51, 249-261.
- Jones, G.V., White, M.A., Cooper, O.R., and Storchmann, K. (2005). Climate change and global wine quality. *Climatic change* 73, 319-343.
- Kaplan, F., Kopka, J., Haskell, D.W., Zhao, W., Schiller, K.C., Gatzke, N., Sung, D.Y., and Guy, C.L. (2004). Exploring the temperature-stress metabolome of Arabidopsis. *Plant physiology* 136, 4159-4168.
- Keller, M. (2010). Managing grapevines to optimise fruit development in a challenging environment: a climate change primer for viticulturists. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 16, 56-69.
- Keller, M., Kummer, M., and Vasconcelos, M.C. (2001). Reproductive growth of grapevines in response to nitrogen supply and rootstock. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 7, 12-18.
- Keller, M., Mills, L.J., Wample, R.L., and Spayd, S.E. (2005). Cluster thinning effects on three deficit-irrigated Vitis vinifera cultivars. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 56, 91-103.
- Kennedy, J. (2002). Understanding grape berry development. *Practical winery & vineyard* 4, 1-5.
- Kennedy, J.A., Hayasaka, Y., Vidal, S., Waters, E.J., and Jones, G.P. (2001). Composition of grape skin proanthocyanidins at different stages of berry development. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 49, 5348-5355.
- Kennedy, J.A., Matthews, M.A., and Waterhouse, A.L. (2000). Changes in grape seed polyphenols during fruit ripening. *Phytochemistry* 55, 77-85.
- Kenny, G., and Harrison, P. (1992). The effects of climate variability and change on grape suitability in Europe. *Journal of Wine Research* 3, 163-183.
- Kim, D., Pertea, G., Trapnell, C., Pimentel, H., Kelley, R., and Salzberg, S.L. (2013). TopHat2: accurate alignment of transcriptomes in the presence of insertions, deletions and gene fusions. *Genome biology* 14, R36.
- Kleczkowski, L.A., Kunz, S., and Wilczynska, M. (2010). Mechanisms of UDP-glucose synthesis in plants. *Critical reviews in plant sciences* 29, 191-203.
- Kliewer, W. (1967). Concentration of tartrates, malates, glucose and fructose in the fruits of the genus Vitis. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 18, 87-96.

- Kliewer, W. (1968). Changes in the concentration of free amino acids in grape berries during maturation. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 19, 166-174.
- Kliewer, W. (1970). Free amino acids and other nitrogenous fractions in wine grapes. *Journal* of Food Science 35, 17-21.
- Kliewer, W., and Nassar, A.R. (1966). Changes in concentration of organic acids, sugars, and amino acids in grape leaves. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 17, 48-57.
- Kliewer, W.M., and Dokoozlian, N.K. (2005). Leaf area/crop weight ratios of grapevines: influence on fruit composition and wine quality. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 56, 170-181.
- Kobayashi, H., Matsuyama, S., Takase, H., Sasaki, K., Suzuki, S., Takata, R., and Saito, H. (2012). Impact of harvest timing on the concentration of 3-mercaptohexan-1-ol precursors in Vitis vinifera berries. *American journal of enology and viticulture*, ajev. 2012.12051.
- Kobayashi, H., Takase, H., Suzuki, Y., Tanzawa, F., Takata, R., Fujita, K., Kohno, M., Mochizuki, M., Suzuki, S., and Konno, T. (2010). Environmental stress enhances biosynthesis of flavor precursors, S-3-(hexan-1-ol)-glutathione and S-3-(hexan-1-ol)-L-cysteine, in grapevine through glutathione S-transferase activation. *Journal of experimental botany* 62, 1325-1336.
- Kovinich, N., Saleem, A., Arnason, J.T., and Miki, B. (2010). Functional characterization of a UDP-glucose: flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase from the seed coat of black soybean (Glycine max (L.) Merr.). *Phytochemistry* 71, 1253-1263.
- Krasensky, J., and Jonak, C. (2012). Drought, salt, and temperature stress-induced metabolic rearrangements and regulatory networks. *Journal of experimental botany* 63, 1593-1608.
- Kuhn, N., Guan, L., Dai, Z.W., Wu, B.-H., Lauvergeat, V., Gomès, E., Li, S.-H., Godoy, F., Arce-Johnson, P., and Delrot, S. (2013). Berry ripening: recently heard through the grapevine. *Journal of experimental botany* 65, 4543-4559.
- Kwasniewski, M.T., Vanden Heuvel, J.E., Pan, B.S., and Sacks, G.L. (2010). Timing of cluster light environment manipulation during grape development affects C13 norisoprenoid and carotenoid concentrations in Riesling. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 58, 6841-6849.
- Lacey, M.J., Allen, M.S., Harris, R.L., and Brown, W.V. (1991). Methoxypyrazines in Sauvignon blanc grapes and wines. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 42, 103-108.
- Lacombe, E., Hawkins, S., Doorsselaere, J., Piquemal, J., Goffner, D., Poeydomenge, O., Boudet, A.M., and Grima-Pettenati, J. (1997). Cinnamoyl CoA reductase, the first committed enzyme of the lignin branch biosynthetic pathway: cloning, expression and phylogenetic relationships. *The Plant Journal* 11, 429-441.
- Lamikanra, O., Inyang, I.D., and Leong, S. (1995). Distribution and effect of grape maturity on organic acid content of red muscadine grapes. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 43, 3026-3028.
- Langmead, B., and Salzberg, S.L. (2012). Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. *Nature methods* 9, 357-359.
- Le Gall, H., Philippe, F., Domon, J.-M., Gillet, F., Pelloux, J., and Rayon, C. (2015). Cell wall metabolism in response to abiotic stress. *Plants* 4, 112-166.
- Lebon, E., Pellegrino, A., Louarn, G., and Lecoeur, J. (2006). Branch development controls leaf area dynamics in grapevine (Vitis vinifera) growing in drying soil. *Annals of Botany* 98, 175-185.
- Lecourieux, F., Kappel, C., Pieri, P., Charon, J., Pillet, J., Hilbert, G., Renaud, C., Gomès, E., Delrot, S., and Lecourieux, D. (2017). Dissecting the Biochemical and Transcriptomic

Effects of a Locally Applied Heat Treatment on Developing Cabernet Sauvignon Grape Berries. *Frontiers in plant science* 8.

- Lei, Y., Xie, S., Guan, X., Song, C., Zhang, Z., and Meng, J. (2017). Methoxypyrazines biosynthesis and metabolism in grape: a review. *Food Chemistry*.
- Li, Z., Zhang, C., Guo, Y., Niu, W., Wang, Y., and Xu, Y. (2017). Evolution and expression analysis reveal the potential role of the HD-Zip gene family in regulation of embryo abortion in grapes (Vitis vinifera L.). *BMC genomics* 18, 744.
- Liu, J., Chen, N., Chen, F., Cai, B., Dal Santo, S., Tornielli, G.B., Pezzotti, M., and Cheng, Z.-M.M. (2014). Genome-wide analysis and expression profile of the bZIP transcription factor gene family in grapevine (Vitis vinifera). *BMC genomics* 15, 281.
- Liu, X., Huang, B., and Banowetz, G. (2002). Cytokinin effects on creeping bentgrass responses to heat stress. *Crop Science* 42, 457-465.
- Lloyd, C., and Chan, J. (2004). Microtubules and the shape of plants to come. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 5, 13-23.
- Lopez, R., Ferreira, V., Hernandez, P., and Cacho, J.F. (1999). Identification of impact odorants of young red wines made with Merlot, Cabernet Sauvignon and Grenache grape varieties: a comparative study. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 79, 1461-1467.
- Lough, J., Wigley, T., and Palutikof, J. (1983). Climate and climate impact scenarios for Europe in a warmer world. *Journal of Climate and Applied Meteorology* 22, 1673-1684.
- Ludwig, S.R., and Wessler, S.R. (1990). Maize R gene family: tissue-specific helix-loop-helix proteins. *Cell* 62, 849-851.
- Malheiro, A., Santos, J., Fraga, H., and Pinto, J. (Year). "Future scenarios for viticultural climatic zoning in Iberia", in: XXVIII International Horticultural Congress on Science and Horticulture for People (IHC2010): International Symposium on the 931), 55-61.
- Mangelsen, E., Kilian, J., Harter, K., Jansson, C., Wanke, D., and Sundberg, E. (2011). Transcriptome analysis of high-temperature stress in developing barley caryopses: early stress responses and effects on storage compound biosynthesis. *Molecular Plant* 4, 97-115.
- Marais, J., Hunter, J., and Haasbroek, P. (1999). Effect of canopy microclimate, season and region on Sauvignon blanc grape composition and wine quality. *South African Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 20, 19-30.
- Marais, J., Van Wyk, C., and Rapp, A. (1991). Carotenoid levels in maturing grapes as affected by climatic regions, sunlight and shade.
- Marais, J., Van Wyk, C., and Rapp, A. (1992). Effect of sunlight and shade on norisoprenoid levels in maturing Weisser Riesling and Chenin blanc grapes and Weisser Riesling wines.
- Marcy, J., Carroll, D., and Young, C.T. (1981). Changes in free amino acid and total nitrogen concentrations during maturation of muscadine grapes (V. rotundifolia). *Journal of Food Science* 46, 543-547.
- Martínez-Lüscher, J., Kizildeniz, T., Vučetić, V., Dai, Z., Luedeling, E., Van Leeuwen, C., Gomès, E., Pascual, I., Irigoyen, J.J., and Morales, F. (2016). Sensitivity of grapevine phenology to water availability, temperature and CO2 concentration. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* 4, 48.
- Masella, R., Di Benedetto, R., Varì, R., Filesi, C., and Giovannini, C. (2005). Novel mechanisms of natural antioxidant compounds in biological systems: involvement of glutathione and glutathione-related enzymes. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry* 16, 577-586.

- Mathieu, S., Terrier, N., Procureur, J.M., Bigey, F., and Günata, Z. (2005). A carotenoid cleavage dioxygenase from Vitis vinifera L.: functional characterization and expression during grape berry development in relation to C13-norisoprenoid accumulation. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, 2721-2731.
- Matthews, M., Ishii, R., Anderson, M., and O'mahony, M. (1990). Dependence of wine sensory attributes on vine water status. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 51, 321-335.
- Mattivi, F., Guzzon, R., Vrhovsek, U., Stefanini, M., and Velasco, R. (2006). Metabolite profiling of grape: flavonols and anthocyanins. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 54, 7692-7702.
- Mattivi, F., Vrhovsek, U., Masuero, D., and Trainotti, D. (2009). Differences in the amount and structure of extractable skin and seed tannins amongst red grape varieties. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 15, 27-35.
- Medlicott, A., Bhogal, M., and Reynolds, S. (1986). Changes in peel pigmentation during ripening of mango fruit (Mangifera indica var. Tommy Atkins). *Annals of Applied Biology* 109, 651-656.
- Medrano, H., Escalona, J.M., Cifre, J., Bota, J., and Flexas, J. (2003). A ten-year study on the physiology of two Spanish grapevine cultivars under field conditions: effects of water availability from leaf photosynthesis to grape yield and quality. *Functional Plant Biology* 30, 607-619.
- Meehl, G.A., Stocker, T.F., Collins, W.D., Friedlingstein, A., Gaye, A.T., Gregory, J.M., Kitoh, A., Knutti, R., Murphy, J.M., and Noda, A. (2007). Global climate projections.
- Mendes-Pinto, M.M. (2009). Carotenoid breakdown products the—norisoprenoids—in wine aroma. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 483, 236-245.
- Mendez-Costabel, M.P. (2012). Factors affecting the levels of 3-isobutyl-2-methoxypyrazine and C6 compounds in Vitis vinifera L. Merlot.
- Mendez-Costabel, M., Wilkinson, K., Bastian, S., Jordans, C., Mccarthy, M., Ford, C., and Dokoozlian, N. (2014). Effect of increased irrigation and additional nitrogen fertilisation on the concentration of green aroma compounds in Vitis vinifera L. Merlot fruit and wine. *Australian journal of grape and wine research* 20, 80-90.
- Merli, M., Magnanini, E., Gatti, M., Pirez, F., Pueyo, I.B., Intrigliolo, D., and Poni, S. (2016). Water stress improves whole-canopy water use efficiency and berry composition of cv. Sangiovese (Vitis vinifera L.) grapevines grafted on the new drought-tolerant rootstock M4. Agricultural Water Management 169, 106-114.
- Minguez-Mosquera, M.I., and Garrido-Fernandez, J. (1989). Chlorophyll and carotenoid presence in olive fruit (Olea europaea). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 37, 1-7.
- Mohammed, A.R., and Tarpley, L. (2010). Effects of high night temperature and spikelet position on yield-related parameters of rice (Oryza sativa L.) plants. *European Journal of Agronomy* 33, 117-123.
- Mok, D.W., and Mok, M.C. (2001). Cytokinin metabolism and action. *Annual review of plant biology* 52, 89-118.
- Molitor, D., Caffarra, A., Sinigoj, P., Pertot, I., Hoffmann, L., and Junk, J. (2014). Late frost damage risk for viticulture under future climate conditions: a case study for the Luxembourgish winegrowing region. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 20, 160-168.
- Monagas, M., Bartolome, B., and Gomez-Cordoves, C. (2005). Updated knowledge about the presence of phenolic compounds in wine. *Critical reviews in food science and nutrition* 45, 85-118.

- Montealegre, R.R., Peces, R.R., Vozmediano, J.C., Gascueña, J.M., and Romero, E.G. (2006). Phenolic compounds in skins and seeds of ten grape Vitis vinifera varieties grown in a warm climate. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 19, 687-693.
- Moreira, N., Mendes, F., Pereira, O., De Pinho, P.G., Hogg, T., and Vasconcelos, I. (2002). Volatile sulphur compounds in wines related to yeast metabolism and nitrogen composition of grape musts. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 458, 157-167.
- Mori, K., Goto-Yamamoto, N., Kitayama, M., and Hashizume, K. (2007a). Effect of high temperature on anthocyanin composition and transcription of flavonoid hydroxylase genes in 'Pinot noir'grapes (Vitis vinifera). *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 82, 199-206.
- Mori, K., Goto-Yamamoto, N., Kitayama, M., and Hashizume, K. (2007b). Loss of anthocyanins in red-wine grape under high temperature. *Journal of experimental botany* 58, 1935-1945.
- Mori, K., Sugaya, S., and Gemma, H. (2004). Regulatory mechanism of anthocyanin biosynthesis in 'Kyoho'grape berries grown under different temperature conditions. *Environment Control in Biology* 42, 21-30.
- Mori, K., Sugaya, S., and Gemma, H. (2005). Decreased anthocyanin biosynthesis in grape berries grown under elevated night temperature condition. *Scientia Horticulturae* 105, 319-330.
- Morrison, J.C., and Noble, A.C. (1990). The effects of leaf and cluster shading on the composition of Cabernet Sauvignon grapes and on fruit and wine sensory properties. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 41, 193-200.
- Mosedale, J.R., Wilson, R.J., and Maclean, I.M. (2015). Climate change and crop exposure to adverse weather: changes to frost risk and grapevine flowering conditions. *PloS one* 10, e0141218.
- Movahed, N., Pastore, C., Cellini, A., Allegro, G., Valentini, G., Zenoni, S., Cavallini, E., D'incà, E., Tornielli, G.B., and Filippetti, I. (2016). The grapevine VviPrx31 peroxidase as a candidate gene involved in anthocyanin degradation in ripening berries under high temperature. *Journal of plant research* 129, 513-526.
- Mullins, M.G., Bouquet, A., and Williams, L.E. (1992). *Biology of the grapevine*. Cambridge University Press.
- Munoz-Bertomeu, J., Miedes, E., and Lorences, E. (2013). Expression of xyloglucan endotransglucosylase/hydrolase (XTH) genes and XET activity in ethylene treated apple and tomato fruits. *Journal of plant physiology* 170, 1194-1201.
- Murray, K.E., and Whitfield, F.B. (1975). The occurrence of 3-alkyl-2-methoxypyrazines in raw vegetables. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 26, 973-986.
- Neethling, E., Barbeau, G., Bonnefoy, C., and Quénol, H. (2012). Change in climate and berry composition for grapevine varieties cultivated in the Loire Valley. *Climate Research* 53, 89-101.
- Nelson, G.C., Valin, H., Sands, R.D., Havlík, P., Ahammad, H., Deryng, D., Elliott, J., Fujimori, S., Hasegawa, T., and Heyhoe, E. (2014). Climate change effects on agriculture: Economic responses to biophysical shocks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111, 3274-3279.
- Nicotra, A.B., Atkin, O.K., Bonser, S.P., Davidson, A.M., Finnegan, E., Mathesius, U., Poot, P., Purugganan, M.D., Richards, C., and Valladares, F. (2010). Plant phenotypic plasticity in a changing climate. *Trends in plant science* 15, 684-692.
- Nijhawan, A., Jain, M., Tyagi, A.K., and Khurana, J.P. (2008). Genomic survey and gene expression analysis of the basic leucine zipper transcription factor family in rice. *Plant physiology* 146, 333-350.

- Noble, A.C., Elliott-Fisk, D.L., and Allen, M.S. (1995). "Vegetative flavor and methoxypyrazines in Cabernet Sauvignon." ACS Publications).
- Nunan, K.J., Davies, C., Robinson, S.P., and Fincher, G.B. (2001). Expression patterns of cell wall-modifying enzymes during grape berry development. *Planta* 214, 257-264.
- Nunan, K.J., Sims, I.M., Bacic, A., Robinson, S.P., and Fincher, G.B. (1998). Changes in cell wall composition during ripening of grape berries. *Plant Physiology* 118, 783-792.
- Ohme-Takagi, M., and Shinshi, H. (1995). Ethylene-inducible DNA binding proteins that interact with an ethylene-responsive element. *The Plant Cell* 7, 173-182.
- Ojeda, H., Andary, C., Kraeva, E., Carbonneau, A., and Deloire, A. (2002). Influence of preand postveraison water deficit on synthesis and concentration of skin phenolic compounds during berry growth of Vitis vinifera cv. Shiraz. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 53, 261-267.
- Ojeda, H., Deloire, A., Carbonneau, A., Ageorges, A., and Romieu, C. (1999). Berry development of grapevines: relations between the growth of berries and their DNA content indicate cell multiplication and enlargement. *Vitis* 38, 145-150.
- Oliveira, C., Ferreira, A.C., Costa, P., Guerra, J., and Guedes De Pinho, P. (2004). Effect of some viticultural parameters on the grape carotenoid profile. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 52, 4178-4184.
- Ollat, N., Diakou-Verdin, P., Carde, J., Barrieu, F., Gaudillere, J.-P., and Moing, A. (2002). Grape berry development: a review. *International Journal of Vine and Wine Sciences*.
- Ollat, N., and Touzard, J.-M. (2014). Long-term adaptation to climate change in viticulture and enology: The LACCAVE project. *Spécial Laccave, Journal International des Sciences de la Vigne et du Vin* 2014, 1-7.
- Oren-Shamir, M. (2009). Does anthocyanin degradation play a significant role in determining pigment concentration in plants? *Plant Science* 177, 310-316.
- Ormrod, D.P., Lesser, V.M., Olszyk, D.M., and Tingey, D.T. (1999). Elevated temperature and carbon dioxide affect chlorophylls and carotenoids in Douglas-fir seedlings. *International journal of plant sciences* 160, 529-534.
- Ou, C., Du, X., Shellie, K., Ross, C., and Qian, M.C. (2010). Volatile compounds and sensory attributes of wine from cv. Merlot (Vitis vinifera L.) grown under differential levels of water deficit with or without a kaolin-based, foliar reflectant particle film. *Journal of* agricultural and food chemistry 58, 12890-12898.
- Ouzeau, G., Déqué, M., Jouini, M., Planton, S., and Vautard, R. (2014). Le climat de la France au XXIe siècle. *Rapport de la Direction générale de l'énergie et du climat, www. developpement-durable. gouv. fr.*
- Palliotti, A., and Poni, S. (2015). Grapevine under light and heat stresses. *Grapevine in a Changing Environment: A Molecular and Ecophysiological Perspective*, 148-178.
- Park, J.M., Park, C.-J., Lee, S.-B., Ham, B.-K., Shin, R., and Paek, K.-H. (2001). Overexpression of the tobacco Tsi1 gene encoding an EREBP/AP2–type transcription factor enhances resistance against pathogen attack and osmotic stress in tobacco. *The Plant Cell Online* 13, 1035-1046.
- Parker, A., De CortÁzar-Atauri, I.G., Van Leeuwen, C., and Chuine, I. (2011). General phenological model to characterise the timing of flowering and veraison of Vitis vinifera L. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 17, 206-216.
- Parra, C.S., Aguirreolea, J., Sánchez-Díaz, M., Irigoyen, J.J., and Morales, F. (2010). Effects of climate change scenarios on Tempranillo grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) ripening: response to a combination of elevated CO2 and temperature, and moderate drought. *Plant and soil* 337, 179-191.
- Pastore, C., Dal Santo, S., Zenoni, S., Movahed, N., Allegro, G., Valentini, G., Filippetti, I., and Tornielli, G.B. (2017). Whole Plant Temperature Manipulation Affects Flavonoid

Metabolism and the Transcriptome of Grapevine Berries. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 8, 929.

- Peña-Gallego, A., Hernández-Orte, P., Cacho, J., and Ferreira, V. (2012). S-Cysteinylated and S-glutathionylated thiol precursors in grapes. A review. *Food chemistry* 131, 1-13.
- Pereira, G., Gaudillere, J.-P., Pieri, P., Hilbert, G., Maucourt, M., Deborde, C., Moing, A., and Rolin, D. (2006). Microclimate influence on mineral and metabolic profiles of grape berries. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 54, 6765-6775.
- Perestrelo, R., Lu, Y., Santos, S.A., Silvestre, A.J., Neto, C.P., Câmara, J.S., and Rocha, S.M. (2012). Phenolic profile of Sercial and Tinta Negra Vitis vinifera L. grape skins by HPLC–DAD–ESI-MSn: Novel phenolic compounds in Vitis vinifera L. grape. *Food chemistry* 135, 94-104.
- Petrie, P., and Sadras, V. (2008). Advancement of grapevine maturity in Australia between 1993 and 2006: putative causes, magnitude of trends and viticultural consequences. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 14, 33-45.
- Petrie, P.R., and Clingeleffer, P.R. (2005). Effects of temperature and light (before and after budburst) on inflorescence morphology and flower number of Chardonnay grapevines (Vitis vinifera L.). *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 11, 59-65.
- Petrie, P.R., Trought, M.C., Howell, G.S., and Buchan, G.D. (2003). The effect of leaf removal and canopy height on whole-vine gas exchange and fruit development of Vitis vinifera L. Sauvignon Blanc. *Functional Plant Biology* 30, 711-717.
- Peyrot Des Gachons, C., Tominaga, T., and Dubourdieu, D. (2002). Sulfur aroma precursor present in S-glutathione conjugate form: identification of S-3-(hexan-1-ol)-glutathione in must from Vitis vinifera L. cv. Sauvignon blanc. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 50, 4076-4079.
- Philip, T., and Nelson, F. (1973). A procedure for quantitative estimation of malic and tartaric acids of grape juice. *Journal of Food Science* 38, 18-20.
- Pichersky, E., Noel, J.P., and Dudareva, N. (2006). Biosynthesis of plant volatiles: nature's diversity and ingenuity. *Science* 311, 808-811.
- Pickering, G., Karthik, A., Inglis, D., Sears, M., and Ker, K. (2007). Determination of orthoand retronasal detection thresholds for 2-isopropyl-3-methoxypyrazine in wine. *Journal of food science* 72.
- Pickering, G., Lin, J., Reynolds, A., Soleas, G., and Riesen, R. (2006). The evaluation of remedial treatments for wine affected by Harmonia axyridis. *International journal of food science & technology* 41, 77-86.
- Pinu, F.R., Jouanneau, S., Nicolau, L., Gardner, R.C., and Villas-Boas, S.G. (2012). Concentrations of the volatile thiol 3-mercaptohexanol in Sauvignon blanc wines: no correlation with juice precursors. *American journal of enology and viticulture*, ajev. 2012.11126.
- Polášková, P., Herszage, J., and Ebeler, S.E. (2008). Wine flavor: chemistry in a glass. *Chemical Society Reviews* 37, 2478-2489.
- Pomerol, C. (1995). [The wines and winelands of France. Geological journeys]. [French].
- Poni, S., Bernizzoni, F., and Civardi, S. (2008). The effect of early leaf removal on wholecanopy gas exchange and vine performance of Vitis vinifera L.Sangiovese'. VITIS-GEILWEILERHOF- 47, 1.
- Poni, S., Gatti, M., Palliotti, A., Dai, Z., Duchêne, E., Truong, T.-T., Ferrara, G., Matarrese, A.M.S., Gallotta, A., and Bellincontro, A. (2017). Grapevine quality: A multiple choice issue. *Scientia Horticulturae*.
- Pons, A., Allamy, L., Schüttler, A., Rauhut, D., Thibon, C., and Darriet, P. (2017). What is the expected impact of climate change on wine aroma compounds and their precursors in grape? *OENO One* 51, 141-146.
- Possner, D., and Kliewer, W.M. (1985). The localization of acids, sugars, potassium and calcium in developing grape berries. *Vitis* 24, 229-240.
- Power, S., Delage, F., Wang, G., Smith, I., and Kociuba, G. (2017). Apparent limitations in the ability of CMIP5 climate models to simulate recent multi-decadal change in surface temperature: implications for global temperature projections. *Climate Dynamics* 49, 53-69.
- Prigge, M.J., Otsuga, D., Alonso, J.M., Ecker, J.R., Drews, G.N., and Clark, S.E. (2005). Class III homeodomain-leucine zipper gene family members have overlapping, antagonistic, and distinct roles in Arabidopsis development. *The Plant Cell* 17, 61-76.
- Quattrocchio, F., Verweij, W., Kroon, A., Spelt, C., Mol, J., and Koes, R. (2006). PH4 of Petunia is an R2R3 MYB protein that activates vacuolar acidification through interactions with basic-helix-loop-helix transcription factors of the anthocyanin pathway. *The Plant Cell* 18, 1274-1291.
- Rattanakon, S., Ghan, R., Gambetta, G.A., Deluc, L.G., Schlauch, K.A., and Cramer, G.R. (2016). Abscisic acid transcriptomic signaling varies with grapevine organ. *BMC plant biology* 16, 72.
- Razungles, A., Bayonove, C., Cordonnier, R., and Baumes, R. (1987). Etude des caroténoides du raisin à maturité. *Vitis*.
- Razungles, A., Bayonove, C., Cordonnier, R., and Sapis, J. (1988). Grape carotenoids: Changes during the maturation period and localization in mature berries. *American journal of enology and viticulture* 39, 44-48.
- Razungles, A.J., Babic, I., Sapis, J.C., and Bayonove, C.L. (1996). Particular behavior of epoxy xanthophylls during veraison and maturation of grape. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 44, 3821-3825.
- Reid, K.E., Olsson, N., Schlosser, J., Peng, F., and Lund, S.T. (2006). An optimized grapevine RNA isolation procedure and statistical determination of reference genes for real-time RT-PCR during berry development. *BMC plant biology* 6, 27.
- Revilla, E., and Ryan, J.-M.A. (2000). Analysis of several phenolic compounds with potential antioxidant properties in grape extracts and wines by high-performance liquid chromatography–photodiode array detection without sample preparation. *Journal of Chromatography A* 881, 461-469.
- Ribéreau-Gayon, P., Dubourdieu, D., Donèche, B., and Lonvaud, A. (2006). *Handbook of* enology, the microbiology of wine and vinifications. John Wiley & Sons.
- Ribereau-Gayon, P., Glories, Y., Maujean, A., and Dubourdieu, D. (2000). "The Chemistry of Wine Stabilization and Treatments (Handbook of Eonology, vol. 2)". John Wiley & Sons, Chichester).
- Rienth, M., Torregrosa, L., Kelly, M.T., Luchaire, N., Pellegrino, A., Grimplet, J., and Romieu, C. (2014a). Is transcriptomic regulation of berry development more important at night than during the day? *PLoS One* 9, e88844.
- Rienth, M., Torregrosa, L., Luchaire, N., Chatbanyong, R., Lecourieux, D., Kelly, M.T., and Romieu, C. (2014b). Day and night heat stress trigger different transcriptomic responses in green and ripening grapevine (Vitis vinifera) fruit. *BMC plant biology* 14, 108.
- Rienth, M., Torregrosa, L., Sarah, G., Ardisson, M., Brillouet, J.-M., and Romieu, C. (2016). Temperature desynchronizes sugar and organic acid metabolism in ripening grapevine fruits and remodels their transcriptome. *BMC plant biology* 16, 164.
- Ristic, R., Bindon, K., Francis, L., Herderich, M., and Iland, P. (2010). Flavonoids and C13norisoprenoids in Vitis vinifera L. cv. Shiraz: relationships between grape and wine composition, wine colour and wine sensory properties. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 16, 369-388.

- Ristic, R., and Iland, P.G. (2005). Relationships between seed and berry development of Vitis vinifera L. cv Shiraz: developmental changes in seed morphology and phenolic composition. *Australian Journal of grape and wine research* 11, 43-58.
- Rizhsky, L., Liang, H., Shuman, J., Shulaev, V., Davletova, S., and Mittler, R. (2004). When defense pathways collide. The response of Arabidopsis to a combination of drought and heat stress. *Plant physiology* 134, 1683-1696.
- Roby, G., and Matthews, M.A. (2004). Relative proportions of seed, skin and flesh, in ripe berries from Cabernet Sauvignon grapevines grown in a vineyard either well irrigated or under water deficit. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 10, 74-82.
- Roland, A., Schneider, R., Razungles, A., and Cavelier, F. (2011). Varietal thiols in wine: discovery, analysis and applications. *Chemical reviews* 111, 7355-7376.
- Rosenzweig, C., Elliott, J., Deryng, D., Ruane, A.C., Müller, C., Arneth, A., Boote, K.J., Folberth, C., Glotter, M., and Khabarov, N. (2014). Assessing agricultural risks of climate change in the 21st century in a global gridded crop model intercomparison. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111, 3268-3273.
- Roubelakis-Angelakis, K.A. (2009). *Grapevine molecular physiology & biotechnology*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Roujou De Boubée, D., Van Leeuwen, C., and Dubourdieu, D. (2000). Organoleptic impact of 2-methoxy-3-isobutylpyrazine on red Bordeaux and Loire wines. Effect of environmental conditions on concentrations in grapes during ripening. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 48, 4830-4834.
- Rui, R., Nie, Y., and Tong, H. (1990). SOD activity as a parameter for screening stresstolerant germplasm resources in sweet potato (Ipomoea batatas L.). *Jiangsu Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 6, 52-56.
- Ryona, I., Pan, B.S., Intrigliolo, D.S., Lakso, A.N., and Sacks, G.L. (2008). Effects of cluster light exposure on 3-isobutyl-2-methoxypyrazine accumulation and degradation patterns in red wine grapes (Vitis vinifera L. cv. Cabernet Franc). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 56, 10838-10846.
- Sadras, V., Montoro, A., Moran, M., and Aphalo, P. (2012). Elevated temperature altered the reaction norms of stomatal conductance in field-grown grapevine. *Agricultural and forest meteorology* 165, 35-42.
- Sadras, V., and Moran, M. (2012). Elevated temperature decouples anthocyanins and sugars in berries of Shiraz and Cabernet Franc. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 18, 115-122.
- Sadras, V., and Petrie, P. (2011). Climate shifts in south-eastern Australia: early maturity of Chardonnay, Shiraz and Cabernet Sauvignon is associated with early onset rather than faster ripening. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 17, 199-205.
- Sadras, V.O., Petrie, P.R., and Moran, M.A. (2013). Effects of elevated temperature in grapevine. II juice pH, titratable acidity and wine sensory attributes. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 19, 107-115.
- Sadras, V.O., and Soar, C.J. (2009). Shiraz vines maintain yield in response to a 2–4 C increase in maximum temperature using an open-top heating system at key phenostages. *European Journal of Agronomy* 31, 250-258.
- Salisbury, F., and Marinos, N. (1985). "The ecological role of plant growth substances," in *Hormonal Regulation of Development III*. Springer), 707-766.
- Scheiner, J.J., Sacks, G.L., Pan, B., Ennahli, S., Tarlton, L., Wise, A., Lerch, S.D., and Heuvel, J.E.V. (2010). Impact of severity and timing of basal leaf removal on 3isobutyl-2-methoxypyrazine concentrations in red winegrapes. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 61, 358-364.
- Schwartz, M.D. (2003). Phenology: an integrative environmental science.

- Sefton, M.A., Francis, I.L., and Williams, P.J. (1994). Free and bound volatile secondary metabolites of Vitis Vhifera Grape cv. Sauvignon Blanc. *Journal of Food Science* 59, 142-147.
- Seguin, G. (1986). 'Terroirs' and pedology of wine growing. *Experientia* 42, 861-873.
- Shangguan, L., Mu, Q., Fang, X., Zhang, K., Jia, H., Li, X., Bao, Y., and Fang, J. (2017). RNA-Sequencing Reveals Biological Networks during Table Grapevine ('Fujiminori') Fruit Development. *PloS one* 12, e0170571.
- Sharma, M.K., Kumar, R., Solanke, A.U., Sharma, R., Tyagi, A.K., and Sharma, A.K. (2010). Identification, phylogeny, and transcript profiling of ERF family genes during development and abiotic stress treatments in tomato. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 284, 455-475.
- Sharoni, A.M., Nuruzzaman, M., Satoh, K., Shimizu, T., Kondoh, H., Sasaya, T., Choi, I.-R., Omura, T., and Kikuchi, S. (2010). Gene structures, classification and expression models of the AP2/EREBP transcription factor family in rice. *Plant and cell physiology* 52, 344-360.
- Sims, C., and Morris, J. (1984). Effects of pH, sulfur dioxide, storage time, and temperature on the color and stability of red muscadine grape wine. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 35, 35-39.
- Sinsawat, V., Leipner, J., Stamp, P., and Fracheboud, Y. (2004). Effect of heat stress on the photosynthetic apparatus in maize (Zea mays L.) grown at control or high temperature. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 52, 123-129.
- Sivilotti, P., Falchi, R., Herrera, J.C., ŠKvarč, B., Butinar, L., Sternad Lemut, M., Bubola, M., Sabbatini, P., Lisjak, K., and Vanzo, A. (2017). Combined Effects of Early Season Leaf Removal and Climatic Conditions on Aroma Precursors in Sauvignon Blanc Grapes. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 65, 8426-8434.
- Skoog, F., and Miller, C. (Year). "Chemical regulation of growth and organ formation in plant tissues cultured", in: *Vitro, Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol*).
- Smart, R.E. (1985). Principles of grapevine canopy microclimate manipulation with implications for yield and quality. A review. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 36, 230-239.
- Soar, C.J., Collins, M.J., and Sadras, V.O. (2009). Irrigated Shiraz vines (Vitis vinifera) upregulate gas exchange and maintain berry growth in response to short spells of high maximum temperature in the field. *Functional Plant Biology* 36, 801-814.
- Song, J., Shellie, K.C., Wang, H., and Qian, M.C. (2012). Influence of deficit irrigation and kaolin particle film on grape composition and volatile compounds in Merlot grape (Vitis vinifera L.). *Food chemistry* 134, 841-850.
- Soyer, Y., Koca, N., and Karadeniz, F. (2003). Organic acid profile of Turkish white grapes and grape juices. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 16, 629-636.
- Spayd, S.E., and Andersen-Bagge, J. (1996). Free amino acid composition of grape juice from 12 Vitis vinifera cultivars in Washington. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 47, 389-402.
- Spayd, S.E., Tarara, J.M., Mee, D.L., and Ferguson, J. (2002). Separation of sunlight and temperature effects on the composition of Vitis vinifera cv. Merlot berries. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 53, 171-182.
- Spence, C. (2015). Just how much of what we taste derives from the sense of smell? *Flavour* 4, 30.
- Stines, A., Grubb, J., Gockowiak, H., Henschke, P.A., Høj, P., and Heeswijck, R.V. (2000). Proline and arginine accumulation in developing berries of Vitis vinifera L. in Australian vineyards: Influence of vine cultivar, berry maturity and tissue type. Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research 6, 150-158.

- Stines, A.P., Naylor, D.J., Høj, P.B., and Van Heeswijck, R. (1999). Proline accumulation in developing grapevine fruit occurs independently of changes in the levels of  $\Delta 1$ -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mRNA or protein. *Plant Physiology* 120, 923-923.
- Stock, M., Gerstengarbe, F.-W., Kartschall, T., and Werner, P.C. (Year). "Reliability of climate change impact assessments for viticulture", in: VII International Symposium on Grapevine Physiology and Biotechnology 689), 29-40.
- Stocker, T. (2014). Climate change 2013: the physical science basis: Working Group I contribution to the Fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Stoll, M., Bischoff-Schaefer, M., Lafontaine, M., Tittmann, S., and Henschke, J. (Year). "Impact of various leaf area modifications on berry maturation in Vitis vinifera L.'Riesling'", in: *I International Workshop on Vineyard Mechanization and Grape and Wine Quality* 978), 293-299.
- Stone, S.L. (2014). The role of ubiquitin and the 26S proteasome in plant abiotic stress signaling. *Frontiers in plant science* 5.
- ŠUklje, K., Lisjak, K., Baša ČEsnik, H., Janeš, L., Du Toit, W., Coetzee, Z., Vanzo, A., and Deloire, A. (2012). Classification of grape berries according to diameter and total soluble solids to study the effect of light and temperature on methoxypyrazine, glutathione, and hydroxycinnamate evolution during ripening of Sauvignon blanc (Vitis vinifera L.). *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 60, 9454-9461.
- Sweetman, C., Deluc, L.G., Cramer, G.R., Ford, C.M., and Soole, K.L. (2009). Regulation of malate metabolism in grape berry and other developing fruits. *Phytochemistry* 70, 1329-1344.
- Sweetman, C., Sadras, V., Hancock, R., Soole, K., and Ford, C. (2014). Metabolic effects of elevated temperature on organic acid degradation in ripening Vitis vinifera fruit. *Journal of experimental botany* 65, 5975-5988.
- Swiegers, J.H., Capone, D.L., Pardon, K.H., Elsey, G.M., Sefton, M.A., Francis, I.L., and Pretorius, I.S. (2007). Engineering volatile thiol release in Saccharomyces cerevisiae for improved wine aroma. *Yeast* 24, 561-574.
- Swiegers, J.H., and Pretorius, I.S. (2005). Yeast modulation of wine flavor. Advances in applied microbiology 57, 131-175.
- Symons, G.M., Davies, C., Shavrukov, Y., Dry, I.B., Reid, J.B., and Thomas, M.R. (2006). Grapes on steroids. Brassinosteroids are involved in grape berry ripening. *Plant physiology* 140, 150-158.
- Szabados, L., and Savouré, A. (2010). Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. *Trends in plant science* 15, 89-97.
- Tarara, J.M., Lee, J., Spayd, S.E., and Scagel, C.F. (2008). Berry temperature and solar radiation alter acylation, proportion, and concentration of anthocyanin in Merlot grapes. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 59, 235-247.
- Thibon, C., Böcker, C., Shinkaruk, S., Moine, V., Darriet, P., and Dubourdieu, D. (2016). Identification of S-3-(hexanal)-glutathione and its bisulfite adduct in grape juice from Vitis vinifera L. cv. Sauvignon blanc as new potential precursors of 3SH. *Food chemistry* 199, 711-719.
- Thibon, C.C., Cluzet, S.P., MéRillon, J.M., Darriet, P., and Dubourdieu, D. (2011). 3-Sulfanylhexanol precursor biogenesis in grapevine cells: the stimulating effect of Botrytis cinerea. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 59, 1344-1351.
- This, P., Lacombe, T., and Thomas, M.R. (2006). Historical origins and genetic diversity of wine grapes. *TRENDS in Genetics* 22, 511-519.

- Thomas, P., and Janave, M. (1992). Effect of temperature on chlorophyllase activity, chlorophyll degradation and carotenoids of Cavendish bananas during ripening. *International journal of food science & technology* 27, 57-63.
- Tomasi, D., Jones, G.V., Giust, M., Lovat, L., and Gaiotti, F. (2011). Grapevine phenology and climate change: relationships and trends in the Veneto region of Italy for 1964–2009. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, ajev. 2011.10108.
- Tominaga, T., Baltenweck-Guyot, R., Des Gachons, C.P., and Dubourdieu, D. (2000). Contribution of volatile thiols to the aromas of white wines made from several Vitis vinifera grape varieties. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 51, 178-181.
- Tominaga, T., and Dubourdieu, D. (1997). Identification of 4-mercapto-4-methylpentan-2-one from the box tree (Buxus sempervirens L.) and broom (Sarothamnus scoparius (L.) Koch). *Flavour and fragrance journal* 12, 373-376.
- Tominaga, T., Furrer, A., Henry, R., and Dubourdieu, D. (1998a). Identification of new volatile thiols in the aroma of Vitis vinifera L. var. Sauvignon blanc wines. *Flavour and Fragrance Journal* 13, 159-162.
- Tominaga, T., Peyrot Des Gachons, C., and Dubourdieu, D. (1998b). A New Type of Flavor Precursors in Vitis v inifera L. cv. Sauvignon Blanc: S-Cysteine Conjugates. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 46, 5215-5219.
- Tran, T.L.H., and Raymundo, L.C. (1999). Biosynthesis of carotenoids in bittermelon at high temperature. *Phytochemistry* 52, 275-280.
- Treutter, D. (2006). Significance of flavonoids in plant resistance: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters* 4, 147.
- Tsao, R. (2010). Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols. Nutrients 2, 1231-1246.
- Van Leeuwen, C., and Darriet, P. (2016). The impact of climate change on viticulture and wine quality. *Journal of Wine Economics* 11, 150-167.
- Van Leeuwen, C., and Destrac-Irvine, A. (2017). Modified grape composition under climate change conditions requires adaptations in the vineyard. *OENO One* 51, 147-154.
- Van Leeuwen, C., Friant, P., Chone, X., Tregoat, O., Koundouras, S., and Dubourdieu, D. (2004). Influence of climate, soil, and cultivar on terroir. *American Journal of Enology* and Viticulture 55, 207-217.
- Van Leeuwen, C., Roby, J.-P., Alonso-Villaverde, V., and Gindro, K. (2012). Impact of clonal variability in Vitis vinifera Cabernet franc on grape composition, wine quality, leaf blade stilbene content, and downy mildew resistance. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 61, 19-24.
- Van Leeuwen, C., Schultz, H.R., De Cortazar-Atauri, I.G., Duchêne, E., Ollat, N., Pieri, P., Bois, B., Goutouly, J.-P., Quénol, H., and Touzard, J.-M. (2013). Why climate change will not dramatically decrease viticultural suitability in main wine-producing areas by 2050. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110, E3051-E3052.
- Vicens, A., Fournand, D., Williams, P., Sidhoum, L., Moutounet, M., and Doco, T. (2009). Changes in polysaccharide and protein composition of cell walls in grape berry skin (cv. Shiraz) during ripening and over-ripening. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* 57, 2955-2960.
- Wang, L., Huang, W., Liu, Y., and Zhan, J. (2005). Changes in salicylic and abscisic acid contents during heat treatment and their effect on thermotolerance of grape plants. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 52, 516-520.
- Waterhouse, A.L. (2002). Wine phenolics. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 957, 21-36.
- Webb, L.B. (2006). *The impact of projected greenhouse gas-induced climate change on the Australian wine industry.* University of Melbourne, Department of Agriculture and Food Systems, Institute of Land and Food Resources.

- White, M.A., Diffenbaugh, N., Jones, G.V., Pal, J., and Giorgi, F. (2006). Extreme heat reduces and shifts United States premium wine production in the 21st century. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 11217-11222.
- White, R.E. (2003). Soils for fine wines. Oxford University Press.
- Williams, L., and Araujo, F. (2002). Correlations among predawn leaf, midday leaf, and midday stem water potential and their correlations with other measures of soil and plant water status in Vitis vinifera. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 127, 448-454.
- Winter, G., Henschke, P.A., Higgins, V.J., Ugliano, M., and Curtin, C.D. (2011). Effects of rehydration nutrients on H2S metabolism and formation of volatile sulfur compounds by the wine yeast VL3. *AMB express* 1, 36.
- Winterhalter, P., and Gök, R. (2013). "TDN and β-Damascenone: Two Important Carotenoid Metabolites in Wine," in *Carotenoid Cleavage Products*. ACS Publications), 125-137.
- Winterhalter, P., and Rouseff, R. (2002). "Carotenoid-derived aroma compounds: an introduction." ACS Publications).
- Wong, D.C.J., Schlechter, R., Vannozzi, A., Höll, J., Hmmam, I., Bogs, J., Tornielli, G.B., Castellarin, S.D., and Matus, J.T. (2016). A systems-oriented analysis of the grapevine R2R3-MYB transcription factor family uncovers new insights into the regulation of stilbene accumulation. *DNA Research* 23, 451-466.
- Yamakawa, H., and Hakata, M. (2010). Atlas of rice grain filling-related metabolism under high temperature: joint analysis of metabolome and transcriptome demonstrated inhibition of starch accumulation and induction of amino acid accumulation. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 51, 795-809.
- Yamamoto, A., Kagaya, Y., Toyoshima, R., Kagaya, M., Takeda, S., and Hattori, T. (2009). Arabidopsis NF-YB subunits LEC1 and LEC1-LIKE activate transcription by interacting with seed-specific ABRE-binding factors. *The Plant Journal* 58, 843-856.
- Yamamoto, Y., Aminaka, R., Yoshioka, M., Khatoon, M., Komayama, K., Takenaka, D., Yamashita, A., Nijo, N., Inagawa, K., and Morita, N. (2008). Quality control of photosystem II: impact of light and heat stresses. *Photosynthesis Research* 98, 589-608.
- Yamane, T., Jeong, S.T., Goto-Yamamoto, N., Koshita, Y., and Kobayashi, S. (2006). Effects of temperature on anthocyanin biosynthesis in grape berry skins. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 57, 54-59.
- Yang, K.A., Lim, C.J., Hong, J.K., Park, C.Y., Cheong, Y.H., Chung, W.S., Lee, K.O., Lee, S.Y., Cho, M.J., and Lim, C.O. (2006). Identification of cell wall genes modified by a permissive high temperature in Chinese cabbage. *Plant science* 171, 175-182.
- Young, P.R., Eyeghe-Bickong, H.A., Du Plessis, K., Alexandersson, E., Jacobson, D.A., Coetzee, Z., Deloire, A., and Vivier, M.A. (2016). Grapevine plasticity in response to an altered microclimate: Sauvignon Blanc modulates specific metabolites in response to increased berry exposure. *Plant physiology* 170, 1235-1254.
- Young, P.R., Lashbrooke, J.G., Alexandersson, E., Jacobson, D., Moser, C., Velasco, R., and Vivier, M.A. (2012). The genes and enzymes of the carotenoid metabolic pathway in Vitis vinifera L. *BMC genomics* 13, 243.
- Yun, Z., Gao, H., Liu, P., Liu, S., Luo, T., Jin, S., Xu, Q., Xu, J., Cheng, Y., and Deng, X. (2013). Comparative proteomic and metabolomic profiling of citrus fruit with enhancement of disease resistance by postharvest heat treatment. *BMC Plant Biology* 13, 44.
- Zeevaart, J., and Creelman, R. (1988). Metabolism and physiology of abscisic acid. *Annual* review of plant physiology and plant molecular biology 39, 439-473.

- Zhang, G., Chen, M., Chen, X., Xu, Z., Guan, S., Li, L.-C., Li, A., Guo, J., Mao, L., and Ma, Y. (2008). Phylogeny, gene structures, and expression patterns of the ERF gene family in soybean (Glycine max L.). *Journal of experimental botany* 59, 4095-4107.
- Zhang, X., Luo, G., Wang, R., Wang, J., and Himelrick, D.G. (2003). Growth and developmental responses of seeded and seedless grape berries to shoot girdling. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 128, 316-323.
- Zheng, Y., Li, J., Xin, H., Wang, N., Guan, L., Wu, B.-H., and Li, S. (2013). Anthocyanin profile and gene expression in berry skin of two red Vitis vinifera grape cultivars that are sunlight dependent versus sunlight independent. *Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research* 19, 238-248.
- Zhuang, J., Cai, B., Peng, R.-H., Zhu, B., Jin, X.-F., Xue, Y., Gao, F., Fu, X.-Y., Tian, Y.-S., and Zhao, W. (2008). Genome-wide analysis of the AP2/ERF gene family in Populus trichocarpa. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 371, 468-474.